# Agreement and Partnership

## between

# School District No. 1 in the City and County of Denver, State of Colorado and Denver Classroom Teachers Association





September 1, 2005 - August 31, 2008

www.dpsk12.org www.denverclassroom.org

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATEMENT OF BELIEFS, FRAMEWORK FOR PARTNERSHIP AND STANDARDS	
ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS	
ARTICLE 2 - GENERAL	
ARTICLE 3 - COVERED EMPLOYEES AND RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 4 - EFFECTIVE DATES	8
ARTICLE 5 - STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT, INSTRUCTION AND EDUCATIONAL REF	ORM
ARTICLE 6 - NEGOTIATING PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 7 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	15
ARTICLE 8 - PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS	21
ARTICLE 9 - CENTRAL OFFICE TEACHER FILES	27
ARTICLE 10 - TEACHER EVALUATION	29
ARTICLE 11 - COMPLAINTS AGAINST TEACHERS/ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE/ CORRECTIVE ACTION	36
ARTICLE 12 - INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS	37
ARTICLE 13 - ASSIGNMENTS, SCHEDULES AND TRANSFER	38
ARTICLE 14 - SUMMER SCHOOL AND EVENING SCHOOL	49
ARTICLE 15 - TEACHER FACILITIES	49
ARTICLE 16 - PERSONAL INJURY BENEFITS AND PROPERTY DAMAGE	50
ARTICLE 17 - ASSAULTS	52
ARTICLE 18 - STUDENT DISCIPLINE	53
ARTICLE 19 - PERSONAL HEALTH PROBLEMS	53
ARTICLE 20 - REDUCTION IN FORCE	54
ARTICLE 21 - SHORT LEAVES OF ABSENCE	56
ARTICLE 22 - EXTENDED LEAVES OF ABSENCE	58
ARTICLE 23 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	59
ARTICLE 24 - JOINT ACTIVITIES	62
ARTICLE 25 - JOB SHARING AND HALF-TIME	63
ARTICLE 26 - PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR	63
ARTICLE 27 - CONTROVERSIAL ISSUES IN THE CLASSROOM	64
ARTICLE 28 - SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS	65
ARTICLE 29 - TASK FORCE ON SCHOOL AND DISTRICT CLIMATE	66
ARTICLE 30 - BENEFIT ALLOWANCE AND BENEFITS PROGRAM	67
ARTICLE 31 - SALARY	69

ARTICLE 32 - EXTRA DUTY COMPENSATION	75
APPENDIX A - TASK FORCE ON SCHOOL AND DISTRICT CLIMATE	79
APPENDIX B - EXTENDED LEAVES OF ABSENCE	81
APPENDIX C - MARKET COMPENSATION TASK FORCE	90
INDEX BY ARTICLE NUMBER	92

## STATEMENT OF BELIEFS

The Board and the Association share the belief that providing a high quality education for the children of Denver is the paramount objective of the District. Both parties affirm that the educational program should be sensitive to the needs and aspirations of children, regardless of race, color, ethnic background, creed or economic status. This is reflected in the mission statements adopted by the Denver Classroom Teachers Association and the Denver Public Schools.

The mission of the Denver Public Schools, the center of Community learning, is to guarantee that our children and youth acquire knowledge, skills, and values to become self-sufficient citizens by providing personalized learning experiences for all students in innovative partnerships with all segments of the Community. Community involvement is critical to the success of our schools. The goals of the District are established by the Board of Education with input from the Community. Each school site will be required to form a Collaborative School Committee (CSC).

The Denver Classroom Teachers Association (DCTA) is a professional organization of recognized educational leaders. We advocate for the rights and responsibilities of all educators, and for an ethical system of quality public education for all students.

Quality teaching and high teacher morale promote positive learning environments for students. Attaining the educational goals of the Denver Public Schools requires mutual understanding and cooperation between the Board and the Association. To this end, good-faith negotiations between the Board and the Association with a free and open exchange of views are desirable.

In negotiating this Agreement, the Board and the Association, with the concurrence of the Community, have three major goals for joint school reform efforts:

- Greater success for all students as reflected in higher achievement.
- A significantly higher completion rate that moves the District toward its goal of graduating all students from the K-12 educational program.
- An improvement in the Community's level of confidence that the Denver Public Schools, as an institution, provides effective education for all students.

## FRAMEWORK FOR PARTNERSHIP

It is in the interest of both the District and the Association that the terms of the Agreement be understood and enforced. The Agreement between the District and the Association is typically referred to as the teachers' contract. In some quarters, this reference implies that the Agreement is solely for the benefit of the teachers and minimizes the benefits that result to the District through the Agreement.

Enforcement of and compliance with the Agreement is essential. However, both parties have a greater interest in developing a joint ownership and commitment in terms of both the letter and spirit of the Agreement. The Agreement will become essential to furthering the desired partnership between the District and the Association. The District and the Association recognize their collective responsibility to promote positive change in the Denver Public Schools in an effort to promote education reform to benefit all students and to ensure professional collaboration between the District and the Association. Following is a systemic framework for improving the enforcement of the Agreement while laying a foundation for joint ownership and a greater commitment to living under the terms of the Agreement.

- <u>Interest-Based Bargaining</u>. Our use of Interest-Based Bargaining will contribute to the joint ownership, enforcement and commitment of the resulting Agreement. We are aware of our efforts and the environment that it is creating for a strong partnership relationship. We recommend utilizing an Interest-Based approach for problem solving and decision making in all areas of the District.
- The Agreement. The Agreement reflects the core beliefs and values of the District and the Association. It utilizes clear and unambiguous language to describe the procedures all teachers and administrators will follow. In doing so, we will improve our success in increased learning for all students and closing the achievement gap.
- <u>Training</u>. We recognize the need for regular training jointly with administrators and teachers in this Agreement. The training should focus not just on the rules, but also emphasize problem-solving skills and relationship building.
- Organizational Structure. Organizations in the District have an explicit role in supporting and promoting the enforcement of and commitment to the Agreement. The Board and the Association governance bodies understand the importance of their roles, encouraging everyone in the District to respect the terms of the Agreement and use it as a tool to jointly resolve legitimate differences.
- <u>Communications</u>. A formal communications strategy will be developed to share and explain information about this Agreement.

#### STANDARDS FOR BEHAVIORS IN OUR PARTNERSHIP

In an effort to foster and support a greater commitment in terms of both the letter and spirit of the Agreement, the District and Association offer the following partnership guidelines. These guidelines suggest ways that will support positive change within Denver Public Schools in our efforts to resolve educational issues and to promote positive change to the benefit of all students.

In addition, these guidelines offer additional techniques to ensure more effective collaborative problem solving between the District and the Association. It is important that we all make a concerted effort to utilize an Interest-Based approach for problem solving and decision-making in all areas of the District.

These guidelines can be applied at the District level, in the school building, and in one-on-one situations. Our collective ability to successfully use this approach will contribute to and enhance a positive school and District climate.

# Practical Guidelines.

Use an Interest-Based approach to problem solving. Agree on what needs to be worked on.

- Jointly launch the initiative together.
- Take on issues honestly and openly not based on who has the power.
- Focus on an outcome(s) that will advance the educational goals of the District.
- Have clear timelines and deliverables.
- Respect the views of all parties and their right and responsibility to express these views.

Contribute the best you have to work on the problem.

Recognize you may see things from different perspectives.

Disagree without being disagreeable.

Recognize each other's roles as a representative of another constituent group.

Jointly validate information received.

Gather necessary information before making a decision.

Gather expertise from both within and outside of the District.

• Jointly communicate in an appropriate and timely manner.

Have an in-depth communications plan. Communicate progress and final results.

Give the same answers together as partners.

Give each other a heads up – don't blindside.

Assume the best of the other party, not the worst.

• Learn from your mistakes. Build in processes for evaluation and feedback.

#### Article 1 – Definitions

- 1-1 The term "Community" as used in these Articles shall include parents and other Denver Community members.
- 1-2 The term "teacher" as used in this Agreement shall mean all non-administrative teaching personnel, employed half-time or more, who are licensed by the Colorado Department of Education as teachers, including others who are authorized to teach by statute.
- 1-3 The term "Board" as used in these Articles shall mean the Board of District No. 1 in the City and County of Denver and State of Colorado.
- 1-4 The term "Association" as used in this Agreement shall mean the Denver Classroom Teachers Association.
- 1-5 The terms "School District," "District" and "Denver Public Schools" as used in these Articles shall mean District No. 1 in the City and County of Denver and State of Colorado.
- 1-6 The term "Superintendent" as used in these Articles shall mean the Superintendent of Schools of District No. 1 in the City and County of Denver and State of Colorado. The Superintendent is the Chief Executive Officer of the Board who administers the affairs and programs of the District as provided by law and Board policy.
- 1-7 The term "school year" as used in these Articles shall mean the officially adopted school calendar.
- 1-8 The term "principal" as used in these Articles shall include the head administrator of a school, as well as an administrative supervisor, where appropriate.
- 1-9 The term "school" as used in these Articles shall refer to each educational unit overseen by a principal or administrative supervisor.

## Article 2 - General

- 2-1 The District and the Association agree to abide by and enforce the provisions of this Agreement in good faith.
- 2-2 The Board shall apply the provisions of this Agreement equally to all employees without discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, age, and consistent with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, membership or official

- activities in any teacher organization or such other specified human or civil rights as may be protected by statute.
- 2-3 The District and the Association shall regularly conduct training with teachers and administrators to ensure the implementation and enforcement of the Agreement.
- 2-4 No change, rescission, alteration or modification of this Agreement in whole or in part shall be valid unless the same is ratified by both the Board and the Association.
  - 2-4-1 Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, requests for waivers from this Agreement shall be made by the principal and the Association Representative to the Board of Education and the Association.
- 2-5 This Agreement shall be governed and construed according to the Constitution and Laws of the State of Colorado. If any provision of the Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any teacher covered hereby is found contrary to law, such provision or application shall have effect only to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or application of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.
- 2-6 In case of any direct conflict between the express provisions of this Agreement and any Board policy or writing not incorporated in this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall control.
- 2-7 The parties recognize that the Board has the responsibility and authority to establish policies and regulations for the management of all the operations and activities of the District. All lawful rights and authority of the Board not modified by this Agreement are retained by the Board.
- 2-8 This Agreement constitutes District policy for the term of said Agreement, and the Board and the Association will carry out the commitments contained herein and give them full force and effect.
- 2-9 The Association shall continue to admit persons to membership without discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, age, handicapping condition, membership in any teacher organization or such other specified human or civil rights as may be protected by statue.
- 2-10 Teachers have the right to join, or refrain from joining, any lawful organization for their professional or economic improvement and for the advancement of public education. Membership of a teacher in, or financial support for any organization, shall not be required as a condition of employment with the District.

# **Article 3 - Covered Employees and Recognition**

- 3-1 Employees covered by this Agreement include all teachers as defined in Article 1-2 and personnel who are employed half-time or more as nurses, social workers, therapists, psychologists, counselors, speech language instructors, educational audiologists and JROTC instructors, but excluding vocational teachers covered by the Vocational Teachers' Federation Agreement and Type II Authorization Interns.
- 3-2 Pursuant to current Board resolutions granting recognition, the Board hereby reaffirms recognition of the Association and agrees that the Association shall continue as the exclusive representative of the employees specified in Article 3-1 until six months after the expiration of this Agreement and for such additional periods of time as its recognition may be extended under procedures approved by the Board.
- 3-3 All rights and privileges granted to the Association under the terms and provisions of this Agreement are for the exclusive use of the Association.

# **Article 4 - Effective Dates**

- 4-1 Upon ratification, this Agreement shall be effective September 1, 2005, except for specific Articles that have their own dates embedded in them, and shall remain in full force and effect until August 31, 2008, except that Articles 30, 31 and 32 shall be subject to negotiation in 2006 and 2007. (Either party may request the opening of Article 5 and/or 8.)
- 4-2 This Agreement may be re-opened by mutual consent at any time.
- 4-3 After January 1, 2008, upon request by either party, the Board and the Association will negotiate as provided in Article 6. Such negotiations shall conclude no later than May 1, 2008, unless extended by mutual consent. If impasse is reached, the parties shall use the vehicle for resolution as provided under Article 6-11.
- 4-4 After January 1, 2006, and January 1, 2007, upon request by either party, the Board and the Association will negotiate the limited re-openers described in Article 4-1, as provided in Article 6. Such negotiations shall conclude no later than May 1, 2006, and May 1, 2007, unless extended by mutual consent. If impasse is reached, the parties shall use the vehicle for resolution as provided under Article 6-11.
- 4-5 The Board and the Association shall mutually publish this Agreement and share the costs of providing all teachers and administrators with a copy.

Teachers newly hired will receive a copy of the current Agreement upon hiring.

4-5-1 On the first business day of August and September, the District shall provide to the Association a list of all new hires and transfers, including the name, current address, and phone number.

## Article 5 - Student Achievement, Instruction and Educational Reform

## 5-1 Guiding Principles.

- 5-1-1 Implementation of the District's instructional program is complex and best accomplished when there is mutual respect among a school's administrators and teachers and a joint commitment to problem solving. Such an atmosphere in no way diminishes the authority of the principal or the professionalism of teachers.
- 5-1-2 The Board of Education is vested with the authority to establish the District's curriculum and instructional program.
- 5-1-3 For teachers, a variety of professional growth activities is most likely to improve instruction, including individual time for reflection, participation in grade level/subject area/vertical teams, whole school professional development, working with the literacy coach, and participation in professional learning communities. A staff development plan shall take into account the differentiated needs of teachers based on experience, education, and skills. A variety of activities developed in collaboration with teachers shall be included in the plan.
- 5-1-4 Teamwork among teachers and with the principals is an important component for improving achievement. Teachers shall have a significant role in identifying and developing the instructional program.
- 5-1-5 A positive school climate is also an important component of improving student achievement.

## 5-2 Instructional Issues Council.

5-2-1 The District and the Association shall establish a District-wide Instructional Issues Council (the Council) to collaborate, review, and problem solve through an open and honest dialogue, in order to make recommendations by consensus, where appropriate, regarding the planning, implementation and ongoing improvement of the District's existing and proposed curriculum and instructional programs, including professional development. The Council shall be co-chaired by a teacher,

appointed by the Association President, and an administrator, appointed by the Superintendent.

# 5-2-2 The Council shall operate based on the guidelines below:

- a. The Council shall have a facilitator, if a source of funding other than the District or Association can be identified. The facilitator and cochairs shall focus on District-level issues and shall jointly develop the agenda.
- b. The co-chairs shall meet monthly with the Superintendent and Association President to report on the Council's activities and progress.
- c. The Council shall be comprised of at least twenty-four (24) teachers or administrators. The Association and District may each make six (6) appointments to the Council. All other appointments shall be agreed upon by both parties.
- d. The Council shall provide a joint report to the Board of Education and the DCTA Board of Directors at least annually.
- e. The Council shall meet a minimum of once a month, but may meet more often if mutually agreed upon.
- f. Participation on the Council shall be accommodated by a combination of release time, provided by the District, and voluntary time outside of the teacher work day.

## 5-3 Area Superintendent Advisory Committee.

- 5-3-1 Each Area Superintendent shall establish an Instructional Program Implementation Advisory Committee (the Advisory Committee), whose purpose shall be to provide a forum for administrators and teachers to address issues related to implementation of the District's instructional program at one or more schools. In addition, the Advisory Committee shall address implementation of best instructional practices at area schools, school climate, strategies for increasing enrollment, articulation among schools and professional development in the area. The Advisory Committee shall not address personnel issues.
- 5-3-2 The Advisory Committee shall be comprised of at least six (6) administrators and six (6) teachers. The Area Superintendent and Association President shall each appoint three (3) teachers and three (3) administrators. Any additional members will be chosen by mutual agreement. Other staff will be invited to attend meetings when appropriate.

- 5-3-3 The Advisory Committee shall meet at least quarterly. Minutes of the meeting shall be maintained, and information shall be disseminated to the Association, area staff and other interested parties.
- 5-3-4 Each Area Superintendent shall communicate with principals and teachers under his/her supervision about the Advisory Committee's purpose and a means by which issues can be communicated for the Advisory Committee's consideration.
- 5-3-5 Each Area Superintendent shall inform teachers in schools under his/her supervision that they may address personnel problems directly with the Area or Assistant Area Superintendent.
- 5-3-6 Participation on the Council shall be a combination of release time, provided by the District, and voluntary time outside of the school day.

## 5-4 <u>Professional Development Committee.</u>

- 5-4-1 Each school shall establish a Professional Development Committee (PDC) whose responsibilities include the following:
  - a. Reviewing data and collaborating with the principal in development of the School Improvement Plan;
  - b. Reviewing the design of and schedule for the professional development plan;
  - c. Reviewing the budget for the expenditure of instructional materials;
  - d. Reviewing and problem solving implementation of the District's instructional program as it specifically applies to classrooms and grades at the school;
  - e. Identifying strategies for increasing enrollment at the school;
  - f. Developing communication strategies for regularly reporting student progress to parents;
  - g. Implementing best instructional practices.
- 5-4-2 The principal and the Association Representative or his/her designee, in consultation with the faculty, shall determine the composition and meeting schedule of the PDC. Options for composition include the following:
  - a. The entire faculty
  - b. Grade level chairs
  - c. Instructional Council (i.e., department chairs)
  - d. Professional Standards Committee (in addition to its other duties)
  - e. Any other agreed upon composition
- 5-4-3 If the principal and the PDC cannot reach agreement by consensus, including the composition of the Committee, the matter shall be referred to

- the Area Superintendent. The Area Superintendent shall consult with the Association prior to making a decision.
- 5-4-4 Relevant information shall be provided to the PDC, and the PDC shall identify methods for communicating with the rest of the faculty.

# 5-5 <u>Increasing Enrollment</u>.

- 5-5-1 The Association and the District shall establish a task force comprised of principals, central staff, and teachers to develop recommendations for increasing student enrollment. The task force will examine issues such as student achievement, climate, culture, discipline and educational programs which affect student enrollment.
- 5-5-2 If an increase in enrollment above projections generates significant additional revenue, the parties shall agree to open interim negotiations for the purpose of increasing teacher allocations.
- 5-5-3 A high priority for the use of increased entitlement revenue shall be additional teacher allocations.
- 5-6 <u>School Redesign and Restructuring</u>. The Superintendent and the Association President shall meet annually by the end of October to identify schools that may be subject to Restructuring, Redesign, or Program Change and the timeline for decision making. Options to Restructuring or Redesign shall be discussed
  - 5-6-1 A school shall be identified for Redesign based on substandard student achievement or substandard growth in student achievement as identified in federal or state accountability systems.
  - 5-6-2 The Restructuring of a school is the alteration of the governance structure of the school, as provided in the reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act.
  - 5-6-3 A Program Change is a substantial change to the educational program at the school that has been approved by the Board of Education, the CSC, or both. Some or all of the teaching positions at a school approved for a Program Change may be reposted with a new job description that reflects the new program requirements.
  - 5-6-4 The treatment of personnel in schools subject to Redesign, Restructuring and Program Change is described in Article 13.
  - 5-6-5 The Association and the District affirm that early intervention to improve achievement in a school that may be designated for Redesign or Restructuring is in the best interests of the school's students, teachers,

parents, Community and the District. Early intervention is consistent with federal and state accountability system timelines.

- a. If a school receives an "unsatisfactory" State Accountability Rating (SAR), the Association and the District shall meet to consider whether or not a team should be constituted to review the school. If a review is warranted, the nature, extent of the review and composition of the team shall be identified.
- b. If a review by a team is warranted, at least one member of the team shall be a teacher appointed jointly by the Association President and the Superintendent.
- c. The extent to which the recommendations of the review team are implemented and their effectiveness shall be periodically reviewed.

During the second semester of the school year in which a Redesign or Restructuring has occurred, the Superintendent and the Association President shall review the culture, climate, student achievement and parent satisfaction of the redesigned school. The information gathered will be shared with the Board of Education and the Board of Directors and used to inform any future decisions about Redesign or Restructuring.

## **Article 6 - Negotiating Procedure**

- 6-1 Written requests for negotiations between the Board and the Association may be submitted on such matters concerning teachers' salaries, wages, hours and conditions of employment. All proposals relevant to these issues are subject to negotiation. Such requests will specify the subject matter to be considered.
- 6-2 A written response will be made within ten (10) school days of the receipt of any such written request.
- 6-3 Negotiations will be conducted at times and places mutually agreeable to the negotiators named by each party; provided, however that the first meeting shall be held within ten (10) school days of such written response.
- 6-4 The Board and the Association agree to accept and consider recommendations from the Community when modifying this Agreement.
- 6-5 The parties to this Agreement recognize that the public has an interest in the negotiations and acknowledge a duty jointly to inform the public of the status and progress of negotiations.
- 6-6 During negotiations, the Board and the Association will present relevant data, exchange points of view, and make proposals and counter-proposals. Upon

- request of either party, the other will make available for inspection its records and data pertinent to the subject of negotiations.
- 6-7 As of the time they are made available to the Board, the Board will provide the Association with a Superintendent's proposed budget for the next fiscal year, as well as available preliminary budgetary information and proposals affecting teachers' salaries, wages, hours and conditions of employment.
- 6-8 If negotiations are scheduled during the school day, the negotiators shall be released from their regular duties with no loss of pay.
- 6-9 Either party may use the services of outside consultants and may call upon professional and lay representatives to assist in the negotiations.
- 6-10 Tentative agreements reached as a result of such negotiations will be reduced to writing and will have conditional written approval of both parties pending final adoption of the District budget. After such adoption and approval, the final Agreement will be signed by the Board and Association and will become an addendum to this Agreement. If changes in this tentative Agreement are necessary as a result of a legal budget adoption process, the Agreement will be subject to negotiation.

## 6-11 <u>Impasse Resolution/Mediation</u>.

- 6-11-1 Either party may declare an impasse. Then a mediator shall be selected with the assistance of the American Arbitration Association, according to the procedure of Article 7-3-5-2.
- 6-11-2 Any mediation efforts must be concluded by August 31, and will be conducted under rules determined by the mediator.
- 6-11-3 If mediation is unsuccessful and if both parties agree, the mediator may issue a written report to the parties explaining the matters still at issue.
- 6-11-4 The parties agree to share the cost of mediation equally.
- 6-12 <u>Interim Negotiations</u>. This provision is not intended to allow for changing the language or the intent of the existing Agreement outside of the normal bargaining cycle. From time to time, however, matters arise that the parties may need to address in a timely manner and when waiting until the next negotiations period is not practicable. Therefore, during the term of this Agreement and between regularly scheduled bargaining sessions, the parties may choose to engage in interim negotiations.
  - 6-12-1 Such negotiations may be initiated by the Association with a request to the Superintendent or by the District with a request to the Association

President. Following a discussion of the purpose of the requested negotiations, the Superintendent and Association President will decide if the matter will be addressed and what group of individuals will be given the responsibility for addressing the matter. There would be no commitment to a particular outcome. The matter could be referred to an existing body such as the Educational Initiatives Panel, the Agreement Review Committee (ARC) or the Instructional Issues Council, or the Superintendent and Association President may agree to appoint a special committee to address the matter.

- 6-12-2 Generally, the matters to be addressed will be those substantive in nature and which impact the operation of the District and/or the operation of this Agreement.
- 6-12-3 If matters are related to the interpretation of the Agreement or matters on which the Agreement is silent, the results of work of the body to which the matter is referred will become a Memorandum of Agreement, subject to the approval of the Representative Council of the Association and the Superintendent. If approved, the Memorandum will be binding on both parties but will be reviewed at the next formal bargaining session.
- 6-12-4 Matters that change existing provisions of the Agreement will be referred to the membership of the Association and the Board for ratification.

## Article 7 - Grievance Procedure

## 7-1 Definitions.

- 7-1-1 A "grievance" shall mean a written complaint by a teacher or teachers in the negotiating unit that there has been a violation, a misinterpretation, or inequitable application of any of the provisions of this Agreement.
- 7-1-2 Unless provided otherwise in this Agreement, all administrative procedures, practices and written personnel policies which affect teachers are grievable, but only those covered by this Agreement may go to Level Three, upon the request of the Association.
- 7-1-3 The term "grievance" shall not apply to any matter as to which (1) the method of review is prescribed by law, (2) the Board is without authority to act, or (3) a grievance is specifically prohibited or limited by the terms of this Agreement. As an example, the term "grievance" shall not apply to the dismissal of a non-probationary teacher, the review of which is prescribed by law.
- 7-1-4 An "aggrieved person" is a teacher or teachers asserting a grievance.

- 7-2 <u>Purpose</u>. The purpose of this grievance procedure is to secure equitable solutions at the lowest possible administrative level to problems which may arise. To this end, grievance proceedings will be kept informal and confidential and both parties will work toward a resolution to avoid litigation.
- 7-3 Procedure. Since it is important that grievances be processed as rapidly as possible, the number of days indicated at each level is a maximum, and every effort should be made to expedite the process. The time limits specified may, however, be extended by mutual agreement. If a grievance is filed which might not be finally resolved at Level Three under the time limits set forth herein prior to the end of the school year, the time limits will be reduced so that the grievance procedure will be concluded prior to the end of the school year, or as soon thereafter as practicable.

<u>Information</u>. The Board agrees to make available to the aggrieved person and the aggrieved person's representative, all pertinent information not privileged under law, in its possession or control, and which is relevant to the issues raised by the grievance. The Association agrees to make available to the Board and its representatives, all pertinent information not privileged under law in its possession or control, and which is relevant to the issue raised by the grievant.

<u>Timing</u>. No grievance shall be recognized by the District or the Association unless it is presented at the appropriate level within fifteen (15) school days after the aggrieved person knew, or should have known, of the act or condition on which the grievance is based. No grievance shall be recognized at Level Two unless it is filed with the Department of Human Resources within at least twenty (20) school days after the act or condition upon which it is based occurred. Grievances not timely presented will be considered as waived.

- 7-3-1 <u>Level One</u>. A grievance first will be discussed with the aggrieved person's principal to attempt to resolve the matter informally, at which time the aggrieved person (1) may discuss the grievance personally, (2) may be accompanied by the Association's Representative, or (3) may request that the Association's Representative act on behalf of the aggrieved person. No written documentation of the grievance or administrative response will be required if the grievance is settled at Level One.
- 7-3-2 If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the results of the informal conference, the aggrieved person may then file a grievance in writing on the proper form with the principal or supervisor within seven (7) school days. The grievance must refer to the specific Articles of the Agreement and explain how they were violated and indicate the reason why the Level One decision is unsatisfactory. The grievant will use the Grievance Disposition Form to file the grievance. The principal and the grievant shall sign the Grievance Disposition Form. The principal shall also have the opportunity to provide comment related to the Level One process on

the Grievance Disposition Form. No additions to this form may be made after it has been signed by the grievant and the principal. The grievant shall send a copy of the Grievance Disposition Form to the Department of Human Resources and the Association. The Department of Human Resources will assign a tracking number to the grievance and distribute copies of the Grievance Disposition Form to the Area/Assistant Area Superintendent and the UniServ Director. All known documentation related to the grievance must be provided prior to the Level Two meeting.

- 7-3-3 Level Two. The Human Resources Director or Area/Assistant Area Superintendent will go to the school with the appropriate Association Representative and meet with the teacher and principal to attempt to facilitate a resolution. Such meeting will take place within seven (7) school days after receipt of the written grievance by the Department of Human Resources. If there is an agreed-upon resolution to the grievance at this meeting, the resolution will be documented in writing and signed by both parties. The grievance will be closed and no continuation of said grievance will be allowed. If no resolution is reached, a District Representative will be responsible for providing a Level Two response on the merits of the grievance. The Level Two response will be forwarded to the DCTA for dissemination to the grievant. If the grievant is not satisfied with the response, the grievance response will be forwarded to the DCTA, Human Resources, Area Office and the principal. The Association's Grievance Board will decide if the matter will be continued to Level Three.
- 7-3-4 Upon request by the Association, grievances concerning an administrative transfer, Reduction in Building Staff (RIBS) or the recommendation by a principal for non-renewal of a probationary teacher shall be subjected to an expedited grievance procedure. The Level Two meeting will take place within seven (7) school days. Grievances concerning the recommendation by a principal for non-renewal of a probationary teacher will not be processed beyond Level Two.
- 7-3-5 <u>Level Three</u>. If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level Two, or if no decision has been rendered within ten (10) school days after the Department of Human Resources has conducted the Level Two meeting on the grievance, the aggrieved person may request that the Association submit the grievance to either arbitration or mediation. This request must be made within seven (7) school days of the Level Two disposition. If the Association deems the grievance meritorious, it may demand arbitration or request mediation within twenty-five (25) school days after the receipt of the aggrieved person's request. The arbitration demand/mediation request from the Association must be in writing and must indicate the reason the Level Two decision is

- unsatisfactory. The District will respond to the request for mediation within seven (7) school days.
- 7-3-5-1 <u>Mediation</u>. If the Association and District agree to mediation, a mediator shall be selected from a permanent panel of five (5) mediators jointly determined by the parties.
  - 7-3-5-1-1 The mediator panel shall consist of mediators who are skilled in educational issues and shall be from the greater Denver Metropolitan area and shall include, but are not limited to, Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service and other mediation agencies.
  - 7-3-5-1-2 A panel shall be selected and reviewed annually not later than July 1.
  - 7-3-5-1-3 Unless otherwise agreed, the mediator shall be assigned based on a rotating system.
  - 7-3-5-1-4 At the conclusion of the mediation process the parties will implement any action agreed to through the mediation process. If the mediation process is unsuccessful, the Association may demand Arbitration within seven (7) school days of the conclusion of mediation.
- 7-3-5-2 If the Association demands arbitration and the parties cannot agree on the choice of an arbitrator, the Association shall submit a request to the American Arbitration Association for a list of seven (7) arbitrators skilled in arbitration of educational issues, with a copy to the District. Within ten (10) school days of the receipt of a list, representatives of the Association and the District shall meet and alternately strike a name on the list. The last name remaining shall be appointed arbitrator.
  - 7-3-5-2-1 Upon request by the Association, administrative transfer grievances shall be subject to expedited arbitration. If selected, applicable rules regarding expedited arbitration will be followed.
- 7-3-5-3 The arbitrator will have authority to hold hearings and make procedural rules.
- 7-3-5-4 All hearings held by the arbitrator shall be in closed sessions and no news releases shall be made concerning progress of the hearings.

- 7-3-5-5 A report will be issued within thirty (30) calendar days after the close of the hearing. The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from, disregard, alter, or modify, any of the terms of this Agreement.
- 7-3-5-6 The arbitrator's report shall be submitted in writing to the Board and the Association only, and shall set forth the arbitrator's findings of fact, reasoning, conclusions and recommendations on the issues submitted. The arbitrator's recommendations shall be consistent with law and with the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator's report shall be advisory only, not binding on the Board or the Association.
- 7-3-5-7 Within seven (7) school days, after receiving the report of the arbitrator, the Board's designee and the Association's designee will meet to discuss the report and each designee will simultaneously notify the other on whether each intends to recommend to their respective Boards the acceptance or rejection of the Arbitrator's report. The Association will be given the opportunity to respond in writing to the Board concerning the arbitrator's recommendation. The Board will review and consider any response by the Association and shall accept or reject the report of the arbitrator not later than thirty (30) calendar days (not counting July) after receipt of the arbitrator's report. No public release may be made until after the next legislative meeting of the Board
- 7-3-5-8 Within five (5) school days after receiving the Board's official action on the arbitrator's report, the Board's designee and the Association's designee will meet to discuss the action of the Board.
- 7-3-5-9 The costs for the services of the arbitrator or mediator, including per diem expenses, if any, plus actual and necessary travel and subsistence expenses, shall be shared equally by the District and Association. The party who cancels a scheduled arbitration will pay the full cost of any fees assessed by the arbitrator.
- 7-3-5-10 Any party may request an official stenographic record of the testimony at the hearings. The party requesting shall pay the costs. If the other party requests a copy of the record, it shall share the entire cost of making the stenographic record.
- 7-3-5-11 In appropriate cases, both parties may agree to follow the expedited rules and procedures of the American Arbitration Association in processing any grievance at Level Three, except

that the Arbitrator shall always be chosen pursuant to Article 7-3-5-2.

## 7-4 Rights of Teachers to Representation.

- 7-4-1 Neither the District nor any member of the Association shall take reprisals affecting the employment status of any teacher, any party in interest, any Association Representative or any other participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.
- 7-4-2 All teachers who file a grievance shall do so with full knowledge and assurance that they will be represented solely by the Association and/or the Association's designee(s) at all levels and steps and proceedings of the grievance procedure, except that the aggrieved teacher may decline representation at Level One.
  - 7-4-2-1 No aggrieved teacher may be represented by a representative or officer of any teacher organization other than the Association.
  - 7-4-2-2 Level One representation will normally be provided by the Association's building-level Grievance Representative and/or Association Representative.
- 7-4-3 When Level Three hearings are held, all witnesses who are District employees shall be summoned by the Department of Human Resources. The Association and the District will mutually exchange written witness lists at least two (2) days in advance of the hearing.
- Miscellaneous. If the time limits for processing a grievance are not met by the administrator responding to the grievance, the grievance may be moved to the next level at the request of the aggrieved, or upon request of the Association, the Superintendent or his designee will review with the responding administrator the reason why the time limits were not met and any extenuating circumstances therefore. The Department of Human Resources may take appropriate action on whether to grant the grievant's requested remedy based on its review of the situation.
  - 7-5-1 If, in the judgment of the Association, a grievance affects a group of teachers in more than one (1) building, the Association may submit such grievance in writing directly to the Department of Human Resources, and the processing of such grievance may be commenced at Level Two.
  - 7-5-2 All written and printed matter relating to grievances will be filed separately from the central office personnel files of the participants.

- 7-5-3 Necessary forms for filing, for serving notices, for making appeals, for making reports and recommendations and other necessary documents will be jointly prepared and distributed by the Department of Human Resources and the Association.
- 7-5-4 In conducting arbitration cases, the Board will present all relevant material so that the arbitrator will have complete information upon which to base a decision. A copy of any information presented to the arbitrator will be provided to the aggrieved person.
- 7-5-5 When it is necessary at Level Two or Level Three for a representative(s) designated by the Association to attend a meeting or a hearing called by the Department of Human Resources during the school day, the Department of Human Resources shall notify the principal of such Association Representatives. The representatives will be released without loss of pay for such time as their attendance is required at such meeting or hearing. The Association will cooperate with the District in minimizing interruption of the continuity of classroom instruction by scheduling witnesses and notifying the District as far in advance as possible of the need to provide substitutes for teachers' release for such hearing.
- 7-5-6 The Agreement Review Committee shall monitor the number and types of grievances and the length of time such grievances take to be resolved.

#### Article 8 - Professional Standards

Professional Standards Committee. Each school will have a Professional Standards Committee (PSC) consisting of a minimum of three (3) teachers, elected by a majority of the faculty voting by secret ballot of the faculty, and also consisting of an Association Representative and the principal unless otherwise agreed to by the Association Representative and principal. The PSC will be responsible for making decisions as noted in Article 8. Decisions in specified areas, except for lunch periods and secondary teaching loads, will be made by reaching mutual agreement. If mutual agreement cannot be reached, then interventions will be provided by the Association and the District. If mutual agreement still cannot be reached, then the principal will make the decision.

Decisions may be made by the PSC to alter the length of the lunch period (Article 8-2) or Secondary Teaching Load (Article 8-5-1) only after applying the decision-making standards which will be supplied for this purpose, conducting a confidential vote of the majority of the faculty, and reflecting this process on a form which will be supplied for this purpose. Changes will not be made to the length of the lunch period or secondary teaching load without a positive majority confidential vote of the faculty. Information about such changes will be sent to the Instructional Issues Council for tracking purposes.

- 8-1 <u>Contract year.</u> The contract year shall be one hundred eighty-one (181) days. If a teacher is required to extend his/her contract year and is continuing to do the work he/she performed during the contract year, he or she shall be paid at their regular scheduled rate per day. Regular scheduled rate per day is the teacher's salary divided by the number of days in the contract year.
  - 8-1-1 In addition to the one hundred eighty-one (181) days, newly hired teachers may be required to attend pre-session orientation meetings and shall be paid in accordance with Article 32. New teachers will be paid for orientation meetings on the next practical payday. Teachers hired after the orientation process will be afforded comparable training opportunities to that offered during orientation.
  - 8-1-2 The length of the contract year for teachers shall be one hundred eighty-one (181) days, which shall include four (4) planning days, two (2) professional days, one (1) assessment day and one (1) parent/teacher conference day.
    - 8-1-2-1 During each of the planning days, a minimum of four (4) hours shall be reserved for self-directed instructional planning, allowing the remainder for any activities initiated by school administration.
    - 8-1-2-2 During each of the professional days, a maximum of six (6) hours shall be reserved for in-service at the District, area or site level.
    - 8-1-2-3 The assessment day will be used for individual and/or small group assessments or other assessment-related activities.
    - 8-1-2-4 Schools may modify the daily schedule on the parent/teacher conference days to meet the needs of the Community.
  - 8-1-3 There is an expectation that teachers will attend beyond the contract year for professional development determined by the principal if:
    - a. the program needs to be scheduled outside the contract year,
    - b. no programs will be scheduled for the last two weeks of June and the first two weeks of July,
    - c. written notice is given ninety (90) days prior to the end of the school year,
    - d. the educational reason is sound,
    - e. teachers attending are paid in accordance with Article 32,

- f. adequate alternate opportunities to learn the content are provided.
- 8-1-3-1 Teachers who cannot attend will need to discuss reasons with their administrator.
- 8-1-3-2 Schools may seek a waiver from this Agreement, as in Article 2-4-1, if the training cannot be scheduled during the week prior to or after the school year. In such cases attendance would be voluntary. Under no circumstances, will a waiver be granted if training is also being held before or after the school year, as in Article 8-1-3.
- 8-1-4 <u>Evening Meetings</u>. Each teacher may be required to attend three (3) evening events approved by the PSC per school year, as part of the contracted time.
- 8-1-5 <u>Special Conditions of Employment</u>. Any special conditions regarding the assignment of any teacher will be reduced to writing and become an addendum to the individual's initial employment contract with the District.
- 8-2 <u>Forty (40) Hour Work Week</u>. The work week shall be forty (40) hours and shall include:
  - 1. Lunch Periods. There shall be a minimum standard forty-five (45) minute daily lunch unless altered by the PSC process. Lunch shall be duty free.
  - 2. Operations time up to thirty (30) minutes per week to include but not be limited to faculty meetings or school-related committee meetings.
  - 3. Professional time up to ninety (90) minutes per week to include but not be limited to grade-level meetings, vertical teaming, department meetings, planning with a literacy coach, staff development or data analysis.
  - 8-2-1 The principal shall have authority to permit teachers to diverge from the regular school day.
  - 8-2-2 The District's scheduled student school contact day will not be extended without applying the due process of collective bargaining.
- 8-3 <u>Planning Time</u>. Each teacher shall receive a minimum of forty (40) minutes of uninterrupted, self-directed instructional planning time scheduled during the student school contact day. If that is not possible, some of the uninterrupted block of forty (40) minutes may be scheduled outside the student school contact day.

- 8-3-1 Area Superintendents may grant exceptions to the above only in those cases where the Collaborative School Committee has chosen to utilize any supplemental allocations in regular classes instead of specials classes in order to reduce the class sizes of teachers in their buildings. In such cases, the school must schedule forty (40) minutes of self-directed instructional planning time for teachers in the largest practical blocks of uninterrupted time. A minimum of twenty (20) minutes daily and two hundred (200) minutes weekly will be guaranteed.
- 8-3-2 The Instructional Issues Council will evaluate and monitor the granting of exceptions to Article 8-3 and implementation of Article 8.
- 8-4 <u>Multi-School Assignments</u>. When teachers are assigned to more than one (1) school site, the principals at the schools involved shall collaborate on the scheduling of the workdays for those personnel. These teachers shall be required to assume non-teaching duties only in their home school assignment. Every effort will be made to limit the amount of inter-school travel. Such teachers shall be notified of any change in their schedules as soon as practicable.
- 8-5 <u>Teaching Loads</u>. The range of teaching loads, number of preparations and number of pupil contacts required should provide for effective instruction and meaningful teacher-student interaction.
  - 8-5-1 <u>Secondary Teaching Load</u>. Unless altered by the PSC process, the normal teaching load for secondary school teachers shall be five (5) teaching periods per day, or the equivalent thereof if block scheduling is used. A teacher may request to teach a sixth period.
    - 8-5-1-1 The maximum class size in grades six (6) through twelve (12) shall not exceed thirty-five (35) students. In no case shall a teacher have a total greater than 175 students per day unless an exception is provided for in Article 8-5-1-2.
    - 8-5-1-2 For music and physical education classes, a PSC Committee may annually set a higher daily class size limit for a single school year or semester after engaging in direct consultation with the affected teacher(s) and department chairperson(s). The criteria to be considered in deciding whether to increase the maximum class size limit must include safety of students and staff, adequacy of the facility and equipment, and the impact on the educational program in those classes. The PSC Committee will specify which courses and sections will have the higher class size limits and the actual maximum number in each. All raised limits will expire at the end of each semester or school year as specified by the PSC Committee. All decisions to increase maximum class size must be

made no later than the time that schedules are set for the school each semester.

- 8-5-2 Elementary Teaching Load. The Board shall maintain its effort to retain the class size reduction which has been achieved in grades 1 and 2. The level of staffing to maintain such class size is dependent on availability of funding. When it is necessary to have class size exceed twenty-five (25) in primary elementary grades (K-3), the Board shall honor teachers' requests for qualified paraprofessional assistance according to the following schedule, and in grades four (4) and five (5). When class size exceeds twenty-seven (27), the following schedule will apply:
  - 8-5-2-1 One (1) hour of paraprofessional assistance per day for one (1) to two (2) students over twenty-five (25).
  - 8-5-2-2 Two (2) hours of paraprofessional assistance per day for three (3) to five (5) students over twenty-five (25).
  - 8-5-2-3 Three (3) hours of paraprofessional assistance per day for six (6) to seven (7) students over twenty-five (25).
  - 8-5-2-4 For grades K-5, in no event shall classes exceed thirty-five (35) students, unless the only solution is transferring students to other schools.
- 8-5-3 Specialized Service Providers. The District and the Association recognize the valuable contribution that specialized service providers bring to our schools and to improving student achievement. Therefore, the Board and the Association are committed to providing schools with both multidisciplinary teams and staffing ratios that lead the Denver metropolitan area. To meet this commitment, the parties agree that beginning with the 2003-2004 budget process, any increases in the "atrisk" funding component of the School Finance Act that are not earmarked by the State will be used to improve specialized services staffing ratios.
- 8-6 Department chairpersons in high schools shall be elected by the Department, subject to approval by the principal. Unless determined otherwise by the Collaborative School Committee (CSC), the term for department chairpersons shall be three (3) years. Department chairpersons shall not succeed themselves unless approved by the CSC.
  - 8-6-1 Department chairpersons shall be provided time to fulfill the duties of that assignment as determined by the principal after consultation with the CSC.

- 8-7 <u>Non-Teaching Duties</u>. The District agrees to make every effort to reduce non-teaching duties that do not best use a teacher's presence and skills, through the use of teacher aides and part-time clerical assistants.
  - 8-7-1 Assignment of teachers to non-teaching duties not done by aides will be rotated so that no teachers will have the same assignment for more than four (4) consecutive semesters, unless the teacher agrees to such assignment. Reassignment to such non-teaching duty can only be after an interim of at least two (2) consecutive semesters.
  - 8-7-2 Special educators' and specialized service providers' non-teaching duty time will be used solely for implementing the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) mandates.
- 8-8 <u>Lesson Plans</u>. Teachers will maintain effective lesson plans related to the approved curriculum for use by the teacher in regular instruction and review by the administration, as well as specific, detailed lesson plans for use by substitute teachers.
  - 8-8-1 Teachers and administrators will discuss and agree upon the format of lesson plans.
  - 8-8-2 The administrator can ask for lesson plans to be turned in for the purpose of improving instruction and will provide constructive feedback to the teacher submitting the plans.
  - 8-8-3 If the administrator has questions of the teacher regarding the lesson plan, then the administrator and the teacher will discuss the lesson plan and identify any next steps as necessary. A teacher will only be responsible for lesson plans for the first five (5) days of any absence.
- 8-9 <u>Classroom Interruptions</u>. The District agrees that classroom interruptions diminish the time for instruction. The administrative staff and teachers shall make every effort to avoid unnecessary interruptions during instructional periods.
- 8-10 <u>Class Coverage</u>. It is an administrative responsibility to cover all scheduled classes.
  - 8-10-1 During the first month of each school year, the principal, in consultation with the department chairs at the secondary level or grade level chairs at the elementary level, shall develop a written contingency plan for class coverage occasioned by a shortfall of substitute teachers. Individuals must possess the appropriate teaching credentials to be considered for class coverage. Such plan shall include the procedure for enabling teachers to invoke Article 32-6.

# 8-11 Emergency School Closings.

- 8-11-1 When weather conditions constitute a danger sufficient to require the closing of schools, the following procedure shall be followed:
  - a. If the conditions exist prior to the normal school opening time, teachers shall be notified, as early as possible, by public media or direct contact and shall not be required to report to work.
  - b. If the conditions require closing during the school day, teachers shall be dismissed as soon as possible after students are dismissed.
- 8-11-2 When weather conditions are such that schools will be open, but some professional staff or students are not able to attend because of the severity of conditions in their locale, the following procedure shall be followed:
  - a. As soon as possible, teachers affected shall notify the principal of their inability to attend school that day.
  - b. Professional staff who cannot attend school because of weather conditions or other emergencies will have deducted from their personal leave, if available, or sick leave if personal leave is not available, the day or days they were unable to attend their assignment. All teacher absences under this Article are subject to review by the school building level administrator.
- 8-12 <u>Teacher-in-Charge</u>. If a teacher is placed in charge of a building during the absence of the principal, and when the principal's absence will be one-half day or longer, the teacher will be relieved from either the office or classroom assignment.
- 8-13 <u>Transportation of Students</u>. Teachers shall not be required to transport pupils to activities, which take place away from the school building.

#### **Article 9 - Central Office Teacher Files**

All teacher permanent central office files shall be maintained under the following conditions:

9-1 All materials placed in the permanent central office file and originating within the District shall, upon request, be available to the teacher for inspection in no more than seventy-two (72) hours. In cases where teachers express a pressing need to see their personnel file immediately, the District will make every effort to meet the teacher's request. At the teacher's request, anyone may be

- present in this review. If requested, teachers may be provided copies of material contained in their central office file without cost.
- 9-2 Material originating within the District and which is disciplinary in nature or negative in regard to a teacher's conduct, service, character or personality, shall not be placed in a teacher's file unless the teacher has had an opportunity to read the material and to sign the copy to be filed. Such signature does not indicate agreement with the content of the material.
  - 9-2-1 If a teacher is exonerated with respect to any of the matters cited above or is exonerated following the completion of an investigation during which the teacher was placed on administrative leave with pay, all adverse entries in the teacher's central personnel file related to that incident or issue will be removed.
- 9-3 The teacher shall have the right to answer any material filed and have the answer reviewed by the Executive Director of Human Resources, and attached to the file copy.
- 9-4 Written material sent to the central office by students or parents shall be sent to the principal for appropriate response and shall not be placed in the central file except pursuant to the provisions of this Article.
- 9-5 Upon written request by the teacher, material contained in the central office file for more than three (3) years will be reviewed and eliminated, as long as such material does not interfere with the safety, physical, and moral well-being of children. The District shall have the exclusive responsibility to determine whether the material should be retained.
- 9-6 All written and printed material dealing with the processing of a grievance will be filed separately from the central office personnel files of the participants.
- 9-7 A log will be kept in the Department of Human Resources, which must be signed and dated by any person examining the file, except for central office personnel.
- 9-8 All materials contained in local school files kept by principals must be forwarded to the permanent central office file in accordance with the conditions of this Article before its use in any central office action that affects a teacher's employment status, promotion, demotion, or dismissal.

# Article 10 - Teacher Evaluation ARTICLE 10 IS SUBJECT TO RATIFICATION AT A LATER DATE. THE WORK IS BEING FINALIZED BY THE DPS/DCTA JOINT 1338 COMMITTEE (ARTICLE 24)

- 10-1 Performance Evaluations are used to:
  - (1) improve instruction;
  - (2) communicate the District's objectives and direct its work force;
  - (3) enhance the implementation of program curriculum;
  - (4) measure professional growth and development of licensed personnel;
  - (5) implement District and school goals in the classroom;
  - (6) determine and document satisfactory or unsatisfactory performance; and
  - (7) measure the level of performance of all personnel covered by this Agreement.

## 10-2 Definition of Terms.

- 10-2-1 As used only in this evaluation process, unless the context otherwise requires:
  - 10-2-1-1 "Days" means working school days.
  - 10-2-1-2 "Evaluator" means school principal or administrative supervisor who is responsible for the evaluation. Principals are responsible for all evaluations in their buildings, but may designate other qualified administrators to assist.
  - 10-2-1-3 "Objectives" means annual measurable objectives developed by a teacher in collaboration with that teacher's evaluator, two of which must address District and/or school objectives.
  - 10-2-1-4 "Objectives conference" means the annual conference between the evaluator and the teacher to develop and/or review the teacher's objectives.
  - 10-2-1-5 "Observation" is a work setting observation of a teacher's performance.

- 10-2-1-6 "Peer assistant" is a teacher selected from a pool of specially trained teachers to assist a teacher during a Remediation Plan.
- 10-2-1-7 "Standards and criteria" are those observable behaviors on which performance is rated, as advanced, proficient, partially proficient, or unsatisfactory:
  - i) "Advanced" means standards and criteria are clearly exceeded.
  - ii) "Proficient" means performance consistently meets standards and criteria.
  - iii) "Partially proficient" means performance partially meets standards and criteria; therefore, improvement is needed.
  - iv) "Unsatisfactory" means that performance consistently fails to meet objectives of standards and criteria.
- 10-2-1-8 "Post-evaluation conference" means a conference between the teacher and evaluator or designee in which the final written evaluation is discussed and presented to the teacher for signature. This may be combined with a post-observation conference.
- 10-2-1-9 "Post-observation conference" means the conference required between the teacher and evaluator or designee following each formal observation to discuss what was observed and to make recommendations for improved performance, if appropriate.
- 10-2-1-10 "Pre-evaluation conference" means a conference between the teacher and evaluator or designee at the beginning of the evaluation process to discuss the evaluation procedure. This may be combined with a pre-observation conference in Article 10-2-1-11 and with the objectives conference in Article10-2-1-4.
- 10-2-1-11 "Pre-observation conference" means a conference between the teacher and evaluator or designee held prior to a formal observation.
- 10-2-1-12 "Remediation Plan" is a plan jointly developed by the teacher and evaluator or designee to correct an unsatisfactory performance rating on any performance characteristic.
- 10-2-1-13 "Satisfactory performance" means that a teacher is rated at or above partially proficient on all standards and criteria.

- 10-2-1-14 "Unsatisfactory performance" means that a teacher is rated unsatisfactory on any performance criterion.
- 10-2-1-15 "Written improvement plan" means a section of the written evaluation report which specifies what performance improvements, if any, are needed and makes recommendations for achieving those improvements.
- 10-2-1-16 "Year" means the school year.

## 10-3 Types of Evaluations and Observations.

- 10-3-1 The District has three types of evaluations:
  - a. Probationary evaluations are conducted on an annual basis during the teacher's probationary employment.
  - b. Non-probationary evaluations are conducted once every three (3) years for teachers who have successfully completed their probationary period.
  - c. Special evaluations are conducted when a supervisor determines that a teacher requires assistance in a non-evaluation year.

# 10-3-2 The District has two types of observations:

- a. A formal observation is scheduled in advance, is recommended to be at least twenty (20) minutes in length and includes a pre-observation conference and a post-observation conference.
- An informal observation does not include the requirements of the formal observation and may occur at any time. Informal observations are conducted yearly in non-evaluation years for non-probationary teachers.

## 10-4 Evaluators.

10-4-1 The school principal is responsible for all evaluations in the school building. When a teacher is assigned to more than one building, the home school principal must coordinate the evaluation with the appropriate principals or supervisors. As necessary, the principal will identify a designated evaluator for each teacher, as well as other administrators who may be asked to conduct classroom observations. Designated evaluators work at the direction of the principal, and they are solely responsible to the principal.

- 10-4-2 Under state law, evaluators must be trained and thoroughly familiar with the evaluation process.
- 10-5 <u>Data Sources</u>. Data sources used in conducting the evaluation must be stated in writing and discussed at both the pre- and post-evaluation conferences.
  - 10-5-1 Data sources may include, but are not limited to:
    - a. evidence from parents, students, staff, and the Community, including information obtained from standardized surveys;
    - b. the designated evaluator's observations of the teacher's performance in the work setting;
    - c. other data sources may include, if available, prior evaluations and a portfolio presented by the teacher.
- 10-6 Conduct of the Evaluation: Probationary and Non-Probationary.
  - 10-6-1 All evaluations shall be conducted in compliance with state statute and regulations and with contractual obligations. Evaluations shall be completed by the date set annually by the Department of Human Resources.
  - 10-6-2 Notification. A teacher shall be informed in advance about the purpose and nature of the evaluation process, the elements of the evaluation, the procedure for conducting the evaluation and the responsibilities of the individuals involved. At the commencement of the school year in which an evaluation is to be conducted, the principal will review the evaluation process, as per Article 10-2-1-10, with the teacher and will give the teacher a copy of the procedures, the standards and criteria and the ratings to be used.
  - 10-6-3 <u>Observations</u>. Observations of the teacher shall be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the teacher. Written reports of observations shall include the date, time and notes made during the observation and shall be shared with the teacher. The evaluator shall make one or more formal observations of the teacher and shall make any recommendations for growth areas. Unless extenuating circumstances arise, the date and time shall be honored as agreed upon for the post-observation conference.
  - 10-6-4 <u>Documentation</u>. The legal rights of the teacher shall be preserved and the evaluation and all documentation used in the evaluation shall be confidential and available only to the teacher, evaluator, and other persons identified by statute. No evaluation information shall be gathered by electronic devices without the consent of the teacher. No informality in

any evaluation or in the manner of making or documenting any evaluation shall invalidate such evaluation.

## 10-6-5 Written Evaluation Report. The evaluation report shall:

- a) be written on the adopted form;
- b) identify all data sources used;
- c) contain a written improvement plan specifying performance improvements needed, if any, and recommendations for achieving those improvements;
- d) be specific as to the strengths and weaknesses of the teacher; and
- e) specify when direct observations were made. The evaluator shall sign the written evaluation report and discuss it with the teacher during the post-evaluation conference. The teacher shall sign the written evaluation report and will receive a copy of it. Such signature shall not be construed to indicate agreement with the information or the conclusions in the final written evaluation report, and the teacher shall be given an opportunity to attach any written explanation or other relevant documentation that the teacher deems necessary. The final written evaluation report will be sent to the appropriate Area/Assistant Superintendent for review and signature.
- 10-7 <u>Remediation Plan.</u> A teacher whose performance is deemed unsatisfactory shall be given a copy of the written evaluation report of the deficiencies that led to the unsatisfactory rating. A Remediation Plan to correct said deficiencies shall be jointly developed by the evaluator and the teacher.

## 10-7-1 The Remediation Plan shall:

- a. address not more than three identified deficiencies at any time;
- b. state the behaviors expected to remedy each deficiency;
- c. include a reasonable period of time of not less than thirty (30) nor more than ninety (90) school days to remedy the deficiencies (The Remediation Plan begins when the peer assistant(s) have the first meeting with the teacher or when the teacher signs the form to deny peer assistance.);
- d. identify the resources and assistance that are available to remedy the deficiencies.

- 10-7-2 A copy of the Remediation Plan shall be sent to the appropriate Area/Assistant Superintendent who may recommend changes to the teacher and the evaluator.
- 10-7-3 Peer assistance will be part of the Remediation Plan unless the teacher declines in writing to the evaluator. A peer assistance request/denial form must be filed by the principal with the Department of Human Resources. Peer assistance shall be provided by not more than three teachers who are specifically trained to provide assistance. Data gathered by peer assistant(s) shall not be or become part of the evaluation. Data from other resources can become part of the evaluation. Peer assistant(s) will provide progress reports and recommendations to the teacher within ten (10) days of the initial meeting. Recommended strategies shall be shared with the evaluator. For a probationary teacher on a Remediation Plan, the principal may request a peer assistant to aid in remedying deficiencies in addition to any other means of assistance.
- 10-7-4 During the implementation of the Plan, the evaluator shall continue to conduct observations and conferences. At the end of the remediation period, the evaluator will complete the written evaluation report and one (1) of three (3) options is possible:
  - a. The teacher is no longer rated unsatisfactory on any criterion. No further action shall be taken and the individual shall be returned to the regular cycle. An annual observation shall be conducted the following semester.
  - b. Progress has been made but the evaluator still rates the teacher's performance as unsatisfactory but the evaluator may continue the Remediation Plan for an additional specified period;
  - c. The teacher has made insufficient progress and is still being rated unsatisfactory. In this case, the procedures referred to in Articles 10-7-5 or 10-7-6 will be followed.
- 10-7-5 Non-Probationary Teacher. If the final written evaluation report indicates that the teacher is still performing unsatisfactorily, the principal shall make a recommendation of dismissal for unsatisfactory performance to the appropriate Area/Assistant Superintendent.
- 10-7-6 <u>Probationary Teachers</u>. This performance evaluation process is not intended to limit the authority of the Board to non-renew the contract of any probationary teacher. A Remediation Plan shall not be a prerequisite for non-renewal. Following the completion of the final written evaluation report, a recommendation by the principal for the renewal or non-renewal of the contract of a probationary teacher shall be made to the appropriate Area/Assistant Superintendent. The Area/Assistant Superintendent will

- review the recommendation and notify the teacher in writing denying the recommendation, or confirming the recommendation and stating that it will be sent to the Board for action.
- 10-7-7 If the teacher goes on an extended leave after the Remediation Plan has commenced, the leave time will not be counted as part of the remediation time and the Plan will continue upon the return of the teacher to active service.
- 10-7-8 Once a Remediation Plan is implemented, the teacher may be transferred only with written consent of the evaluator, the teacher, and the principal of the school to which transfer is sought.
- 10-8 <u>Special Evaluation</u>. When an evaluator determines that a non-probationary teacher needs assistance during a non-evaluation year, a special evaluation shall be initiated.
  - 10-8-1 To initiate a special evaluation, the evaluator shall conduct a formal observation with pre- and post-observation conferences. During the pre- observation conference, the evaluator shall indicate the performance concerns. A second observation shall be conducted.
  - 10-8-2 Following the second observation, the written evaluation report shall be completed and discussed with the teacher within ten (10) days.
  - 10-8-3 If the written evaluation report indicates unsatisfactory performance on any performance criterion, a Remediation Plan shall be developed by the teacher and evaluator. The procedures for such a plan shall apply as in Article 10-7.
- 10-9 Evaluation procedures to be used in the District shall be developed by the Advisory District Personnel Performance Evaluation Council (1338 Committee) subject to approval by the Board.
  - 10-9-1 The procedures shall be published and available for review by all teachers and a copy will be given to each teacher prior to any scheduled evaluations.
  - 10-9-2 Teacher representatives on the 1338 Committee, which the Board is required to appoint under the provision of C.R.S. 22-9-107, shall be nominated by the Association.
  - 10-9-3 The 1338 Committee will revise the appraisal processes for teachers and specialized service providers in order to base them on standards for professional practice. They will recommend changes to the District and Association no later than September 1, 2003.

10-9-4 In September 2002, the 1338 Committee will revise the appraisal processes for teachers and specialized service providers in order to base them on standards for professional practice. They will recommend changes to the District and Association no later than September 1, 2003.

### Article 11 - Complaints Against Teachers/Administrative Leave/Corrective Action

- 11-1 <u>Complaints Against Teachers</u>. When a person makes a written or verbal complaint against a teacher, the principal or designee shall promptly notify the teacher of the complaint, the identity of the complainant, and the teacher shall be given the opportunity to respond. The principal or designee shall investigate the complaint and attempt to resolve the complaint informally if appropriate.
  - 11-1-1 If appropriate, the principal or designee shall arrange a meeting with the complainant, the teacher and the principal or designee in an attempt to resolve the situation.
  - 11-1-2 If any record of the complaint, or its formal or informal resolution, is placed in the teacher's files, the teacher shall have the right to file a written response within twenty (20) school days.
- 11-2 <u>Administrative Leave</u>. If a principal decides to place a teacher on administrative leave for the purpose of further investigation, the principal or designee shall meet with the teacher to give specific allegation(s) and the basic reason why the administrative leave for investigation is necessary, when possible.
  - 11-2-1 The meeting shall take place at the end of the school day or whenever it is appropriate.
  - 11-2-2 The principal shall provide the teacher a copy of the administrative leave checklist and review it with the teacher. The teacher shall sign the form only as acknowledgement of receipt and be given a copy of it for informational reference.
  - 11-2-3 At the teacher's request a meeting will be held within three (3) school days. The purpose of the meeting is to give the teacher an opportunity to respond. The teacher may have Association representation at the meeting.
  - 11-2-4 The investigation will be completed as expeditiously as possible. If an investigation must extend beyond seven (7) calendar days, or if the administrative leave must be extended, the teacher and the Association will be notified by phone calls from the Department of Human Resources

- or designee the reasons for the extension and the expected date of completion of the investigation and/or leave.
- 11-2-5 During the investigation, the teacher placed on administrative leave will continue to receive full pay. All rules for active employees will continue to apply.
- 11-2-6 Following the completion of the investigation, the principal or designee shall meet with the teacher to share the results of the investigation and to give the teacher an opportunity to respond. The teacher may have Association representation at the meeting. The principal or designee shall determine appropriate resolution of the matter.
- 11-2-7 Administrative leave should be considered as an option to be used only when necessary to protect the students or staff or to conduct an appropriate investigation. Administrative leave is not a punitive action and there will be no record of the leave in a teacher's personnel file.
- 11-2-8 The Agreement Review Committee (ARC) will review on an annual basis administrative leaves for the prior year to ensure that the above procedures have been implemented appropriately.
- 11-3 <u>Corrective Action</u>. Before taking a corrective action against a teacher, the principal shall investigate the situation, meet with the teacher and give the teacher an opportunity to respond.
  - 11-3-1 If a principal or designee determines it may be necessary to take a corrective action, the principal shall inform the teacher of his/her intent to consider potential corrective action measures and allow the teacher the opportunity to have either another teacher or representation from the Association present at this meeting.
  - 11-3-2 The principal or designee shall follow the procedures established in the District document "Basic Fairness and Due Process, A Guide for Corrective Discipline."
  - 11-3-3 Neither a letter of warning nor a letter of reprimand shall be issued, nor shall a teacher be suspended without pay, except for just cause.

#### Article 12 - Instructional Materials

12-1 In order to provide the best possible educational program in each school, the District will endeavor to provide sufficient instructional materials and equipment to ensure that each pupil and teacher will have access to them.

- 12-1-1 Prior to final preparation of budgets for materials and supplies, the CSC, in consultation with the teachers affected, will determine an equitable distribution of resources in the proposed budget. The final building budgets will reflect the priorities established by the CSC.
- 12-1-2 Each school will be allocated a revolving fund through their budget accounts to use for the purpose of instructional materials that are not otherwise readily obtainable by teachers.
- 12-2 The Association and the District support equal educational opportunity for all children in the Denver Public Schools. It is their mutual aim, through the careful selection of multi-ethnic instructional materials, to help students develop a sense of individual worth and respect for the worth of others, regardless of their ethnic or cultural backgrounds.

# Article 13 - Assignments, Schedules and Transfer

- 13-1 <u>General Principles</u>. Teacher assignments, schedules and transfers will be made in the best interest of the educational program for the students and consistent with teacher preparation, certification, licensure and experience. Every effort will be made to identify the District educational strategies, programs and leadership in a timely manner to maximize site-based planning, teacher selection, assignments and transfers.
- 13-2 <u>Qualifications/Eligibility</u>. In order to be considered for a position, a teacher must meet accreditation standards of the Colorado Department of Education and the North Central Association, where applicable, and must meet all posted requirements for the position including the requirements set forth by the No Child Left Behind Act.
- 13-3 Teachers shall be notified of their tentative program, schedule, or grade level assignment for the ensuing semester or year as applicable, as soon as possible following preparation of the master schedule. In addition, they will be notified of changes in their tentative program, schedule, or grade level assignment, if any.
- 13-4 Teacher scheduling shall be made without regard to race, creed, color, sexual orientation, national origin, gender, marital status, age, and consistent with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, membership in any teacher organization or such other specified human or civil rights as may be protected by statute.
- 13-5 School schedules for each teacher normally will include a variety of assignments. The District and the Association recognize that students who are not achieving to the level of ability need the expertise of experienced teachers as much as do students with high achievement levels.

- 13-6 Once a Remediation Plan is implemented, the teacher may be transferred only with written consent of the evaluator, the teacher, and the principal of the school to which transfer is sought.
- 13-7 <u>Timelines</u>. The Human Resources Department shall determine the start date of teacher transfer as early as practicable after schools have submitted their staffing vacancies and needs. The timeline for the key dates and activities listed below will be communicated to the Association no later than January 31. The District may post limited vacancies (typically in shortage areas) prior to the start date of teacher transfer. Unless there is a fiscal or enrollment exigency, the key dates and activities cited below will be completed by the end of the traditional calendar year.

## Key dates and activities:

- Teachers verify consideration group. (Article 13-10)
- District notifies the Association of shortage areas, with an opportunity for discussion with the District.
- Teacher requests for Intent to Vacate, Early Retirement Incentive, move to part-time/job share, Extended Leave of Absence, and Return from Leave notice submitted. (Articles 13-10, 22, 25, 31-14; Appendix B)
- Recommendation for administrative transfer; Superintendent approval of administrative transfer. (Article 13-9-1)
- Recommendation for non-renewal of probationary teachers.
- In-Building Bidding and Reduction in Building Staff interviews conducted by Personnel Committees. (Articles 13-10,13-15)
- Schools report vacancies. (Article 13-16) Vacancies are posted.
- Teachers apply to transfer for vacancies. (Article 13-17)
- Schools review qualified applicants' applications and resumes, schedule interviews, extend offers. Schools notify unsuccessful transfer applicants. (Articles 13-18, 13-19)
- Assignment of unassigned non-probationary teachers. (Article 13-18-4)
- End of internal teacher transfer determined by Human Resources, normally prior to last day of traditional school year.
- End of internal posting cycle.
- End of internal/external posting cycle.

# 13-8 Personnel Committee.

- 13-8-1 Each school shall establish a Personnel Committee to select candidates for vacancies and Reduction in Building Staff (RIBS) at the school building.
- 13-8-2 The Personnel Committee will be composed of the principal and three (3) teachers chosen by a vote of the faculty, and may have no more than two (2) parent(s) as member(s) appointed by the Collaborative School Committee.
- 13-8-3 Teacher members will be chosen by the faculty. The Personnel Committee may have one (1) or more of the teacher assignments filled, on a rotating basis, by (a) teacher(s) in the grade, team, or department in which the vacancy exists. The Personnel Committee will determine whether more than one (1) Personnel Committee is necessary to meet the needs of the school.
- 13-8-4 The Personnel Committee will make decisions by consensus. If the Personnel Committee is unable to reach a decision by consensus, the principal shall make an impasse decision.
  - 13-8-4-1 A consensus decision is either unanimous or a majority decision that the entire Committee (including the dissenters) will support.
  - 13-8-4-2 The District in collaboration with the Association will establish and provide resources for training and effective functioning of the Personnel Committee
- 13-8-5 The decision or results of the Personnel Committee shall not be grievable. The failure to comply with the procedure contained in this Article is subject to grievance.
- 13-8-6 In determining the most suitable candidate for a vacant position or reducing a member of the staff, the Personnel Committee shall consider the following criteria:
  - instructional practices,
  - classroom management,
  - appropriateness of academic preparation,
  - teaching experience in the subject areas of the assignment and/or grade level
  - participation in school activities beyond the classroom,
  - appraisals and relevant information in the central personnel file,
  - other criteria specific to the position as stated in the job posting,
  - building level interview,

- references
- 13-8-7 The Personnel Committee shall operate during the school year. During the assignment of unassigned non-probationary teachers between the internal and internal/external posting cycles, the principal will communicate with the Personnel Committee without the necessity of an interview process. Outside of the school year the principal may fill positions without the requirement of consultation with the Personnel Committee.
- 13-8-8 Any alleged abuses of principal authority in the Personnel Committee process shall be reported to the Association or Area Superintendent or designee. The Association and Area Superintendent or designee will review and address these allegations.

### **INVOLUNTARY TRANSFERS**

- 13-9 <u>Transfer</u>. A teacher may be transferred by the Superintendent from one school, position, or grade level to another within the District, if such transfer does not result in the assignment of the teacher to a position of employment for which he/she is not qualified by virtue of academic preparation and certification. There shall be no discrimination shown toward any teacher in the assignment or transfer of that teacher to a school, position or grade because of sex, race, creed, color, or membership or non-membership in any group or organization.
  - 13-9-1 Principal Recommended. Principals may recommend to the Superintendent or designee the administrative transfer of teachers. If a principal is considering recommending a teacher for administrative transfer, the principal shall provide a written notice including the specific reasons to the teacher and to the Area/Assistant Superintendent. In the interest of problem solving, once the written notice has been given, a meeting shall be held with the Area/Assistant Superintendent, principal and teacher to discuss the reasons for the transfer. The teacher is entitled to representation from the Association at this meeting. After review, the Area/Assistant Superintendent may only recommend an administrative transfer for good and sufficient reason for final action to the Superintendent.
    - 13-9-1-1 General examples of good and sufficient reasons for an administrative transfer include, but are not limited to, failure to support the educational philosophy of the school and or not being a "good educational fit" within the school. These specific reasons must be explained in writing describing the teacher's behavior(s) that inhibit the educational mission of the school.

- 13-9-1-2 Good and sufficient reasons for an administrative transfer does not include transfer for corrective action or discipline, transfer due to classroom performance evaluation, or transfer in retaliation for reasonable performance of activities covered by this contract or by law.
- 13-9-2 <u>Relocation</u>. When a school program is relocated from one site to another, currently assigned teachers with continuing contracts will maintain their assignment pursuant to the provisions of Article 13.
- 13-9-3 <u>Changes in Program</u>. The provisions of Article 13, which allow for the administrative transfer of staff due to a change in program, adopted by the Collaborative School Committee and affirmed by the Superintendent, will be appropriately followed.
- 13-9-4 Opening or Redesign of a School. When a new school is opened or redesigned, the principal shall make hiring decisions until the new Personnel Committee becomes operational. The principal will follow the processes and standards set out in this Article.
- 13-9-5 <u>School Relocation</u>. If a school is relocated leaving few, if any, teachers assigned, teachers who remain assigned will not have to interview for their respective positions.

## 13-10 Reduction in Building Staff (RIBS).

- 13-10-1 The Collaborative School Committee will charge the Personnel Committee with the task of conducting a Reduction in Building Staff upon receipt of information that reduced the number of teaching assignments at a school, or when a Collaborative School Committee decides fewer teaching assignments are needed in a department, grade level or ELA/specialty area.
- 13-10-2 Following a determination of staffing needs including all attrition (resignations, retirements, administrative transfers, teacher declaration of vacancies, and annual assignments) and declaration of consideration group, the Personnel Committee shall establish the group of teachers to be considered for reduction. The determination of staffing needs should include identification of all teachers who would volunteer to vacate a position.
- 13-10-3 The consideration group may be a grade level, department or specialty area. The consideration group shall be defined as narrowly as possible based on program needs. The Personnel Committee shall notify the affected consideration group as soon as possible. Teachers will not be required to re-interview for their positions if they are not in an affected consideration group.

- 13-10-3-1 For the purpose of establishing consideration groups, teachers serving in more than one department, grade level or ELA/specialty area shall annually declare the department, grade level or ELA/specialty area in which they choose to be considered no later than the completion of the third week of school.
- 13-10-3-2 Each teacher may reside in only one consideration group.
- 13-10-3-3 Excluding job share teachers, contract teachers who are assigned to a school less than full-time, shall be accorded the same transfer rights as other teachers in the consideration group.
- 13-10-4 Teachers on approved leaves where their positions are being held in accordance with Appendix B shall be considered equally for the purpose of reduction.
- 13-10-5 The Personnel Committee shall establish and make available to all faculty members a written procedure that will be followed when determining the teacher(s) to be reduced from a building. In developing the procedures for Reduction in Building Staff, the Personnel Committee shall include the following:
  - Teachers in the consideration group may choose to vacate an assignment.
  - Teachers in the consideration group should be allowed to interview for any vacancy in the school that is posted through the in-building bidding process.
  - All members of the consideration group must be interviewed by the Personnel Committee.
- 13-10-6 The Personnel Committee shall attempt to reach consensus on the candidate most suitable to be reduced. If the Personnel Committee is unable to reach consensus, the principal will decide which candidate will be reduced.
- 13-10-7 Any teacher transferred during the school year by the District may be provided with up to two (2) days of non-pupil contact planning time in order to permit the transferred teacher to make an orderly transition between the two (2) assignments.
- 13-10-8 Teachers who are involuntarily transferred are expected to actively participate in the teacher staffing process. The District may pursue consequences for teachers who are directly placed for three (3)

- consecutive years who have not actively participated in the teaching staffing process.
- 13-10-9 Leaves/Job Share/Retirement. See related Articles 22, 25 and 31-14.
- 13-11 School Redesign and Restructuring. The parties affirm that the action to redesign a school is due to structure and design reasons and is not a reflection on individual teacher competency. The Association and the District enter into this Agreement to assure that a known and fair process is followed in the treatment of personnel in a school that has been designated for Redesign, Restructure or closure. By definition, the Redesign or Restructure of a school shall refer to the Superintendent's decision pursuant to Article 5.
  - 13-11-1 The parties agree the treatment of personnel at schools impacted by Redesign or Restructure to be as follows:
    - a. The District will designate a principal who will begin the teacher selection process immediately. Among the criteria that will be considered in hiring decisions will be familiarity with the school, students, parents and Community.
    - b. All teachers who have continuing assignments at the school will have an opportunity to interview for vacant positions with the principal until a new Personnel Committee is elected.
    - c. Teachers who are not selected through this process defined in #2 may apply for and be interviewed for positions on the District-wide postings.
    - d. Teachers who choose to leave the redesigned school, or who interview at the school but are not selected, will be guaranteed at least two (2) interviews for other vacancies on the District-wide postings.
    - e. The District and the Association will monitor this process to ensure adherence to this procedure.
    - f. The District may require additional work outside the normal school day, time beyond the adopted school year, or activities attributable to the design of the new teaching and learning structure and programs at the school. Compensation for such time will be in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement.
  - 13-11-2 The parties agree that the treatment of personnel impacted by closure will be as follows:

- a. Teachers will have an early opportunity to interview for vacancies at schools where students have been reassigned due to closure.
- b. Teachers will be guaranteed at least two (2) interviews for other vacancies on the District-wide postings.

#### **VOLUNTARY TRANSFERS**

- 13-12 Specialized Services. Specialized service personnel, including nurses, social workers, psychologists, speech correctionist/therapists, and any other specialty group, shall be transferred according to a written procedure made available to all affected employees. Specialized service personnel shall meet annually with their supervisor to discuss and make revisions to written reassignment procedures. If a specialized service provider is not assigned by the end of the traditional school year, Human Resources or designee will notify the teacher by the last day of the school year to discuss the status of the teacher's assignment.
- 13-13 <u>Intent to Vacate</u>. A notice to vacate a position may only be requested by a non-probationary teacher. A notice to vacate results in a teacher relinquishing her/his current assignment at the building. Teachers who vacate must actively participate in the teacher staffing process.
- 13-14 <u>Probationary Teachers</u>. A probationary teacher in good standing may choose to transfer only once during his/her probationary period upon mutual agreement between the probationary teacher and the site administrator unless otherwise noted in Article 13-9.

## 13-15 In-Building Bidding.

- 13-15-1 The Department Chairs at the secondary level and grade level Chairs at the elementary level, in collaboration with the principal, will establish procedures whereby teachers may indicate assignment preferences. All such procedures shall emphasize the needs of students as the primary consideration for assignment. Teacher preferences may be established at grade level meetings, departmental meetings, or team meetings, as appropriate.
- 13-15-2 In accordance with Article 13-8, the Personnel Committee shall determine whether any vacant positions will first be posted in that school before they are posted District-wide. Based on this decision, members of a school faculty who are qualified and have a continuing contract shall be able to apply for all such vacancies that may occur in that school prior to its being posted District-wide.
- 13-15-3 In determining if current faculty is allowed to bid on a vacancy prior to its being posted District-wide, the Personnel Committee will:

- identify its staffing needs, including the identification of all teachers who will vacate their positions;
- determine assignments open for in-building bidding and announce them to the faculty;
- determine and announce procedures for in-building bidding;
- allow eligible faculty members interviews by the Personnel Committee.
- 13-15-4 Teachers who agree to fill a different position within the same school for the next school year, through the in-building bidding procedure, forfeit their right to bid for and be assigned to a position listed on the vacancy list.

### 13-16 Posting Vacancies.

- 13-16-1 The principal shall be responsible for notifying the Department of Human Resources of vacancies that are open at their school as soon as they are known.
- 13-16-2 Each vacancy shall be posted on the Denver Public Schools website.
- 13-16-3 The Personnel Committee shall write basic postings and detailed job descriptions for all vacancies that occur at their school.
- 13-16-4 The Personnel Committee shall write interview questions based on the posting.
- 13-16-5 Postings shall include a brief description of all involved responsibilities, and special and unique qualifications.
- 13-16-6 Vacancies that are not posted during teacher transfer cycles shall be filled by the Department of Human Resources and the principal at the school on an annual assignment basis. Un-posted vacancies will be posted subject to the provisions of Article 13.
- 13-16-7 Vacancies for Teacher on Special Assignment (TOSA) shall be posted when they become available.
- 13-16-8 Teachers with continuing contracts and teachers new to the District with Board-approved contracts for identified shortage areas shall be eligible to bid on all posted vacancies for which they are qualified. If positions from the first internal posting cycle are not filled, teachers with continuing contracts and out-of-District applicants shall be eligible to bid

- on subsequent posted vacancies in the internal/external posting cycle for which qualified.
- 13-16-9 Teachers who successfully bid on a position in the first internal posting cycle are ineligible to bid on subsequent positions posted during the same calendar year.

# 13-17 Applications.

- 13-17-1 Teachers applying for a vacancy in other schools must complete the appropriate application forms and notify their principal at the time of application.
- 13-17-2 Applications for vacancies may be submitted by any currently qualified candidate. The Department of Human Resources shall screen all applications to ensure compliance with the state law and District requirements. The applications of all qualified candidates for a vacancy will be forwarded to the school. Teacher applicants shall be responsible for sending their resumes to the schools where they have applied.

# 13-18 Selection Procedure.

- 13-18-1 The Personnel Committee shall review all applications forwarded from the Department of Human Resources and determine how many and which applicants will be interviewed. When there are two or more applicants for a position, the Personnel Committee shall interview a minimum of two candidates.
- 13-18-2 Interviews shall be completed and a decision made no later than thirty (30) days after the vacancy is posted.
  - 13-18-2-1 A transfer applicant who is interviewed by the Personnel Committee shall be notified by the Personnel Committee, principal or designee in a timely manner regarding the status of the position.
- 13-18-3 The Department of Human Resources will be notified no later than thirty (30) days after the vacancy is posted if no candidate is selected. The Association will receive this information upon request.
- 13-18-4 To the extent possible, all non-probationary teachers who have not acquired a position at the end of the first internal posting will be assigned prior to the completion of the internal/external posting process. These individuals will have access to vacancies not filled in the internal posting and new vacancies created by the movement of personnel during the internal posting cycle. If it is not possible to assign a teacher prior to the end of the traditional school year, Human Resources or a designee will notify the impacted teacher by the last day of school of the status of the

- teacher's assignment. Positions which remain unfilled, will be filled by the Department of Human Resources.
- 13-18-5 A list of probationary teachers "in good standing" will be retained and utilized for consideration in current/future openings. The list will be forwarded to schools for their consideration prior to the start of interviews in the internal/external posting cycle.
  - 13-18-5-1 The term "in good standing" will mean a probationary teacher who has not been recommended for non-renewal due to classroom performance concerns and/or non-completion of District job requirements.

## 13-19 Assignments/Placements.

- 13-19-1 Teachers assigned to a vacant position will not be eligible to apply for subsequent vacancies during the current school year.
- 13-19-2 Teachers accepted to fill vacancies will remain in their current assignment until the end of the school year, except as determined by the Department of Human Resources.
- 13-19-3 Teachers who do not have an assignment for the next school year should, whenever possible, forward a copy of their resume to the Department of Human Resources to aid in proper placement of the teacher.
- 13-19-4 When there are no assignments for which an unassigned nonprobationary teacher is qualified under the No Child Left Behind Act, the Department of Human Resources may assign a teacher to a position for which they are not highly qualified.
- 13-19-5 The Department of Human Resources or designee will notify unassigned teachers when an appropriate assignment has been confirmed, and will provide basic details of the assignment. The teacher should contact the school for further details about the assignment in a timely manner.
  - 13-19-5-1 A temporary or annual assignment is for a specified period of time, subject to the provisions of Article 13.
  - 13-19-5-2 A continuing assignment continues from year to year, subject to the provisions of Article 13.

# Article 14 - Summer School and Evening School

- 14-1 <u>Summer School and Evening School</u>. Summer and evening school programs shall be provided flexibility of design and implementation following the guidelines set forth below.
  - 14-1-1 <u>Staffing</u>. The purpose of all staffing procedures is to find the most suitable candidates for the teaching positions needed to run the summer school.
    - 14-1-1-1 Summer school teaching positions shall be posted.
    - 14-1-1-2 Postings shall include the following basic components: descriptions of any teaching position that may be included in the summer school, and an explanation of the selection process.
    - 14-1-1-3 All teaching positions in summer school programs will be filled first by teachers currently in the District.
  - 14-1-2 <u>Compensation</u>. Teachers will be paid for summer and evening work as provided in Article 32.
  - 14-2 Teachers applying for positions in the evening school at Emily Griffith Opportunity School shall make written application directly to the Emily Griffith Opportunity School. They shall be notified of action on their application. Qualified teachers in the District shall be given priority for interviews for positions in the evening school, except for adult vocational education classes. In filling such positions, consideration will be given to the teacher's area of competence, major and minor fields of study, quality of teaching performance, attendance record and the criteria specified in Article 13-8-6.

#### Article 15 - Teacher Facilities

- 15-1 Each school will have the following facilities:
  - 15-1-1 Space in each classroom in which teachers may safely store instructional materials and supplies, provided that the District shall not be held to be the insurer of the teacher's personal belongings stored in such space. However, the reimbursement provisions of Article 16-2 are applicable.
- 15-1-2 A desk and chair for each teacher, except in unusual circumstances.
- 15-1-3 Well lighted and clean teacher restrooms.

- 15-2 Insofar as financially practicable, each school shall be provided with the following:
  - 15-2-1 A work room for teachers containing equipment and supplies to aid in the preparation of instructional materials.
  - 15-2-2 A furnished room to be used as a faculty lounge. Such room will be in addition to the aforementioned work room.
  - 15-2-3 Telephone service available to teachers which permits privacy of conversations.
  - 15-2-4 Space in the parking lot at each school will be reserved for teacher parking. When the District is unable to provide off-street parking for teachers, every effort will be made to provide reserved on-street parking as may be needed.
  - 15-2-5 Each teacher will be provided a place which may be locked to keep personal items. Such places may be in teachers' lounges or individual school rooms.
  - 15-2-6 Office space other than the faculty lounge for teachers whose classrooms are not available during the teachers' scheduled planning period.
  - 15-2-7 Office space for specialized services personnel which affords appropriate privacy to conduct conferences and testing.
- 15-3 When new schools are constructed, they will include teacher facilities of the nature noted above.
- 15-4 Every effort will be made to ensure that for instructional periods, teachers will be assigned to well-ventilated, heated, and properly lighted classrooms which meet applicable health and safety standards, and which allow for an appropriate amount of space to meet instructional needs.

## Article 16 - Personal Injury Benefits and Property Damage

- 16-1 <u>Temporary Total Disability</u>.
  - 16-1-1 Teachers are covered by the District's Workers' Compensation program.
    - 16-1-1 Teachers who have been injured on the job, within the course and scope of their employment, and are temporarily unable to perform their essential job functions, will be paid their full salary for up to

four (4) months from their date of injury. Within the four (4) month period, teachers will either be taken off of work by their authorized treating physician or released to modified duty. The District has a commitment to all their teachers to provide modified duty. If the injured teacher is still unable to perform their essential job functions after the four (4) month period, they will be placed on Temporary Total Disability. This is paid by Workers' Compensation up to the statutory maximum. Teachers have the option to supplement their Temporary Total Disability with sick time that they have accrued. They will remain on Temporary Total Disability until released by the primary treating physician.

# 16-2 Property Damage.

- 16-2-1 In the event a teacher, while acting within the scope of their employment, has their clothing or other personal property damaged or destroyed, as a result of an attack, assault, menace, vandalism, or pupil supervision problem, the District may reimburse the teacher the cost of repair or the reasonable replacement cost of the property.
- 16-2-2 Given prudent and responsible handling, the District may reimburse/replace wallets/purses, outer-wear and briefcases and contents, if appropriate, which are stolen while on school grounds, up to Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$250.00).
- 16-2-3 Given prudent and reasonable handling, the District may reimburse/replace stolen and damaged personal property used for instructional purposes at school, with prior documentation and approval, up to Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$250.00).
- 16-2-4 The District may pay the insurance deductible and/or Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$250.00) for the automobile damage because of the vandalism, provided the automobile was on school grounds and the employee was acting within the scope of their employment.
- 16-2-5 In order for the District to reimburse the teacher for losses as outlined in this Article, the teacher must file a claim by submitting both a written District property loss report and a police report. The District can investigate any or all such claims of loss to ascertain applicability to this Article. The maximum dollar amount of claims that will be processed for reimbursement for losses occurring during the term of this Agreement shall be Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$30,000.00). Completed claims will be reimbursed on a first come, first served basis.

#### Article 17 - Assaults

## 17-1 Assaults Upon Teachers.

- 17-1-1 Any teacher who has suffered any assault in connection with the teacher's employment shall immediately make a written report of the circumstances thereof to the administrator in charge of the school or department. The assaulted teacher may file a complaint with the appropriate law enforcement agency against the offender. The administrator shall make all reports required by state law. In addition, any teacher who is assaulted must file a Workers' Compensation report of injury with the District within twenty-four (24) hours.
- 17-1-2 The Board shall adopt, after consultation with appropriate individuals and groups, a safe school plan for handling situations involving potential assaults on staff by adults and/or students. The plan shall include any statutory requirements concerning assault upon, disorderly conduct toward, harassment of, and making false accusations directed toward any teacher. This plan will be reviewed with the faculty by the principal at the beginning of each school year.

### 17-2 Teachers Accused of Assault.

- 17-2-1 A teacher accused of assault shall make written reports to the administrator in charge of the school or department, attaching copies of any summons, complaint, process, information, indictment, notice or demand served upon the teacher in connection with such assault within five (5) days after the teacher has been served therewith, and reporting the final disposition of any such proceeding.
- 17-2-2 Such reports will be forwarded to the District by the administrator and, in the event civil or criminal proceedings are brought against the teacher, the District will comply with any reasonable request by the teacher for such information in the District's possession not privileged by law or policy of the District and which is determined to be relevant to the incident reported.
- 17-2-3 If criminal or civil proceedings are brought against a teacher alleging that the teacher committed an assault in connection the teacher's employment, such teacher, after making the reports described in Article 17-2-1 above, may request District assistance in the preparation of the teacher's defense. Upon receipt of such request, the District will instruct its attorney to consult with the teacher's legal counsel and cooperate with such counsel in the preparation of the teacher's defense, insofar as the interests of the teacher and the District are not conflicting.

## **Article 18 - Student Discipline**

- 18-1 The parties recognize that a classroom free of disruption is essential for learning. When a teacher judges it necessary to protect the instructional process, he or she may remove a disruptive student from class and refer the student to the administrator in charge or the administrator's designee. As soon as possible the teacher or school principal or designee will contact the parent or legal guardian and request his or her attendance at a conference regarding the removal.
- 18-2 A behavior plan may be developed at this time, but must be developed after the second removal of the student from the class. The plan should be consistent with the building disciplinary plan that should be determined by the CSC. Conditions under which students will be returned to class after the first or second removal, including the time period which should expire before the student is returned, shall be part of the behavior plan if developed. The student will not be returned to class until a conference has been held with the teacher, principal or designee and student.
- 18-3 Upon the third removal (with the exception of students with an active IEP), the student may be removed, consistent with the Board policy on student discipline, from the teacher's class for the remainder of the term. Whether the student will be in place in a different education setting, suspended or expelled, will be in accordance with Board policy and IDEA regulations.
  - 18-3-1 In the disciplinary plan, which will be reviewed annually, the CSC will incorporate the requirements of C.R.S. 22-32-109.1 and Board policy concerning disorderly conduct toward, harassment of, and making knowingly a false accusation of child abuse against a teacher.
  - 18-3-2 In implementing the disciplinary plan a teacher shall be protected from civil or criminal liability as provided by C.R.S. 22-32-109.1 (9).
  - 18-3-3 If a principal has evidence a teacher is referring excessive number of students for disciplinary reasons, the principal shall review the classroom practices with the teacher and try to determine if a more preventive approach is possible through change in practice, or if the teacher would benefit from staff development. However, this concern shall not be utilized as a reason for returning a student to class who has been excluded by the teacher without the conference referred to above.

### Article 19 - Personal Health Problems

19-1 Teachers who experience personal health problems such as alcoholism, drug abuse, depression, stress, or similar illness, and who voluntarily seek help for such problems, may be referred, through the Department of Human

- Resources, to the appropriate health agency or private physician, on a voluntary basis.
- 19-2 The District will make available, through the District's Employee Assistance Program (EAP), a comprehensive listing of self-help programs, mental health centers and other treatment facilities.
- 19-3 Confidentiality will be respected at all times by District employees.

## **Article 20 - Reduction in Force (RIF)**

- 20-1 Reduction in Force shall be defined as the cancellation of an employment contract as a result of a necessary reduction in the work force due to decreased student enrollment, shortage of revenue, or as otherwise provided in Colorado Revised Statutes. Such reductions shall be done in compliance with federal and state statutes, any existing court orders upon the District, and in a manner that will maintain the best educational program for the District.
  - 20-1-1 If the District anticipates a reduction in staff, the Executive Director of Human Resources, prior to formal action, shall consult with the Association and provide information relative to the number, kind and reason for the anticipated staff reduction.
  - 20-1-2 Normal attrition shall precede any reduction in force of regularly assigned teachers.
  - 20-1-3 Required staff reductions should be done by endorsement area in reverse order of being hired as a teacher.
    - 20-1-3-1 If hiring dates are identical, the tie shall be eliminated using the following criteria in descending order:
      - 1) The District contract experience in the subject area of program to be reduced; and,
      - 2) Highest degree held.
  - 20-1-4 Upon final decision that a reduction of force will occur, the District shall provide the Association with data relative to the status of each bargaining unit employee whose job will be reduced. Such data shall include the name, certification and endorsement information, and hiring date.
  - 20-1-5 Whenever possible, Reductions in Force will be limited to the end of the semester or school year. Affected teachers shall receive thirty (30) days written notice.

- 20-1-6 Upon the written request of the teacher identified for job reduction, the administration shall investigate all possible assignments for which the teacher is eligible. If the hiring date, certification and endorsement are in accord, the teacher shall be reassigned to another position for which qualified.
- 20-1-7 All staff members subject to cancellation of employment contracts shall not lose their prorated fringe benefits or salary afforded them under this Agreement. Neither shall other individual or supplemental employment opportunities or contracts be denied or negated.
- 20-2 No new staff members shall be employed by the District so long as there remain employees of the District whose contracts have been canceled unless those employees do not have proper certification, endorsement and qualifications to fill the vacancies which may occur. Such priority consideration will be for a period of three (3) years following the reduction.
  - 20-2-1 Teachers will be hired in reverse order of reduction provided the teacher is certified and endorsed for the vacancy.
  - 20-2-2 The District will send a registered or certified letter to the teacher's last known permanent address. It shall be the teacher's responsibility to notify the District of any change in their permanent address.
  - 20-2-3 Teachers must accept the assignment within ten (10) days of the postmark date of the recall notice, or the position will be offered to the next certified and endorsed teacher. The liability of the District to recall employees whose employment contracts have been canceled shall terminate if the employee does not accept re-employment.
  - 20-2-4 When the former employee is re-employed, all accrued benefits at the time of the non-renewal shall be restored, including all eligible credit on the salary schedule.
- 20-3 Rights of Probationary Teachers in the Event of a Reduction in Force. Should the District be forced to non-renew any probationary teacher in the event of a Reduction in Force, they will have the right to be considered for interviews for any previously posted and unfilled positions, and will be given preference over similarly qualified teachers without District teaching experience. Probationary teachers will have preference for a period of fifteen (15) months following the non-renewal of their contracts. In order to be notified of any such available positions, the probationary teacher whose teaching contract was non-renewed is required to notify the personnel office on a monthly basis of their availability for such interviews.

#### Article 21 - Short Leaves of Absence

- 21-1 Sick Leave.
- 21-1-1 The District will allow ten (10) days of leave each year for teachers which may be used for the purpose of sick leave.
- 21-1-2 Sick leave is to be used for a teacher's own illness, illness of an immediate family member, or the death of a family member or friend.
- 21-1-3 Unused sick leave shall be accumulated from year to year.
- 21-1-4 The Sick Leave Bank will be continued under guidelines and procedures developed and administered by the Sick Leave Bank Committee approved by the District and the Association. Teachers may choose to enroll in the Bank during September of any year. During the month of November, one (1) day will be taken from the available sick leave of the participating teacher and contributed to the Bank.
- 21-1-5 Unused accumulated sick leave will be included in the Compensation for Unused Sick Leave Program of the District up to a total number of one hundred eighty-four (184) days. See Article 31.
- 21-1-6 Because of the changes in this Article on Short Leaves of Absence effective January 1, 1991, it is the policy of the District that any teacher who accumulated sick leave days in excess of one hundred and ninety (190) days prior to December 31, 1990, shall continue to be credited with such accumulation, and such accumulation will be eligible for and included in the sick leave annuity program of the District.
- 21-1-7 <u>Selling Sick Leave</u>. Under the provisions below, teachers shall be allowed to convert unused sick leave from any one year to cash payments.
  - a. Only unused sick leave from the previous school year shall be eligible for conversion by an individual. Balances from prior years will not be eligible. Conversion will be allowed only if the teacher's sick day balance will be more than 10 days after the conversion. The calculation of the amount of sick leave that is eligible shall be made after any conversions from personal leave to sick leave have occurred. Conversions from personal leave to sick leave will occur no later than July 1.
  - b. The conversion value shall be at the daily substitute teacher's rate as defined in the contract.

- c. The dollar limit on conversion for any teacher shall be 3/181 times his/her annual base salary.
- d. There is an overall limit on conversions equal to the 2002-03 base year expenditures for substitute teachers minus the expenditures for the year in question. Both expenditures from the substitute teacher pool and for substitutes paid from the Long-Term Leave pool shall be counted. The calculation shall include an adjustment to the base year for changes in the rate of substitute teacher pay subsequent to the base year.
- e. In the event that teacher requests for sick leave conversions exceed the limit in (d) above, the requests for conversion shall be prorated.
   Teachers will get a share of the available days proportional to their share of the requested days.
- f. Teachers shall file a request with the benefits office for conversion on or before June 1 or the end of school whichever is later of each year. The benefits office shall obtain the overall expenditure limit from the budget office and allocate amounts to each request in accord with the provisions above. The payments shall be made in the August paycheck. Teachers may elect to redirect the payment into a 403(b), a 457, or other approved plans subject to the rules of those plans.

#### 21-2 Personal Leave.

- 21-2-1 Teachers will have up to four (4) days per year of personal leave.
- 21-2-2 It is intended that personal leave will be available only for reasons of hardship or other pressing or emergency need, and not merely for personal convenience. Unused personal leave will be accumulated from year to year as sick leave.
- 21-2-3 Personal leave may not be used to extend a period of school intermission or used in conjunction with the observance of a Federal Holiday.

### 21-3 Legal Proceedings Leave.

21-3-1 Teachers shall be granted leave time necessary to make appearances in any legal proceedings connected with the teacher's employment. The teacher shall be required to present the subpoena or summons to verify the teacher's need for absence.

## 21-4 Additional Leave Restrictions.

- 21-4-1 Use of personal leaves may be restricted or denied by the District when an adequate supply of substitute teachers is not available.
- 21-4-2 To maximize continuity of instruction, personal leaves will not be granted during the first four (4) or last four (4) weeks of the school year except for urgent, documented reasons.
- 21-4-3 Application for leave for purposes other than sick leave shall be submitted to the principal on a District approved form at leave five (5) working days in advance, except in case of emergency.
- 21-5 <u>Professional Leave</u>. Teachers shall apply for professional leave days using a procedure established by the principal. This procedure shall be presented by the principal to the faculty every year. The principal will make every effort to distribute the days fairly among the faculty.

### **Article 22 - Extended Leaves of Absence**

- 22-1 <u>Unpaid leaves</u>. Teachers will be granted the following extended leaves of absence according to the provisions set forth in Appendix B:
  - (1) Association activities leave
  - (2) ACTION, VISTA or Peace Corps
  - (3) military
  - (4) maternity, paternity, and adoption
  - (5) family illness
  - (6) extended personal illness
  - (7) elective office
  - (8) travel/study or research
  - (9) oversee dependent schools
  - (10) general leave
  - (11) corporate internship
- 22-2 <u>Paid Leave</u>. Teachers will be granted the following extended leaves of absence according to the provisions set forth in Appendix B:
  - (1) sabbatical leave
  - (2) vocational education proficiency leave

- These leaves may be paid. Refer to Appendix B. Short-term disability leave (formerly "Restoration of Health Leave") will no longer be available, effective September 1, 2003. Refer to Appendix B, 7 Extended Personal Illness Leave and Coverage by Long Term Disability Insurance.
- 22-3 Applying for Leaves. Teachers requesting extended leaves of absence should apply by the date established to the Department of Human Resources. The Department of Human Resources will research availability of teachers, impact of the educational program, and impact on the District budget to determine if leaves may be granted. Requests for emergency leaves are accepted.

# **Article 23 - Association Rights**

- 23-1 The Board recognizes the Association as the official organization to represent teachers.
  - 23-1-1 The District will grant a leave of absence in one-year increments to the President of the Association during the President's term in office. On an annual basis, the Association shall remit to the District the amount commensurate with salary and benefit costs of employing a replacement teacher. The President shall continue to receive full salary, benefits and all other entitlements while on such leave. At the conclusion of the term of office, the President shall have the same return to duty rights as stated in Appendix B, paragraph 1.b.
  - 23-1-2 The Association President may visit schools for a specific purpose after notification to the office of the principal. The Superintendent and the Association President shall enter into a Memorandum of Understanding that will permit an authorized designee of the Association President to visit schools for a specific purpose after notification to the office of the principal.
  - 23-1-3 Teacher organizations may utilize school facilities for meetings before or after the school day by making advance arrangements through the Office of Facility Use and pursuant to the same conditions as other Community organizations. Teacher organizations do not have to pay for the use of the building before or after school hours if they furnish their own security and janitorial services.
  - 23-1-4 The Association has the right to place notices, circulars, and other material on designated bulletin boards and in teachers' mailboxes.
    - a. Such notices, etc. must be consistent with applicable legal guidelines and Board policy.

- b. An information copy of distributed notices, circulars, and other material shall be provided to the principal at the time of posting or distribution.
- 23-1-5 The Association has the right to use the school mail.
- 23-1-6 The Association has the right to have an Association Representative at each school. The Association Representative shall have the right to carry on Association business when it does not interfere with his or her normal teaching responsibilities.
- 23-2 The District agrees to deduct from teachers' salaries an amount to cover dues for the Association, the Colorado Education Association (CEA) and the National Education Association (NEA), and to transmit the amount so authorized to the Treasurer of the Association.
- 23-3 <u>Active Membership</u>. At any time, employees in the bargaining unit wishing to become members of the Association may authorize such deduction by filing with the District through the office of the Association, a signed and dated Denver Classroom Teachers Association Salary Deduction Authorization Form authorizing the District to deduct from their monthly earnings and to remit to the Treasurer of the Association, an amount equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of the dues required for membership in the organization or organizations specified in Article 23-2 above.

Such form shall include a waiver of all right and claim against the Board, the District, and the officers and agents thereof, for moneys deducted and remitted in accordance with said authorization; and an agreement that such deductions and remittances shall continue from year to year, as so authorized, unless teachers notify the District through the Association office and on an appropriate form, that they desire to discontinue or to change such authorization. It will be possible to revoke the dues deductions only during November 1 through November 15 of each school year. Only Association revocation forms will be honored by the District. Once a revocation form has been signed and properly processed, no further action is necessary on the part of the employee to terminate deduction of the membership dues.

Representation Fee. Representation fee deductions shall only apply to those teachers who were employed prior to or during the 1997-98 school year.
 Those teachers newly employed for the 1998-99 school year are not subject to the representation fee.

The District shall withhold from the salary of all contract employees in the bargaining unit represented by the Association who did not sign a membership form or file a revocation form during February 1-14, 1998, a representation fee in an amount equal to the dues of the United Education Profession

- (DCTA/CEA/NEA). The amount of money to be withheld and transmitted to the Association shall be an amount equal to the total dues of the Association prorated on a monthly basis in accordance with this Article. The following conditions for such withholding shall apply:
- 23-4-1 Members of the bargaining unit wishing not to pay the representation fee described above may so indicate by obtaining a revocation form provided by the Association. Revocation forms can be obtained by request, in writing or in person, at the Association office, the Department of Human Resources, the school office or from building designees as appointed by the Association at each building. No other forms or letter will be honored by the District.
- 23-4-2 Such revocations may be done during the November 1 through November 15 revocation period of any school year. Once a revocation form has been signed and properly processed, no further action is necessary on the part of the employee to terminate deduction of the representation fee.
- 23-4-3 Not later than November 22, the Association will hand deliver those revocation forms to District Payroll Department. Such revocation will be effective December 1.
- 23-4-4 When Association members have no earnings due them for the month, then no deductions will be made for those teachers for that month. Any Association member who resigns from the District after May 31 will have the full remaining balance of annual dues (through August 31) deducted from his or her last salary check, with the exception of those members who retire from the District.
- 23-4-5 The Association agrees to hold the District harmless from any action growing out of those deductions and commenced by any teacher against the Board or the District, and assumes full responsibility for the disposition of the funds so deducted once they have been turned over to the treasurer of the Association.
- 23-4-6 A service charge of five cents (\$0.05) per month per individual teacher authorization shall be retained by the District to help defray costs of making such deduction.
- 23-4-7 Upon issuance of any employment contract to any member of the Association bargaining unit, the District will provide the new employee with a copy of the Agreement and information concerning responsibilities identified under this Article.
- 23-5 <u>Association Leave</u>. The Association shall be entitled to one hundred fifty (150) full days per year for conducting business and/or joint

District/Association projects and committee assignments. The Association shall reimburse the District at the daily substitute rate of pay for each day in excess of one hundred fifty (150), up to a combined total of two hundred fifty (250) days.

#### **Article 24 - Joint Activities**

- 24-1 The District and the Association recognize their collective responsibility to promote positive change in the Denver Public Schools. The following committees have been formed to work toward this end:
  - Agreement Review Committee Articles 6, 7, 11 and 24
  - Task Force on School and District Climate Article 29 and Appendix A
  - Advisory District Personnel Performance Evaluation Council (1338 Committee) Article 10
  - Interim Negotiations Article 6
  - Sick Leave Bank Article 21
  - Benefits Board Article 30
  - Tax Sheltered Annuity Article 30
  - Teacher Education Fund Committee Article 31
  - Instructional Issues Council Article 5
  - Collaborative School Committee
  - Personnel Committee Article 13
  - Professional Standards Committee Article 8
  - Professional Development Committee Article 5
  - Area Superintendent Advisory Committee Article 5
  - Any additional committees may be formed as needed.
  - 24-1-1 The Superintendent and Association President, with support for the Agreement Review Committee (ARC), will monitor and receive committee reports, and, based on these reports, will make recommendations to the Board and to the Association.
  - 24-1-2 The Agreement Review Committee (ARC) has joint membership of the Association, including the chair of its bargaining team and one other teacher leader, and the District, including members of the Department of Human Resources. As one step in the implementation of the Framework for Partnership, the Agreement Review Committee will develop a calendar

of the joint activities created by or impacting this Agreement, monitor and coordinate progress of these activities, and discuss the progress with the Superintendent and Association President. Annually, the Agreement Review Committee will make a status report to the Superintendent and Association President.

## **Article 25 - Job Sharing and Half-Time**

- 25-1 Job sharing, or converting from a full-time employee to a half-time employee, may be requested by regularly assigned full-time equivalent non-probationary teachers who wish to work only half-time. Procedures for assignment to a job sharing or half-time position will be available upon request from the Department of Human Resources.
  - 25-1-1 Application for a job sharing or half-time position must be made in writing to the Department of Human Resources by the published date.
  - 25-1-2 Teachers wishing to job share must find another teacher who also wishes to job share.
  - 25-1-3 Job share and half-time assignments, when possible, shall be for one (1) year at a time.
  - 25-1-4 Salary, benefits, accrued service and other employment entitlements shall be half their usual value, as applicable.
  - 25-1-5 To be effective, the job sharing or half-time assignments must be approved by the CSC at the school to which the teachers are assigned.
- 25-2 Teachers will be notified of placement during the teacher staffing process.

#### Article 26 - Professional Behavior

- 26-1 Teachers are expected to comply with rules, regulations, and directions adopted by the Board or its representatives which are not inconsistent with the express provisions of this Agreement, except that a teacher may refuse to carry out an order which reasonably threatens the teacher's physical safety.
- 26-2 Teachers are expected to use appropriate channels of communication for comments, suggestions, grievances and other professional matters. Such channels include normal administrative channels, the grievance procedure, CSC, teacher organization representatives, and negotiations. No reprisals may be taken against teachers, CSC, PSC, PDC and Personnel Committee members due to the exercise of the responsibilities of these positions.

- 26-3 The District affirms the principles that teachers have the full rights and responsibilities of citizenship and that a teacher's private life and activities are not an appropriate concern of the District, except to the extent that they detract from the effective accomplishment of the teacher's professional duties or are grounds for dismissal under Colorado statutes.
  - 26-3-1 Teachers have the right, except as otherwise provided by law, to engage in political activity, to campaign on behalf of candidates for public office, and to themselves seek, campaign for, and hold public office. However, these activities must be conducted outside school hours and must not interfere with the effective accomplishment of the teacher's professional duties.
- 26-4 The District and the Association affirm the importance of good staff morale to the instructional and operational programs of a school. Teachers and administrators are expected to exhibit positive attitudes and professional behavior that will maintain and enhance good staff morale.
- 26-5 The Board, teachers, and administrators encourage one another to exemplify the highest standards of personal and professional excellence and to become outstanding role models for all students.
- 26-6 Every teacher and administrator is expected to exhibit sensitivity to ethnic-minority persons and to promote the success of students from multi-cultural/multi-ethnic backgrounds.

#### Article 27 - Controversial Issues in the Classroom

- 27-1 Controversial issues are defined as those problems, subjects, or questions about which there are significant differences of opinion, for which there are no easy resolutions, and discussions of which generally create strong feelings among people.
  - 27-1-1 Although there may be disagreements over what the facts are and what they mean, subjects usually become controversial issues because of differences in the values people use in applying the facts.
  - 27-1-2 Controversy is inherent in the democratic way of life. It is essential therefore, that the study and discussion of controversial issues have an important place in education for citizenship in a free society. Students develop into free citizens with informed loyalty to democracy only through the process of examining evidence, facts, and differing viewpoints; through the exercise of freedom of thought and moral choice; and through the making of responsible decisions. These procedures are characteristic of, and essential to, a free society.

- 27-2 Teachers have the right and responsibility to teach about controversial issues.
  - 27-2-1 Teachers have the responsibility to select issues for study and discussion which contribute to the attainment of course objectives, and to make available to students materials concerning the various aspects of the issues.
  - 27-2-2 Teachers have the obligation to be as objective as possible and to present fairly the several sides of an issue.
  - 27-2-3 Although teachers have the right to express their own viewpoints and opinions, they do not have the right to unduly influence or indoctrinate students to their own views.
- 27-3 Students have the right and need, under competent guidance and instruction, to study issues appropriate to their interests, experiences and abilities. They must have access to relevant information, and they have the obligation to examine carefully all sides of an issue. Students have the right to form and express their own opinions without jeopardizing their positions in the classroom or in the school.

### 27-4 Academic Freedom.

- 27-4-1 The parties seek to educate young people in the democratic tradition, to foster a recognition of individual freedom and social responsibility, to inspire meaningful awareness of the respect for the Constitution.
- 27-4-2 Freedom of individual conscience, association and expression will be encouraged, and fairness in procedures will be observed both to safeguard the legitimate interests of the schools and to exhibit by appropriate examples the basic objectives of a democratic society as set forth in the Constitutions of the United States and of the State of Colorado.
- 27-4-3 The final responsibility in the determination of the above rests by law with the Board.

## **Article 28 - Substitute Teachers**

28-1 <u>Adequate Numbers of Substitute Teachers</u>. The District agrees to maintain a list of qualified persons sufficient to serve as substitutes for regular teachers who may be absent on any given work day. Teachers shall have the right to request substitutes in order of their preference. The District will give strong consideration to the teacher's request. Retired teachers from DPS may request to be placed on the list of substitutes.

- 28-2 Continuing Full and Half-Day Substitutes. Full day or half-day substitutes who have taught in excess of sixteen (16) consecutive days in one (1) assignment in the District shall become long-term substitute teachers and shall have the rights and privileges of teachers under the terms of the Agreement for as long as they are continuously employed in that assignment.
  - 28-2-1 Exceptions shall be limited to the following:
    - a. <u>Leaves</u>. Substitute teachers shall earn one day of sick leave for every eighteen (18) days of employment. No extended or short leaves of absences shall be granted.
    - b. Salary. Salaries shall be set forth in Article 31.
    - c. <u>Benefits</u>. Substitutes may participate in District programs at their own expense. Liability insurance will be provided by the District.
  - 28-2-2 Long-term substitute teachers who subsequently are awarded a contract will have their long-term substitute time counted toward the salary schedule on the following basis:
    - a. If the continuous time worked as a long-term substitute is one (1) semester to one (1) year, placement on the salary schedule shall be step two (2).
    - b. A teacher who teaches as a long-term substitute continuously for the second semester of a school year will be placed on step two (2) of the salary schedule if appointed the following school year.
    - c. A teacher who teaches as a long-term substitute the first semester of a school year and is appointed in January will not be placed on step two
      (2) until the following school year.

#### Article 29 - Task Force on School and District Climate

A positive school climate and good teacher morale contribute to higher student achievement. It is the shared responsibility of the District and the Association to work together to enhance morale and construct a positive school climate that supports improved job satisfaction and employee retention in the Denver Public Schools.

The District and the Association will convene a Task Force (see Appendix A) within the District to analyze the factors that influence and impact school climate and teacher morale and their effects on student achievement. The District and the Association have commissioned a comprehensive research study concerning the "Recruiting and Retaining

of DPS Teachers." The Task Force shall receive the results of the research study and put forth a plan of action to implement the findings and recommendations within the District.

The Task Force will serve at the direction of the Superintendent and the President of the Association. It will be comprised of a representative body of the Denver Public Schools Community including but not limited to parents, teachers, and administrators. Staff support in conducting the Task Force's activities will be provided by the Department of Human Resources. Additional resource support will be provided by the Association as required and available to ensure the success of the Task Force.

The Task Force will continue to conduct and receive research information to assess, identify and track emerging employee morale and school climate issues. They will report back to the District and the Association on an annual basis pertaining to the District's overall school climate. The report will provide an update/progress on employee morale and school climate as compared to the baseline findings. The report will also identify interventions that have had a significant impact on the issues. Additionally, the Task Force will identify continuing problem areas that remain to be addressed by the District and report back to the District and the Association on a periodic basis as required.

## Article 30 - Benefits Allowance and Benefits Programs

- 30-1 <u>Benefits Allowance</u>. The District shall provide teachers with a benefits allowance as a part of their total compensation package. The purpose of the benefits allowance is to provide teachers with a portion of total compensation that can be used to purchase benefits choices selected by the Benefits Board and contracted for by the Board of Education. The District and the Association also agree that the purpose of the benefits allowance is not to merely provide an amount equal to the premiums of health, dental and vision insurance. The long-term goal of the District and the Association is to provide teachers with a benefits allowance that plays a significant role in enhancing the District's competitive position in attracting and retaining teachers.
  - 30-1-1 For the period of July 1, 2005, through June 30, 2006, the District shall provide all teachers based on FTE on a pro-rate basis with a benefits allowance of \$347.82 per month.
- 30-2 <u>Governance and Administration of Benefits Programs</u>. A Benefits Board will administer and govern the group health and life insurance programs, disability insurance programs, tax sheltered annuities, flexible-spending accounts, and guidelines for using the benefits allowance.
  - 30-2-1 The Benefits Board will be responsible for any and all benefits programs assigned to it by this contract, and shall make every effort to provide programs in the best interest of both the District and its employees. The Benefits Board is charged with containing the cost of health insurance

premiums through cooperative efforts, education of employees, and consultation with actuaries and health care provider programs.

- 30-2-2 <u>Composition</u>. The Benefits Board will be composed of not less than eight (8) representatives of the District, four (4) representatives of the DCTA, one (1) representative of the DPS Retired Employees Association and three (3) representatives elected from the following groups:
  - Denver Association of Educational Office Professionals
  - Communication Workers of America
  - Denver Federation of Paraprofessionals
  - DPS Food Services Association
  - Facility Managers Association
  - Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1563
  - Vocational Teachers Federation of Denver, Local 203
  - DPS Association of Building and Grounds Personnel
  - Denver Association of School Administrators

Any of the groups identified above who do not have an elected, voting representative on the Benefits Board may designate an ex officio, nonvoting member, who shall be entitled to participate in all meetings of the Benefits Board.

- 30-2-3 Operating Rules. The Benefits Board shall jointly adopt rules pertaining to their operation. Such rules shall be a matter of public record.
  - 30-2-3-1 The Benefits Board shall develop procedures for election and recall of its members. Individuals elected to this position shall serve a three-year term. Elections should take place in December.
  - 30-2-3-2 Quorum. Not less than eight (8) representatives, four (4) representing DPS and four (4) representing the employees, shall constitute a quorum for the conduct of business. Notification shall be given to all members of the Benefits Board of the dates, times, and places of its meetings.
  - 30-2-3-3 Consensus. At each meeting where decisions must be made by the Benefits Board, an attempt shall be made to achieve consensus of all voting and non-voting members. Only if consensus cannot be achieved shall a vote of the voting members be conducted. Each member will exercise one (1) vote. A majority (50 percent + 1)

- vote of the members present and voting is required to approve any change in the benefits programs.
- 30-2-3-4 Impasse Resolution. If a majority of the Benefits Board cannot reach a decision with respect to the plan or operation of the plan, the Benefits Board shall, within ten (10) days from the date of its last meeting, mail to each member participating in the health benefit plan a ballot presenting the decision to be made, together with an explanation of the available options. The ballots must be returned by participants within thirty (30) days of the date they were mailed. The Benefits Board will implement the decision of the majority of the voting participants.
- 30-2-4 <u>Subcommittee on Tax Sheltered Annuities</u>. Tax Sheltered Annuity (TSA) products offered by the District shall have the approval of the Benefits Board's Subcommittee, which includes the Manager of Employee Benefits. The District shall contract an outside firm to conduct an annual analysis of all current TSA products and products from companies seeking approval. The results of the analysis shall be made available to all teachers.
- 30-3 <u>Group Life Insurance and Long Term Disability Program</u>. The present group life insurance program of the District will be continued for teachers and the District will pay the full cost of premiums for teachers, including group long-term disability insurance.
- 30-4 <u>Liability Insurance Program</u>. Liability insurance coverage shall be provided to each teacher and costs of such coverage shall be paid by the District. The terms and conditions of such coverage shall be provided to the Association.
- 30-5 The District shall provide an IRS 125 plan to allow pre-tax deductions for flexible spending accounts for child care, care of the elderly, health care reimbursement accounts, and dependent insurance including health, dental and vision coverages.

# Article 31 - Salary

### 31-1 Annual Compensation Adjustments.

- (1) Effective September 1, 2005, selected steps of the salary schedule shall receive an increase as shown on the schedule.
- (2) Education increments will be available in January 2006 and June 2006 according to the procedures set forth in Article 31-4.

- (3) Regular experience steps shall be granted September 1, 2005. An additional step shall be granted for those individuals that were employed by the District in 2002-03 and still employed by the District as of September 1, 2005. This additional step shall be effective July 1, 2005, though not paid until after the effective date of the contract.
- (4) Longevity increments shall be granted September 1, 2005. An additional longevity credit shall be granted for those individuals that were employed by the District in 2002-03 and still employed by the District as of September 1, 2005.

The salary schedule below shall be effective September 1, 2005.

	BA	BA+30	BA+60 / M.A.	MA+30	MA+60	DOCTORATE
TIR	\$31,633		\$32,097			
Step 1	\$33,301	\$33,545	\$33,789	\$34,898	\$37,222	\$39,561
Step 2	\$33,551	\$33,867	\$34,181	\$36,585	\$39,014	\$41,459
Step 3	\$33,645	\$34,082	\$35,540	\$38,065	\$40,601	\$43,156
Step 4	\$33,815	\$34,266	\$36,868	\$39,515	\$42,162	\$44,821
Step 5	\$34,123	\$35,688	\$38,434	\$41,178	\$43,940	\$46,714
Step 6	\$34,328	\$37,205	\$40,068	\$42,919	\$45,794	\$48,701
Step 7	\$35,775	\$38,783	\$41,750	\$44,759	\$47,730	\$50,793
Step 8	\$37,281	\$40,393	\$43,518	\$46,659	\$49,767	\$52,973
Step 9	\$38,841	\$42,126	\$45,373	\$48,646	\$51,945	\$55,249
Step 10	\$40,493	\$43,916	\$47,329	\$50,749	\$54,156	\$57,628
Step 11	\$42,202	\$45,754	\$49,331	\$52,882	\$56,481	\$60,116
Step 12	\$44,002	\$47,709	\$51,453	\$55,204	\$58,917	\$62,703
Step 13	\$46,251	\$50,152	\$54,185	\$57,952	\$61,872	\$65,818

- 31-2 Teachers in Residence (TIR) newly hired by the District for the 2002-2003 school year and thereafter, will be placed on the appropriate TIR step of the salary schedule. Teachers in Residence will remain on the TIR step until they receive a Colorado teacher license. Except for the provisions of Article 31-1-(3), when Teachers in Residence receive a Colorado teacher license, they will be advanced immediately to the appropriate educational column and the experience step commensurate with their experience with the District and approved outside experience.
- 31-3 Salary Schedule Placement and Advancement. Teachers shall be placed and advanced on the salary schedule based on their experience in teaching and level of education in accordance with Board policy. Before the Board makes any change to existing policies regarding placement and advancement, the Association must be notified and given opportunity to discuss any proposed changes with the Board. Guidelines for placement and advancement will be provided to the Association, posted, and provided to any teacher who requests it. Changes made during the year must be distributed to the Association, posted, and provided to any teacher who requests it within thirty (30) days following adoption by the Board.
- 31-4 <u>Education Increments</u>. Teachers shall receive education increments on the next scheduled payday that is at least twenty-five (25) days after the teacher has submitted all required transcripts and necessary paperwork to the Department of Human Resources.
  - 31-4-1 Teachers may elect to earn credit for District in-service at the rate of fifteen (15) hours contact time for one hour of semester credit, which may be used for advancement on the salary schedule to any educational column. Should compensation for in-service be required as otherwise described in this Agreement, the teacher may elect to earn credit in lieu of pay.
- 31-5 <u>Longevity Increments</u>. Longevity increments are awarded after the completion of fifteen (15) years of Denver Public Schools experience and each five-year period thereafter. Payment of longevity increments shall be the next month following the employee's anniversary date.
  - 31-5-1 Effective September 1, 2004, the value of each longevity increment reflects an increase of 1.0%. For each teacher this means that of the longevity increments earned prior to September 1, 2002, the most recent one earned will be valued at \$1,275 and all prior longevity increments will be valued at \$741. The value of each longevity increment earned on or after September 1, 2002 will be \$1,275.
- 31-6 <u>Compensation of Newly Hired Teachers</u>. Teachers newly hired by the District will be paid for up to thirty (30) hours of orientation days under Article 8-1-1. Such payment will be based on the teacher in-service education rate.

- 31-6-1 The District shall seek advice from the Association in the development of new teacher pre-service, induction and in-service programs.
- 31-6-2 All teachers required to participate in the Induction Program will be paid at the in-service rate specified in Article 32.
- 31-6-3 In lieu of in-service pay, teachers may elect to earn credit for District inservice at the rate of fifteen (15) hours contact time for one (1) hour of semester credit, which may be used for advancement on the salary schedule to any educational column.

## 31-7 Incentives for National Board Certification.

- 31-7-1 The District will support up to five (5) candidates for National Board Certification with a grant of \$1,000 each. The Association will support up to five (5) candidates for National Board Certification who are members of the Association with a grant of \$500 each.
- 31-7-2 Teachers who obtain National Board Certification and continue to hold valid certification shall be placed on the next higher education column. A teacher in the doctorate column shall receive an additional 7% increase to his/her annual salary.
- 31-8 Market Incentives for English Language Acquisition Spanish (ELA-S)

  Teachers. The District shall pay market incentives to qualified teachers who serve in English Language Acquisition Spanish (ELA-S) assignments.

  Beginning with the completion of the 2002-03 school year, teachers will be paid the incentive on their July check.
  - 31-8-1 Effective September 1, 2003, teachers who have successfully completed the Spanish Language Proficiency Test or any other District approved assessment will be considered qualified.
  - 31-8-2 On completion of one (1) full year of teaching in an ELA-S assignment, a teacher will receive a five hundred dollar (\$500) incentive.
  - 31-8-3 On completion of two (2) or more years of service in an ELA-S assignment, a teacher will receive an eight hundred dollar (\$800) incentive for additional service. Teachers will not need to serve in consecutive years to receive the increased incentive.
- 31-9 <u>Freezing Teacher Compensation for Unsatisfactory Performance</u>. Any teacher who received an unsatisfactory performance appraisal and is on a Remediation Plan is not eligible for and will not receive an experience increment. All other teachers who receive an unsatisfactory performance appraisal and are on a Remediation Plan will not receive the scheduled cost of living adjustment. It

is the intent of the parties that this Article shall not result in a reduction of a teacher's current salary. When the teacher successfully completes the Remediation Plan, the teacher will be placed on the appropriate step, with the correct longevity at the current rate, effective at the beginning of the month following such successful completion.

- 31-10 <u>Compensation for Unused Sick Leave</u>. The Sick Leave Annuity Plan begun for teachers in 1980 will be continued unless modified pursuant to Article 6. Effective September 1, 1994, each teacher electing retirement will be provided compensation for accumulated sick leave days as follows:
  - 31-10-1 When the teacher has met the requirements for retirement in the District, that teacher shall be eligible for compensation for accumulated sick leave.
  - 31-10-2 A maximum payment of Fourteen Thousand Dollars (\$14,000) will be made by the District for teachers who have accumulated one (1) year or more of unused sick leave upon retirement.
  - 31-10-3 The payment of Fourteen Thousand Dollars (\$14,000) shall be reduced by 1/184 for each day less than an accumulation of one hundred eighty-four (184) days.
  - 31-10-4 Prior Accumulation. Because of the changes in short leaves and in recognition of sick leave that was accumulated prior to December 31, 1990, any teacher who accumulated sick leave days in excess of one hundred eighty-four (184) days up to and including December 31, 1990, shall continue to be credited with such accumulation. Such accumulation shall be eligible for payment on a prorated basis at the rate of 1/184 of Fourteen Thousand Dollars (\$14,000) for each day, provided the teacher is otherwise eligible to participate in the Plan.
  - 31-10-5 <u>Payment Options</u>. Upon retirement, teachers may choose one of four options for payment of their compensation for unused sick leave, subject to provisions of the IRS code:
    - Single sum payment;
    - Payment in equal thirds over a three year consecutive period beginning with the first year of retirement;
    - Deferring the unused sick leave payout into a 403(b) plan, 401(k) plan or other approved plan;
    - Placement of the unused sick leave amount into a 503(c)(9) trust to subsidize future health insurance costs for the employee.

- 31-10-5-1 The District and the Association shall coordinate efforts to communicate information with respect to payment options to teachers.
- 31-10-5-2 Simple Trust. By January 1, 2004, the District and the Association shall establish a Simple Trust for the purpose of holding jointly managed fund contributions. A board composed of two (2) teachers from the Benefits Board appointed by the DCTA President, and two (2) administrators from the Benefits Board appointed by the Superintendent, shall govern the trust.
- 31-11 Work Group to Consider Options for Calculating Highest Average Salary.

  The District and the Association shall establish a joint work group to consider options for working methods used by the Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) for calculating highest average salary. The work group should consider topics including but not limited to:
  - Inclusion of unused sick leave at the rate of .0015 per day
  - Inclusion of summer service
  - Inclusion of service credit

The work group will complete its charge in time for consideration by the negotiations teams in the spring of 2004.

- 31-12 Teacher Education Fund. The Teacher Education Fund of Three Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$300,000) will be continued unless modified pursuant to Article 6. The fund will operate as a trust fund and the interest will be available for teachers to further their education, consistent with District objectives. The guidelines for application and awarding scholarships will be developed by a joint committee with equal representation from the Association and appointments by the Superintendent, and the guidelines will be sent to the Superintendent for final approval.
  - 31-12-1 Teachers will only be reimbursed for courses relevant to the District's educational mission, including preparation and/or assessments associated with meeting the standards of a highly qualified teacher under No Child Left Behind. The committee will include in its guidelines standards of relevancy for reimbursement.
  - 31-12-2 The District will provide clerical support to implement the committee's decisions. Such clerical support will not exceed twenty (20) hours per month.

# 31-13 Transportation Allowance.

- 31-13-1 Teachers whose duties require travel between two (2) or more schools shall be reimbursed at the IRS standard mileage rate for the use of their automobile.
- 31-13-2 Teachers authorized transportation allowance are required to carry bodily injury automobile liability insurance in accordance with state law. An up-to-date proof of insurance must be provided to the approving supervisor in order to be eligible for this program.
- 31-13-3 The District agrees to add teachers to its automobile liability insurance coverage when these teachers are required to transport students as part of the course and scope of employment. The District will add these teachers by job description or name. Proof of underlying insurance is required from each authorized teacher at the level of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000)/person, Three Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$300,000)/occurrence and Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000)/property. Each authorized teacher will receive a thirty-dollar (\$30.00) stipend per month in addition to mileage.
- 31-13-4 Teachers authorized transportation allowance but not owning or driving an automobile are reimbursed for actual bus fare expenditures.
- 31-14 <u>Early Notification of Retirement</u>. Any teacher who is eligible for retirement benefits and submits a retirement request effective the end of the school year for action by the Board at its April legislative meeting shall be eligible for a severance pay stipend of One Thousand, Two Hundred Dollars (\$1,200.00) payable at the time of retirement. The application deadline is February 15.
- 31-15 The District will provide to DCTA, prior to the start of negotiations, an accounting of vacancy/turnover savings as used in the budget estimates according to a methodology agreed to by the District and DCTA.

# **Article 32 - Extra Duty Compensation**

32-1 In accordance with the provisions for work week and work year found in Articles 8-1 and 8-2, any time a teacher agrees to perform work for the District beyond the work week or work year, that teacher will be compensated as described in this Article.

# 32-2 Hourly and Daily Rates.

**Duty** 

Curriculum Development Assignments	\$30.17/hr.
Summer School Teaching	\$30.17/hr.
In-Service Education	\$19.60/hr.
Hourly Teacher	\$19.60/hr)
Long-Term Substitute	\$153.21/day
Daily Substitute	\$85.00/day
Daily Substitute identified in the District substitute system as a retired teacher from Denver or any other district	\$100.00/day
Teachers for Homebound	\$30.17/hr.
Senior High Stage Manager (max. 100 hours per building)	\$30.17/hr.
Senior High Supervision at Afternoon Event	\$17.08/event
Senior High Supervision at Evening Event	\$28.45/event
In-Service Presenter Assignments	\$30.17/hr.
Mentor Assignments	\$200/semester for 1 mentee \$375/semester for 2 mentees \$425/semester for 3 or more mentees
Assistance Team Member	\$510 for each of one or two 30-working day period(s)
Assistance Team Chairperson	\$690 for each of one or two

Rate

32-2-1 Principals have the right to ask other teachers and appropriate personnel to supervise activities for compensation if they are unable to secure enough teachers from their own building.

30 working-day period(s)

# 32-3 Activity Salaries.

Step	Schedule 1	Schedule 2	Schedule 3	Schedule 4	Schedule 5	Schedule 6
1	\$4250	\$3231	\$2721	\$2649	\$2357	\$2065
2	\$4455	\$3436	\$2927	\$2854	\$2562	\$2270
3	\$4660	\$3640	\$3131	\$3058	\$2766	\$2475
4	\$4864	\$3845	\$3336	\$3263	\$2971	\$2680
5	\$5069	\$4049	\$3540	\$3467	\$3177	\$2888
6	\$5274	\$4255	\$3745	\$3672	\$3381	\$3091

Step	Schedule 7	Schedule 8	Schedule 9	Schedule 10	Schedule 11	Schedule 12
1	\$910	\$774	\$478	\$4759	\$5050	\$3827
2			-	\$4988	\$5303	-
3				\$5218	\$5555	
4				\$5447	\$5808	
5				\$5676	\$6060	
6			-	\$5905	\$6313	-

# 32-3-1

Schedule 1: Forensics Director (Senior High), Band Director (Senior High), Choir Director (Senior High), Dramatics Director, Dance Director, Cheerleading Director

Schedule 2: Head Football, Head Basketball, Head Wrestling

Schedule 3: Head Baseball, Head Softball, Head Track

Schedule 4: Head Girls Golf, Head Girls Tennis, Head Swimming, Head Cross Country, Head Gymnastics, Head Soccer, Head Volleyball, Assistant Basketball, Assistant Football, Assistant Wrestling, Head Field Hockey, Head Lacrosse

Schedule 5: Assistant Baseball, Assistant Softball, Assistant Track,
Assistant Swimming, Assistant Gymnastics, Assistant Soccer,
Assistant Volleyball, Assistant Field Hockey, Assistant
Lacrosse, Head Boys Golf, Head Boys Tennis

Schedule 6: Assistant Boys Golf, Assistant Boys Tennis

Schedule 7: Elementary and Middle School Vocal and Instrumental Music Directors (3 concerts/year), and Elementary, Middle and High School Art Teachers (3 shows/year)

Schedule 8: Middle School Dramatics Director (2 plays/year) (cont'd.)

- Schedule 9: Middle School Forensics Director (3 meets/year)
- Schedule 10: Denver School of the Arts performing arts, music, and design technology arts staff, stipends
- Schedule 11: Building Instructional Coaches
- Schedule 12: JROTC Instructors
- 32-3-2 When a teacher moves from an assistant coach to a head coach in the same sport, the following season the teacher shall be advanced to the same step on the new schedule.
- 32-3-3 Every year teachers shall be granted one step for each year of experience in the same activity.
- 32-3-4 Teachers newly hired to head coach positions from head coach positions outside the District after August 31, 2000 shall be granted one-year experience for each year of outside experience. Teachers newly hired to head coach positions from assistant coach positions outside the District shall be granted one-year experience for each two years outside experience.
- 32-4 <u>Representation on Athletic Board of Control</u>. The DPS Coaches Association shall name one representative to the District Athletic Board of Control; such representative is to be a voting member of said Board.
- 32-5 <u>Calendar of Activities</u>. Principals, after consulting with the PSC, should establish the school calendar of extra-curricular activities and should determine which activities will be held and how many persons are necessary to perform such functions. It shall be the function of the CSC and the principal to determine the fund dispersal resulting from the allocations under this Article.
- 32-6 <u>Paid Class Coverage</u>. The Board agrees to pay teachers directed to cover assignments for other teachers.
  - 32-6-1 The amount paid the teacher or teachers covering the assignment would be prorated at the rate of \$19.60 per hour.
  - 32-6-2 The teacher's school day may be extended the appropriate amount of time.

#### APPENDIX A: Task Force on School and District Climate

The climate of the District and its schools are major factors in the District's ability to attract and retain quality employees. The District and Association share a common desire to provide:

- a climate that enhances the opportunities for improved student achievement, and
- a climate that improves staff morale by honoring the efforts and contributions of individuals who have dedicated themselves to educating Denver's children.

Fundamental to this effort is our common belief that our best recruiters are current employees who will communicate to potential colleagues the values and benefits of working in Denver.

Therefore, the parties have agreed to convene a Task Force by September 15, 2002, that will meet frequently and on an ongoing basis. The overall purpose of the Task Force is to improve District and school climate. The Task Force will develop a plan of action (including the appropriate accountability aspects) to accomplish this purpose. To assist in this effort the District and Association have commissioned a comprehensive research study concerning the "Recruiting and Retaining of DPS Teachers," conducted by Ciruli & Associates. It includes a compilation and analysis of all known research within the District on teacher morale and job satisfaction issues gathered from 1998 to the present.

The Ciruli Study of March 2002, also includes the results and primary research including telephone surveys and focus groups of current and retired Denver Public Schools teachers as well as potential Denver Public Schools teacher candidates. Additional national and statewide research on the subject has been incorporated into the analysis being done by the Ciruli Study.

The results of the Ciruli Study will be received by the Task Force as the baseline study within the District on teacher morale and school climate. Working from this baseline, the Task Force will develop the formal plan of action involving all aspects of the District to address issues and concerns relating to the findings and recommendations and report to the Superintendent and Association President by January 15, 2003. The approved plan will be assigned to the appropriate departments, building administration and Association representatives by the Superintendent and Association President.

The plan of action should include in-depth recommendations concerning the following factors indicated in the Ciruli Study as contributors to good school and District climate.

 Using the above referenced information determine the source of the fear of reprisal and retribution that seems to permeate the ranks of employees of the District.

- Make recommendations to restore the atmosphere to one of professional pride, trust and respect.
- Debunk myths that perpetuate negative and unwarranted stereotypes such as the dubious quality of unassigned teachers.
- Identify the factors and characteristics of a building leader that contribute to a school climate that will retain employees and attract new ones.
- Design a plan for providing the professional development necessary to support the institution of these factors and characteristics.
- Make recommendations concerning a system of professional support of teaching
  in every school (especially for teachers new to the profession) and, in particular, a
  system of supports that would attract and retain quality teachers in low
  performing schools such as reducing class size, more teaching resources, etc.
- Review and assess the impact of the current school rating system the District's ability to attract and retain teachers and design appropriate strategies for inclusion into the District's public relations efforts.
- Serve as a sounding board for issues related to its charge and seek out situations
  that may provide helpful information such as an examination of troubled schools.
  Field work and other affirmative efforts to delve into such problems are
  encouraged with reports made to the Superintendent and Association President as
  appropriate.
- Review and make recommendations regarding the Department of Human Resources policies and practices that could enhance District climate and employee morale.

The composition of the Task Force will include teachers appointed by the Association President and principals and central administrators appointed by the Superintendent and parent/Community representatives selected by both parties. The Task Force will be supported in its work by the Department of Human Resources with assistance from the Association, Public Information Office and other departments as appropriate.

Following the completion of the action plan to support the Ciruli Study, the Task Force will continue to conduct and receive research information to assess, identify and track emerging employee morale and school climate issues as listed in the aforementioned factors. They will report back to the District and Association on an annual basis regarding action items pertaining to the District's overall school climate. The report will provide an update/progress report on employee morale and school climate as compared to the baseline findings. The report will also identify interventions that have had a significant impact on the issues. Additionally, the Task Force will identify continuing problem areas that remain to be addressed by the District and report back to the Board and Association on a periodic basis as required.

#### APPENDIX B - EXTENDED LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- 1. <u>Association Activities Leave</u>. The District agrees that up to three (3) teachers designated by the Association may, upon request, be granted a leave of absence for up to two (2) years, without pay, for the purpose of engaging in Association activities, local, state, or national.
  - a. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be considered as if actively employed by the District during the leave, and will be placed on the salary schedule at the level the teacher would have achieved if the teacher had remained actively employed during the period of absence.
  - b. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. This provision applies only when leave is for up to one (1) full school year.
- 2. <u>ACTION Programs Leave</u>. Leave for ACTION programs, VISTA and Peace Corps may be granted, without pay, to any full-time teacher who enlists for a period not to exceed two (2) years.
  - a. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be placed on the salary schedule at the level the teacher would have achieved had the teacher remained actively employed during the period of absence.
  - b. Leave for ACTION Programs, VISTA and Peace Corps is for one (1) year at a time and the teacher must renew the leave for an additional year.
  - c. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. This provision applies only when leave is for up to one (1) full school year. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum period of one year.
- 3. <u>Military Leave</u>. Emergency military leave as provided by Colorado Revised Statutes 1973, 28-3-602, may be granted without pay to any teacher who is inducted or enlists in active military services in time of war or other emergency declared by the proper authority of the State or the United States.
  - a. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be placed on the salary schedule at the level the teacher would have achieved if the teacher had remained actively employed during the period of absence.
  - b. Military leave is for one (1) year at a time and the teacher must renew the leave each year thereafter for the duration of the period of such war or other emergency.

- c. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. This provision applies only when leave is for up to one (1) full school year. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum period of one year.
- d. Military leave of up to fifteen (15) days in any calendar year without loss of pay or other benefits under the provisions of Colorado Revised Statutes 1973, 28-3-601, will be granted to any teacher who is a member of the National Guard or any other component of the military forces of the State or reserve forces of the United States and who is engaged with such organization or component in training or active service ordered or authorized by proper authority pursuant to law.
- 4. <u>Maternity, Paternity and Adoption Leave</u>. All full-time teachers will be granted maternity, paternity and/or adoption leave for up to two (2) years, without pay or increment, when requested in writing.
  - a. A request for maternity, paternity or adoption leave must be presented to the District at least thirty (30) days prior to the date on which the requested leave will commence. Exceptions will be made in the event of unforeseen medical complications.
  - b. The employee may use all or any portion of accumulated sick leave days, if determined to be medically necessary.
  - c. The period of probation for a teacher will be extended in accordance with the length of leave of absence pursuant to the Colorado Revised Statutes 1973, 22-63-112.
  - d. When teachers have indicated in writing, at the time of application for maternity, paternity or adoption leave, that it is their desire to return, every reasonable attempt will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. When required by law, the District will return the teacher to the vacated or equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay and other terms and conditions of employment. The District will not attempt to hold the teacher's vacated position open any longer than the teacher's original request of up to four (4) semesters, or as otherwise required by law. The teacher will be considered as part of that school staff while on leave. The vacated position will be posted and filled for the remainder of the semester or school year(s), unless the teacher indicates he/she will return sooner, in which case the position will be filled on a temporary basis until the regular teacher returns.
  - e. Should teachers find it necessary to extend their original maternity, paternity or adoption leave, they shall indicate, in writing, the additional time needed, not less than thirty (30) days prior to the original date of return. Upon return from such extended leave, a teacher will be assigned to the same position, if available, or if

not, to a substantially equivalent position. The total leave requested shall not exceed four semesters.

- f. Certain teachers are eligible for benefits under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). The District shall require FMLA-eligible teachers to utilize their FMLA leave concurrently with such leave. The District shall at the time of approving the teacher's request for such leave, give the teacher written notice specifying which portion of such leave will be designated as FMLA leave. Other provisions of FMLA and District policy may apply to the FMLA portion of the leave.
- 5. <u>Family Illness Leave</u>. A leave of absence of up to one (1) year, without pay or increment, will be granted to teachers for the purpose of caring for a sick member of the teacher's immediate family, as defined under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), who is suffering from a serious medical condition, and such leave may be extended for one (1) year.

When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. When required by law, the District will return the teacher to the vacated or equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay and other terms and conditions of employment. This provision applies only when leave is for one (1) full school year or for second semester. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum period of one year, unless otherwise required by law.

- a. Certain District teachers are eligible for benefits under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). The District shall require FMLA-eligible teachers to utilize their FMLA leave concurrently with such leave. The District shall at the time of approving the teacher's request for such leave, give the teacher written notice specifying which portion of such leave will be designated as FMLA leave. Other provisions of FMLA and District policy may apply to the FMLA portion of the leave.
- 6. Extended Personal Illness Leave. Any teacher who suffers from a serious medical condition and such condition extends beyond accumulated sick leave allowable, will be granted a leave of absence of up to one (1) year without pay or increment, and such leave may be extended for one (1) year.
  - a. Request for such leave must be accompanied by a statement from an attending physician that such leave is medically necessary.
  - b. Request for such leave must also be approved by the Department of Employee Benefits. An external consultant may be used, but the District will make the final decision.
  - c. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be assigned to the same position, if available, or, if not, to a substantially equivalent position. When required by law,

- the District will return the teacher to the vacated or equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay and other terms and conditions of employment. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum period of one (1) year, unless otherwise required by law.
- d. Certain teachers are eligible for benefits under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). The District shall require FMLA-eligible teachers to utilize their FMLA leave concurrently with such leave. The District shall at the time of approving the teacher's request for such leave, give the teacher written notice specifying which portion of such leave will be designated as FMLA leave. Other provisions of FMLA and District policy may apply to the FMLA portion of the leave.

# 7. Extended Personal Illness Leave and Coverage by Long-Term Disability Insurance.

- a. Beginning September 1, 2003 short-term disability leave shall not be granted. Instead, the District shall provide long-term disability insurance for teachers.
  - i. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. When required by law, the District will return the teacher to the vacated or equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay and other terms and conditions of employment. This provision applies only when leave is for up to one (1) full school year. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum of one year.
  - ii. Certain teachers are eligible for benefits under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). The District shall require FMLA-eligible teachers to utilize their FMLA leave concurrently with such leave. The District shall at the time of approving the teacher's request for such leave, give the teacher written notice specifying which portion of such leave will be designated as FMLA leave. Other provisions of FMLA and District policy may apply to the FMLA portion of the leave.
- b. Teachers who have been approved for this leave prior to September 1, 2003 shall continue with the leave under the terms in which it was granted.
  - i. Regularly appointed teachers who suffer from a serious medical condition, have completed at least ten (10) years of active service in the District will be granted, upon request, a one (1) year short-term disability leave of absence with one-half (1/2) pay.
  - ii. Upon return from such leave, the teacher will be considered as if actively employed by the District during the leave and will be placed on the salary schedule at the level the teacher would have achieved if the teacher remained actively employed during the period of absence.

- iii. Request for such leave must be approved by the Department of Human Resources. An external consultant may be used, but the District will make the final decision.
- iv. Such leave of absence may be extended without pay or increment for an additional year.
- v. Maternity, paternity and/or adoption conditions are eligible for this type of leave.
- vi. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. When required by law, the District will return the teacher to the vacated or equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay and other terms and conditions of employment. This provision applies only when leave is for one (1) full school year or for second semester. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum period of one year, unless otherwise required by law.
- vii. Certain teachers are eligible for benefits under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). The District shall require FMLA-eligible teachers to utilize their FMLA leave concurrently with such leave. The District shall at the time of approving the teacher's request for such leave, give the teacher written notice specifying which portion of such leave will be designated as FMLA leave. Other provisions of FMLA and District policy may apply to the FMLA portion of the leave.
- 8. <u>Elective Office Leave</u>. A teacher has the right to become a candidate for public office and to serve in such elective office unless there is a specific legal prohibition.
  - a. Non-probationary teachers may be granted a leave of absence without pay in order to run for, or serve in, public office.
  - b. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. This provision applies only when leave is for up to one (1) full school year. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum of one year.
- 9. <u>Travel, Study, or Research Leave</u>. Non-probationary teachers may be granted, upon request, leave of up to one (1) year without pay or increment for professional study, travel, or research. Written requests for leave must be received thirty (30) days prior to the beginning date leave is requested.
  - a. Such leaves may be extended up to one (1) year without pay or increment.

- b. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. This provision applies only when leave is for up to one (1) full school year. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum of one year.
- 10. <u>Overseas Dependent Schools Leave</u>. Non-probationary teachers may be granted leave without pay to take a position in Overseas Dependent Schools.
  - a. Leave will be granted for one (1) year and may be extended for one (1) additional year.
  - b. Upon return, the teacher shall be placed on the appropriate step of the salary schedule as though the teacher had remained actively employed during the period of absence.
  - c. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. This provision applies only when leave is for up to one (1) full school year. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum of one year.
- 11. <u>Vocational Education Proficiency Leave</u>. The District agrees to grant to the vocationally qualified full-time teachers who are representatives of Business and Office Distributive Education, Home Economics, and Trades and Industry, the following considerations.
  - a. Proficiency leave guaranteeing full pay for one (1) year of one hundred eighty-one (181) school days, provided:
    - i. Proficiency leave would include work experience to upgrade teaching ability.
    - ii. Work experience wages shall be returned to the District up to an amount of present salary.
  - b. Proficiency leave incorporating half-pay for one (1) year, with permission to gain work experience.
    - Upon return, the teacher shall be placed on the appropriate step of the salary schedule as though the teacher had remained actively employed during the period of absence.
    - ii. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment providing they return from leave at the beginning of the

- first or second semester. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum of one year.
- iii. The District and the Association agree that the District will make every effort to ensure that all District vocational reimbursable programs will be taught by vocationally credentialed teachers in accordance with current state regulations.
- 12. <u>General Leave</u>. General leave of absence may be granted to a non-probationary teacher, as defined in Article 1-1, without pay, increment, or benefits when such teacher identifies circumstances, which may require an extended absence from the District.
  - a. A reasonable basis for general leave not covered by other leave of absence provisions must be stated.
  - b. Applications for general leave of absence must be filed by the date established by the Department of Human Resources for making such application, except in case of extreme emergency.
  - c. General leave of absence will be for one (1) semester or one (1) year. Return from such leave can be only at the beginning of a semester. A general leave of absence may be extended for one (1) year increments without pay or increments for up to two (2) years.
  - d. Every reasonable effort will be made to return an employee to a comparable position upon return from a general leave of absence.
  - e. Time spent on a general leave of absence will not be accredited for seniority purposes.
- 13. <u>Corporate Internship Leave</u>. Non-probationary teachers who have completed at least five (5) continuous years of full-time service in the District may be granted, upon request, leave of up to one (1) year without pay or increment to participate in corporate internship programs. Written requests for leave must be received at least thirty (30) days prior to the beginning date leave is requested.
  - a. Such leaves may be extended up to one (1) year without pay or increment.
  - b. When teachers indicate in writing, at the time of application for leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable effort will be made to return them to their vacated assignment. This provision applies only when leave is for up to one (1) full school year. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum of one year.

# 14. Sabbatical Leaves of Absence.

- a. Sabbatical leaves of absence are granted to non-probationary teachers for professional improvement, upon recommendation by the Superintendent.
  - i. Requests for sabbatical leaves of absence must be received by the Department of Human Resources, in writing, in such form as may be required by the Department of Human Resources, by the date established by the Department of Human Resources for making such application preceding the semester of the school year in which the sabbatical leave is requested, except in the case of emergencies.
  - ii. The teacher must have completed at least five (5) consecutive, full school years of full-time service as a teacher in the District, in order to be eligible to request a sabbatical leave.
- iii. Teachers on sabbatical leaves of absence will be paid at one-half (1/2) of their annual salary rate.
- iv. Flex dollars will be provided to be used in the District's cafeteria plan.
- v. The teacher shall agree to return to employment with the District for one (1) full year in the event of a one-half (1/2) year leave of absence, or two (2) full years in the event of a full year leave.
- vi. The teacher shall agree to notify the Department of Human Resources for approval of any projected changes in the teacher's plan for professional improvement.
- vii. The teacher returning from a sabbatical leave of absence shall submit, to the Department of Human Resources, a report containing transcripts of all college and university study while on leave, a description of travel and all other items of information pertinent to an appraisal of the teacher's program.
- b. Upon return from sabbatical leave, the teacher shall be placed on the appropriate step of the salary schedule as though the teacher had remained actively employed during the period of absence.
- c. A year spent on sabbatical leave will count toward the career increments as a year of active teaching service.
- d. Effective June 1, 1979, a year spent on sabbatical leave will count as a year of active service for retirement, provided the teacher pays the difference between sabbatical leave retirement withholding and the full retirement amount.
- e. When teachers have indicated, at the time of application for sabbatical leave, that it is their desire, every reasonable attempt will be made to return them to their

- vacated assignment. Such vacated positions will be posted as one (1) semester only or one (1) year only. If a position is held for the teacher's return, it shall be held for a maximum period of one (1) year.
- f. A sabbatical leave of absence may be extended, without pay or increment, for one (1) additional year.
- 15. <u>Additional Extended Leave Conditions</u>. The following conditions shall apply to all extended leaves of absence:
  - a. All requests for extended leaves of absence will be applied for and granted in writing.
  - b. The time spent on extended leaves of absence shall not be counted towards the requisite three (3) year probationary period for obtaining non-probationary teacher status.
  - c. Except in unusual circumstances, or when the general leave is being used, no combination of leaves of absence shall exceed two (2) consecutive full years.
  - d. Teachers shall continue to accrue seniority in the District while on approved extended leaves, except that seniority shall not accrue while a teacher is on general leave.
  - e. Except to the extent required pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), or pursuant to this Agreement's provisions regarding Sabbatical Leaves of Absence, employee benefits will not be provided to a teacher while on extended leave of absence.

# APPENDIX C – Market Compensation and Budget Priorities Task Force

DPS and DCTA will re-convene the Market Compensation Task Force. The Task Force will be comprised of four appointees each by the DCTA President and the Superintendent, one Community member each appointed by the DCTA President and the Superintendent, and one Community member appointed by the mutual agreement of the DCTA President and the Superintendent. The Task Force will make recommendations regarding the further implementation of the recommendations of the Task Force (issued in January, 2005) following a review of current conditions, the District's budget, and financial resources. In accomplishing this, the Task Force will:

- 1. Review and prioritize the existing recommendations and any new recommendations that might be appropriate.
- 2. Develop specifics for each of the recommendations.
- 3. Identify costs associated with each recommendation.
- 4. Recommend possible funding sources for achieving recommendations. When performing this function, the Task Force will be expanded by the addition of two representatives elected from DAEOP, CWA, DFP, FSA, FMA, ATU, ABG, and DASA. The listed groups who do not have an elected member may have an observer at the meetings.

The District will provide the Task Force with budget data in the format requested by the Task Force.

Recommendations will be presented by the Task Force to the Board of Education and the DCTA Board of Directors in a joint session by January 31, 2006. The Board of Education and the DCTA Board shall consider and respond to the recommendations of the Task Force.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their corporate names to be hereunto subscribed by their respective Presidents and attested by their respective Secretaries this					
1 <sup>st</sup> day of <u>September</u> , 2005.					
DENVER CLASSROOM TEACHERS ASSOCIATION	SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 IN THE CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER				
By	By/s/				
Kim Ursetta, President	Les Woodward, President Board of Education				
ATTEST:	ATTEST:				
By/s/	By/s/				
Barbara Bennett, Secretary	Michelle Moss, Secretary Board of Education				

# Index by Article number

Academic freedom 27-4

Administrative leave 11-2

Administrative transfer, see transfer, administrative leave

Advisory District Personnel Performance Evaluation Council (1338 Committee) 10, 24

Agreement given to teachers and administrators 4-5, 23-4-7

Agreement Review Committee (ARC) 6-12-1, 7-5-6, 11-2-8, 24-1-1, 24-1-2

Anti-discrimination 2-2, 2-9, 13-4, 13-9

Appraisal, see teacher evaluation

Area Superintendent Advisory Council 5-3

Assaults, teacher accused of 17-2, see also administrative leave 11-2

Assaults upon teachers 17-1

Assessment day 8-1-2, 8-1-2-3

Association, recognition as sole bargaining agent 3-2, 23-1

Association rights 3-3, 23

Association rights, Association leave 23-5

Association rights, Association President 23-1-1, 23-1-2

Association rights, Association Representatives 23-1-6

Association rights, dues deduction and revocation, 23-2, 23-3, 23-4

Association rights, representation of teacher 7-3-1, 7-4, 11-2-3, 11-2-6, 11-3-1, 13-9-1

Association rights, school mail, mailboxes and bulletin boards, 23-1-4, 23-1-5

Athletic Board of Control, representation on 32-4

Audiologists 3-1

Benefits Board 24, 30-2

Board (District) policy 2-6, 2-8, 17-2-2, 18-3, 18-3-1, Appendix B

Building instructional coaches 32-3-1 Schedule 11

Central office files 7-5-2, 9

Central office files, access to 9

Collaborative School Committee (CSC) 8-6, 13-10-1, 25-1-5, 26-2

Class coverage 8-10, 32-6

Classroom interruptions 8-9

Class size, elementary 8-5-2

Class size, secondary 8-5-1-1, 8-5-1-2

Communication by teachers 26-2

Compensation, activity salaries 32-3

Compensation, Assistance Program 32-2

Compensation, Building Instructional Coaches 32-3-1 Schedule 11

Compensation, cost of living adjustment (COLA) 31-9

Compensation, curriculum development 32-2

Compensation, education increments 31-1(2), 31-4, 31-6-3

Compensation, experience steps 31-1, 31-1(3), 31-2

Compensation, extra-curricular activities 32-3

Compensation, extra duty 32

Compensation, in-service education 31-6-3, 32-2

Compensation, job sharing and part-time assignments 25-1-4

Compensation, longevity increments 31-1(4), 31-5

Compensation, long-term substitutes (daily rate) 32-2

Compensation, mentor assignments 32-2

Compensation, National Board Certification, incentives 31-7

Compensation, newly hired teachers 32-6

Compensation, paid class coverage 8-10-1, 32-6

Compensation, retirement, early notification of 31-14

Compensation, salary schedule 31-1

Compensation, salary schedule, placement and advancement 31-3

Compensation, secondary after-school supervision 32-2

Compensation, sports/activities 32-3-1

Compensation, stipends, English Language Acquisition teachers 31-8

Compensation, summer school 32-2

Compensation, supervision of events, 32-2-1

Compensation, Teacher Education Fund 31-12

Compensation, Teachers in Residence (TIR), 31, 31-2

Compensation, transportation allowance 31-13

Compensation, unsatisfactory performance 31-9

Compensation, unused sick leave and retirement work group 31-10-5, 31-11

Complaints against teachers 11-1

Conditions of employment, special 8-1-5

Continuing full and half-day substitutes 28-2, 32-2

Contract year 8-1

Controversial issues in the classroom 27

Corrective action 11-3

Covered employees 3-1

Daily substitute pay 32-2

DCTA President, see Association rights, Association President

Definitions 1, 7-1

Denver School of the Arts, compensation 32-3-1 Schedule 10

Department Chairpersons 8-6, 8-10-1

Discipline, of a student 18

Discipline, of a teacher 11-3

Dues deductions 23-3, 23-4

Effective dates of Agreement 4-1

Elementary teaching load 8-5-2

Emergency school closings 8-11

Employment, special conditions of 8-1-5

English Language Acquisition (ELA) program stipend 31-8

Evaluation of teachers, see teacher evaluation

Evening meetings 8-1-4

Evening school 14

Expectations of teachers 26

Extended leaves of absence 22, Appendix B

Extra duty compensation 32

Facilities, teacher 15

Files, teacher 7-5-2, 9

Forty-hour work week 8-2

Framework for Partnership, after Table of Contents

General provisions 2

Good faith enforcement of Agreement 2-1, 2-8

Grade level chairpersons 8-10-1, 13-5-1

Grievance 7

Grievance, definitions 7-1

Grievance, expedited 7-3, 7-3-4

Grievance, group 7-5-1

Grievance, information sharing 7-3, 7-3-2, 7-5-4

Grievance, Level One (informal) 7-3-1

Grievance, Level Two 7-3-3

Grievance, Level Three 7-3-5

Grievance, Level Three, arbitration 7-3-5-2

Grievance, Level Three, Board action 7-3-5-7

Grievance, Level Three, expedited arbitration 7-3-5-2-1

Grievance, Level Three, mediation 7-3-5, 7-3-5-1

Grievance, Level Three, timelines 7-3-4, 7-3-5, 7-3-5-7, 7-3-5-8

Grievance, Personnel Committee decisions 13-8-5

Grievance, procedure 7-3

Grievance, purpose 7-2

Grievance, release from school for 7-4-3, 7-5-5

Grievance, rights of teachers to representation 7-3-1, 7-4

Grievance, time limits to file 7-3

Half-time employment 25

Increasing Enrollment Committee 5-5

Increment, education 31-1(c)

Increment, experience 31-1(b)

Increment, longevity 31-1(d)

Induction program 31-6-2

Instructional Issues Council 5-2

Instructional materials 12

Insurance, benefits allowance/cafeteria plan 30-1

Insurance, Benefits Board 30-1, 30-2

Insurance, disability 30-2, 30-3

Insurance, group life/long-term disability 30-3, 30-4

Insurance, health 30-1, 30-2

Insurance, IRS 125 Plan, 30-5

Insurance, liability 30-4

Insurance, life 30-3

Interest-Based Bargaining, see Framework for Partnership

Interim negotiations 4-2, 6-12

IRS 125 Plan 30-5

Job sharing 25

Joint activities 24

JROTC instructors 3-1, 32-3 Schedule 12

Just cause in corrective action 11-3-3

Leaves, see short leave, or extended leaves of absence

Legal proceedings leave 21-3

Lesson plans 8-8

Letter of reprimand or warning 11-3-3

Liability insurance 30-4

Life insurance 30-2, 30-3

Long-term substitute teachers, see continuing full and half-day substitutes

Lunch periods 8-2(1)

Management, authority and responsibility of Board 2-7

Meetings 8-2(2), 8-2(3)

Market Compensation Task Force Appendix C

Membership 2-10, 23-3

Multi-school assignments 8-4, 10-4-1

Multi-ethnic sensitivity 26-6

National Board Certification 31-7

Negotiations, impasse resolution/mediation 6-11

Negotiations, interim 4-2, 6-12

Negotiations, procedures 6-1 to 6-10

Negotiations, timelines 4-3, 4-4, 6-2, 6-3, 6-11-2

New teachers and Probationary teachers 4-5-1, 8-1-1, 20-3

Non-teaching duties 8-4, 8-7

Orientation sessions, new teachers 8-1-1

Paraprofessional assistance, elementary 8-5-2

Parent/teacher conference days 8-1-2, 8-1-2-4

Parking 15-2-4, 16-2-4

Personal health problems 19

Personal injury benefits 16

Personal leave 21-2

Personnel Committee 13-8, 26-2

Personnel Committee, alleged abuse of authority 13-8-8

Personnel Committee, training 13-8-4-2

Planning days 8-1-2

Planning days, time reserved for classroom work 8-1-2-1

Planning time, 8-3

Political activity 26-3-1

Probationary teachers, recall procedures 20-3

Probationary teachers, transfer limits 13-14

Professional behavior 26

Professional days 8-1-2, 8-1-2-2

Professional development, 8-1-3, 8-2(3), 5-4.

Professional Development Committee 5-4

Prohibition of reprisals 26-2

Property damage 16-2

Reduction in Building Staff (RIBS) 13-10

Reduction in Force (RIF) 20

Reduction in Force, effect on benefits 20-1-7

Reduction in Force, criteria for conducting 20-1-2, 20-1-3

Reduction in Force, reassignment 20-1-6

Reduction in Force, recall procedures 20-2

Remediation plans, see teacher evaluation

Representation of teacher by Association 7-3-1, 7-4, 11-2-3, 11-2-6, 13-9

Reprisals against teachers 7-4-1, 26-2

Retirement, early notification of 31-14

Revocation of Association membership 23-3, 23-4-1

Rights of teachers 2-10, 26-3, 27-2

Sabbatical leave 22-1, Appendix B

Salary schedule 31-1

Short leaves of absence 21

Short leave, application for leave other than sick leave 21-4-3

Short leave, Association 23-5

Short leave, legal proceedings 21-3

Short leave, personal 21-2

Short leave, professional 21-5

Short leave, restrictions 21-4

Short leave, sick 21-1

Short leave, sick leave, compensation for unused days, 21-1-5, 21-1-7, 31-10

Short-term disability leave 22-2, Appendix B

Sick leave 21-1

Sick Leave Bank 21-1-4, 24

Special conditions of employment, 8-1-5

Special educators' duty time 8-7-2

Specialized services personnel/providers 8-5-3, 13-12

Staff morale 26-4, 29, Appendix A

Statement of Beliefs, after Table of Contents

Student achievement 5, Statement of Beliefs

Student school contact day, extension 8-2-2

Substitute teachers, see continuing full and half-day subs

Substitute teachers, adequate numbers of 28-1

Summer school, evening school 14, 32-2

Suspension without pay 11-2

Task Force on School and District Climate 24, 29, Appendix A

Tax sheltered annuities 24, 30-2, 30-2-4

Teacher assignments, notice of, types of 13-19-5

Teacher assignments, preferences 13-15-1

Teacher Education Fund 24, 31-12

Teacher evaluation 10, 24

Teacher evaluation, Advisory District Personnel Performance Evaluation Council (1338

Committee) 10-9

Teacher evaluation and eligibility for experience increments/COLA 31-9

Teacher evaluation, conduct of 10-6

Teacher evaluation, data sources 10-5

Teacher evaluation, definitions 10-2

Teacher evaluation, evaluators 10-4

Teacher evaluation, non-probationary teachers 10-7-5

Teacher evaluation, observations, types of 10-3-2

Teacher evaluation, peer assistance 10-7-3

Teacher evaluation, probationary teachers and non-renewal of contract 10-7-6

Teacher evaluation, remediation plans 10-7

Teacher evaluation, special evaluation 10-3(3), 10-8

Teacher evaluation, standards and criteria 10-2-1-7

Teacher evaluation, types of 10-3-1

Teacher evaluation, uses of 10-1

Teacher evaluation, written evaluation report 10-6-5

Teacher-in-Charge of building 8-12

Teacher lunch 8-2(1)

Teacher organizations 2-1, 2-2, 2-3, 2-10, 23, 23-1-3

Teacher accused of assault 17-2, see also administrative leave 11-2

Teacher schedules 13-4

Teacher schedules, non-teaching duties 8-4, 8-7, 8-7-2

Teacher schedules, teaching load 8-5-1, 8-5-2

Teacher schedules, when assigned to more than one site 8-4

Teaching loads, elementary 8-5-2

Teaching loads, secondary 8-5-1

Temporary disability 16-1, 30-2

Training 2-3, see also Framework for Partnership

Training, outside contract year 8-1-3

Transfer 13

Transfer, administrative 13-9

Transfer, administrative, changes in program 13-9-3

Transfer, administrative, consideration groups 13-10-3

Transfer, administrative, principal recommended 13-9-1

Transfer, administrative, Reduction in Building Staff (RIBS) 13-10

Transfer, administrative, teacher notification of 13-19-1

Transfer, assignments, notice of, types of 13-19

Transfer, CSC Committee, responsibilities 13-10-1

Transfer, direct assignment of teachers 13-18-4, 13-19-4

Transfer, filling vacancies 13-18

Transfer, filling vacancies, selection procedure 13-8

Transfer, general principles 13-1

Transfer, in-building bidding 13-15

Transfer, notice to vacate a position 13-13

Transfer, opening/closing of a school 13-9-4, 13-11-2

Transfer, Personnel Committee, composition 13-8-2, 13-8-3

Transfer, Personnel Committee, responsibilities 13-8

Transfer, positions unfilled after posting 13-18-4, 13-18-7

Transfer, posting vacancies 13-16

Transfer, principal notification when applying for vacancies 13-17-1

Transfer, qualifications for 13-2

Transfer, Reduction in Building Staff (RIBS) 13-10

Transfer, Reduction in Building Staff, consideration groups 13-10-3

Transfer, relocation of program to another site 13-9-2

Transfer, school redesign 5-6, 13-11

Transfer, selection procedure 13-18

Transfer, specialized services personnel 13-12

Transfer, vacancies, applying for 13-16, 13-17

Transfer, timelines 13-7

Transportation allowance 31-13

Transportation of students 8-13

Unpaid leaves 22-1, Appendix B

Unused sick leave 21-1-5, 21-1-6, 31-10

Unused sick leave, selling 21-1-7

Vocational education proficiency leave 22-2, Appendix B

Waivers of Agreement or Board policy 2-4-1, 8-1-3-2

Workers' Compensation program 16-1-1

Work week, forty-hour 8-2

Work week, planning time 8-3

Work week, teacher lunch 8-2(1)

Work year 8-1

# **AGREEMENT**

between

School District No. 1

in the City and County of Denver, State of Colorado

and

**Denver Classroom Teachers Association** 

# Professional Compensation System for Teachers



#### www.denverteachercompensation.org

#### www.denver.k12.co.us

#### www.denverclassroom.org

#### **AGREEMENT**

#### **Professional Compensation System for Teachers**

#### **Table of Contents**

1	Purpose and Goals.	.1
2	Authority of this Agreement	2
3	Guiding Principles of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.	4
4	Governance, Oversight and Evaluation of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers	6
5	Phase-in of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers	10
6	Entering the Professional Compensation System for Teachers	10
7	Components and Elements of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers	11
8	Appendices	2

#### The Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation

Richard Allen, Budget and Finance, Co-Chair Gary Justus, Abraham Lincoln HS, Co-Chair

Jeff Buck, South HS Barbara Cooper, Hallett ES

Diane Deschanel, School Nurse

Pete Hergenreter, Career Education Center

Jeanne Lyons, School Nurse

André Pettigrew, Administrative Services

Barbara Nash, Retired MS Principal Jamie Rich, Hamilton MS

Diane Waco, Fallis ES

Carmen Rhodes, Community Lee White, Community

# The Pay for Performance Design Team

Cheryl Betz (2000-2004) Brad Jupp (1999-2004)

Henry Roman (2001-2004) Pat Sandos (1999-2000)

Shirley Scott (1999-2004) Becky Wissink (1999-2001)

#### **Negotiation Teams**

#### **Denver Classroom Teachers Association**

#### **Denver Public Schools**

Cathy Cronn, Green Valley ES Richard Allen, Budget and Finance

Bruce Dickinson, DCTA Mary Ann Baca, Northwest Area

, Design Team Ann Bailey, Thomas Jefferson HS

Gary Justus, Abraham Lincoln HS Beth Biggs, SE Area

Henry Roman, Design Team Reina Gutierrez, Hamilton MS

Mary Sam, Place MS

John Leslie, Student Services

David Szumiloski, Smiley MS André Pettigrew, Administrative Services

Becky Wissink, DCTA

#### 1 Purpose and Goals

- 1.1 Purpose. The Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation prepared the Professional Compensation System for Teachers in fulfillment of the charge approved and given to them by the Board of Education and the Denver Classroom Teachers Association Board of Directors. The <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> is intended to couple teacher compensation more directly with the missions and goals of the Denver Public Schools and the Denver Classroom Teachers Association.
- 1.2 Goals of the Professional Compensation System. The <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> addresses four goal areas.
  - Motivational Goals ö Any compensation system should motivate teachers to achieve specified goals by providing additional compensation for achievement of specified goals. These goals include but are not limited to setting high standards, enhancing the achievement of all students, closing the gap between lower performing and higher performing students, performing specified additional duties (e.g. coaching, committee work, special assignments) and participating in professional development. In order to accomplish this mission, specific measurement of goal achievement must be clearly defined and mutually agreed upon. In some cases (e.g. additional duties) this will be easily measured, while in other cases (e.g. student achievement), measurement is a significant issue in itself. Compensation systems should be positive rather than punitive.
  - Career Goals ö Any compensation system should provide appropriate compensation to attract, motivate and retain high quality
    teachers in all specialties over the course of a career. These goals would include economic and professional growth for teachers
    as they move through a career. In order to meet professional and monetary career needs, these goals will enhance and enable the
    transition between classroom teaching and jobs outside the classroom. Thus, any compensation system should establish effective
    competition with other employers (including non-educational employers).
  - Professional Goals ö Any compensation system should enhance the professional standing and dignity of teachers. It should
    allow a teacher the ability to take on additional professional responsibilities and be compensated. Risk taking and innovation in the
    pursuit of professional achievement should be encouraged and rewarded. Compensation systems should be positive rather than
    punitive.
  - System Goals ö Any compensation system should be affordable, manageable, equitable, sustainable, comprehensive, flexible
    and understandable by those who would be a part of it. The system should attempt to solve only those problems that could not be
    more effectively and appropriately addressed through other means.
  - 1.3 The Professional Compensation System for Teachers Shall Be a Collaborative Endeavor Between the Denver Public Schools and the Denver Classroom Teachers Association. The experience of the Pay for Performance Pilot and the Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation, and the research findings of the Community Assistance Center in their study of the Pay for Performance Pilot, Catalyst for Change, affirm the importance of collaboration when making lasting and significant changes in our schools. Therefore the District and Association enter into its Agreement in the same spirit of collaboration established in the Statement of Beliefs and Framework for Partnership in the Master Agreement. In fulfillment of this commitment to collaboration, the District and Association agree to share responsibility for the development, implementation, evaluation and renegotiation of all initiatives described herein.

#### 2 Authority of this Agreement

- 2.1...... Relation of this Agreement to the Master Agreement. This Agreement establishes the framework for the Professional
- Compensation System for Teachers, including the basic commitments made by the District and Association necessary to
- . develop and implement the Professional Compensation System for Teachers, as well as the terms, conditions and

- entitlements for compensation for teachers who opt in to the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. The Master
- Agreement governs all other terms, conditions and entitlements of employment for all members of the DCTA bargaining unit
- . unless explicitly set forth in this Agreement. The Master Agreement governs all terms, conditions and entitlements of
- employment for teachers who do not enter the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.

#### 2.2 General Provisions of this Agreement.

- 2.2.1 This Agreement constitutes District policy for the term of said Agreement and the Board and the Association will carry out the commitments contained herein and give them full force and effect.
- 2.2.2 No change, rescission, alteration or modification of this Agreement in whole or in part shall be valid unless the same is ratified by both the Board of Education, the Board of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund and the Association according to section 2.5 of this Agreement.
- 2.2.3 This Agreement shall be governed and construed according to the Constitution and Laws of the State of Colorado. If any provision of the Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any teacher covered hereby is found contrary to law, such provision or application shall have effect only to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or application of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.
- 2.2.4 In case of any direct conflict between the express provisions of this Agreement and any Board policy or writing not incorporated in this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall control. In the case of a direct conflict between this Agreement and the Master Agreement, the following general principles shall apply:
  - 2.2.4.1 This Agreement applies only to the compensation of those teachers who have entered the Compensation System for Teachers.
  - 2.2.4.2 The District and the Association are bound to perform all charges set forth in either Agreement.
- 2.2.5 The parties recognize that the Board has the responsibility and authority to establish policies and regulations for the management of all the operations and activities of the District. All lawful rights and authority of the Board not modified by this Agreement are retained by the Board.
- 2.2.6 The District and Association agree to abide by the provisions of this Agreement in good faith and apply them equally to all employees without discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, age, and consistent with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, membership or official activities in any teacher organization or such other specified human or civil rights as may be protected by statute.
- 2.2.7 The Board and the Association shall mutually publish this Agreement. They shall ensure that each principal or supervisor of <u>bargaining unit members</u> and each association representative shall have a copy and be able to provide hard copies to teachers upon request. In addition, they shall publish this Agreement on their websites. Any changes to this Agreement shall be published on their websites within 5 days of their ratification. Teachers newly hired will be directed to the website in order to review the Agreement before hiring.
- 2.2.8 The District and Association affirm that the provisions of this contract satisfy the requirements of CRS 22-63-401, which the Board of Education to adopt a <u>salary</u> schedule that may be by job description and job definition, a teacher <u>salary</u> policy based on the level of performance demonstrated by each teacher.
- 2.3 Covered Employees. This Agreement covers all members of the DCTA bargaining unit who enter the Professional Compensation System for Teachers according to section 6 of this Agreement. The compensation system of the Master Agreement between Denver Public Schools and the Denver Classroom Teachers Association shall cover all teachers who do not enter this system. All teachers hired on or after January 1, 2006 shall be compensated according to this

Agreement.

- 2.4 Effective Dates. This Agreement shall become effective immediately upon ratification by the Board of Education and the members of the Denver Classroom Teachers Association, except for provisions that have their own dates embedded in them, and shall remain in full force and effect until December 31, 2013.
  - 2.4.1 After October 1, 2007 and October 1, 2010, upon request by either party, the Board and the Association shall enter into negotiations to make changes to the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. Such negotiations shall be informed by internal and external evaluation of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers conducted according to section 4.3. Such negotiations shall be concluded no later than December 1, unless extended by mutual consent.
  - 2.4.2 This Agreement shall be modified annually by collective bargaining in accordance with Articles 4 and 6 of the <u>Master Agreement</u> in compliance with CRS 22-32-110(5), which requires the annual negotiations of <u>salary</u> and benefits.
  - 2.5 Negotiating Procedures. Negotiation of this Agreement shall be conducted according to the provisions of Articles 4 and 6 of the Master Agreement. Changes to this Agreement must be ratified by the Board of Education, the members of the Denver Classroom Teachers Association following presentation to the Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund.
  - 2.6 Enforcement of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be enforced according to the Framework for Partnership and Article 7 of the Master Agreement, except that compensation decisions shall be subject to binding professional review. The Transition Team shall oversee the development of procedures and practices for professional review.
    - 2.6.1 Binding Professional Review. Should a teacher disagree with a compensation decision governed by one of the <u>elements</u> of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>, the decision shall be reviewed by a teacher and an administrator or principal selected from the Professional Review Panel.
      - 2.6.1.1 Professional Review Panel. The Professional Review Panel shall be composed of a minimum of 5 DCTA members and 5 principals or administrators. The panel shall have representation from several disciplines.
      - 2.6.1.2 Selection. Members of the Professional Review Panel shall be selected using an interview process conducted by the Transition Team of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. Members of the Professional Review Panel shall serve a two-year term. Terms shall be overlapping. To ensure overlapping terms, two teachers and two administrators shall be selected to one-year terms, and three teachers and three administrators shall be selected to two-year terms.
      - 2.6.1.3 Training. The panel shall receive training in the Professional Compensation System for Teachers and mediation/problem solving skills. The Transition Team shall commission the training.
      - 2.6.1.4 Notification. Teachers shall notify the Department of Human Resources and the Association of their request for binding professional review in writing within 20 workdays from the receipt of the paycheck that records the disputed decision.
      - 2.6.1.5 Decision Making Process. Upon notification, two panelists, one teacher and one administrator, shall be selected randomly from the professional review panel to review the disagreement. Following a hearing where both the teacher and the decision-making administrator present the facts of their dispute, the panelists shall consider the merits of the disagreement. If the panelists can reach consensus on action to be taken, they will issue a decision, which shall be implemented. If the panelists cannot reach consensus on the action to be taken, the original compensation decision will stand.
      - 2.6.1.6 Timeline for Professional Review. Professional review will be completed within 20 workdays of notification unless the teacher agrees to an extension.
      - 2.6.1.7 Binding Decisions. All decisions made under this procedure shall be final and binding and not subject to the grievance procedure. With this binding decision no litigation shall be filed on the basis of the provisions of this Agreement in relation to the compensation decision under review.
      - 2.6.1.8 Annual Report. At the end of every school year, the Professional Review Panel shall, according

to appropriate personnel practice, present to the Transition Team a summary of the cases it has reviewed during the course of the year, including the decisions of panel members, and its findings and recommendations based on a year of professional review, including identification of future training needs for teachers, principals, schools and the system.

#### 3 Guiding Principles of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers

- 3.1 The <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> Shall Be Fully Funded. The Professional Compensation System for Teachers shall not be implemented unless it is fully funded based on continuing revenue.
  - 3.1.1 The District and the Association shall seek a variety of means to fully fund the Professional Compensation System for Teachers, including a mill levy override election.
    - 3.1.1.1 The District and Association shall jointly plan and support the election campaign for the mill levy override, including development of ballot language.
    - 3.1.1.2 The District and Association shall jointly plan and support any other initiatives to seek funding for the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
  - 3.1.2 Earmarked revenue raised to fund the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> shall be placed in the Teacher Compensation Trust described in section 4.1 of this Agreement.
- 3.2 The Master Agreement as Salary Schedule Shall Be Maintained. The District and Association shall maintain the salary schedule in the Master Agreement until the last person on the Master Agreement salary schedule retires, terminates employment, otherwise leaves the bargaining unit, or enters the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
- 3.3 Cost of Living Adjustments Shall Be Made Equally to the <u>Master Agreement</u>âs <u>Salary</u> Schedule and the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. The District and Association shall agree to annual cost of living adjustments according to the provisions of the <u>Master Agreement</u>. Cost of living adjustments shall be made on an equal percentage basis to both systems and applied according to the provisions of the agreements that govern them.
  - 3.3.1 Any adjustments to the provisions for funding of the <u>Master Agreement</u>âs <u>salary</u> schedule and the Professional Compensation System for Teachers resulting from changes in the level of funding shall maintain the proportion between the <u>Master Agreement</u>âs <u>salary</u> schedule and <u>elements</u> of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers in the total compensation earned by teachers enrolled in the respective plans, exclusive of new revenue earmarked for the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>
  - 3.3.2 The Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation shall compose a technical paper that describes how this rule will be administered by April 2004.
  - 3.3.3 Any funds raised through the passage of a mill levy override or the development of other funds dedicated for the support of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> shall not be used to make cost of living adjustments or other improvements to the <u>Master Agreement</u>ås <u>salary</u> schedule.
- 3.4 There Shall Be No Quotas in the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. All teachers who fulfill the criteria for payment under an <u>element</u> shall have complete access to compensation. No quotas for the number of teachers shall limit the compensation of teachers under any <u>element</u> of the Professional Compensation System for teachers. The <u>elements</u> of the compensation system may be adjusted through the collective bargaining process based on experience and the financial model.
- 3.5 All Positions in the Bargaining Unit Shall Be Effectively Integrated into the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. The District and Association recognize that the DCTA bargaining unit is a diverse group of education professionals whose work is not easily generalized under a single compensation system. For that reason, the District and Association will actively engage different groups of <u>bargaining unit members</u> to ensure that the Professional Compensation System for Teachers is appropriately and fairly adapted for the jobs they do for the district.
  - 3.5.1 Student Services Committee. The Student Services Committee of the Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation shall continue to meet until such time as the members of that committee reach consensus that they have appropriately and fairly adapted the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. If the District and the Association anticipate making changes in the compensation of these bargaining unit members, they shall ensure that <u>bargaining unit members</u> in this group shall participate in the process of making those changes.
    - 3.5.1.1 The Student Services Committee of the Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation shall be composed of DCTA members and DPS managers from the following disciplines: nurse, social work, psychologist,

speech pathologist, educational audiologist, teacher of the hearing impaired, teacher of the vision impaired, and special education coordinators, itinerant teachers and assessment team members. In addition representatives of the occupational therapy/physical therapy shall attend the committee in an ex officio manner with the purpose of staying informed about the progress of the committee. The committee shall make recommendations to Transition Team of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.

- 3.5.1.2 Should the District and the Association raise additional revenue from a mill levy override or other sources, they shall commit to provide the Department of Occupational Therapy/Physical Therapy increases in proportion to and administered over a similar time period as that of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
- 3.5.1.3 The Student Services Committee of the Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation shall complete an evidence-based review of certificates and licenses in their disciplines no later than December 2004. They shall present the results of their review to the negotiating teams of the District and Association in time for consideration as a part of negotiations for spring 2005.
- 3.5.2 Counselors and Student Advisors Committee. The Counselors and Student Advisors Committee of the Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation shall be composed of DCTA members and DPS managers representing the disciplines of secondary school counseling and student advisor. The Counselors and Student Advisors Committee shall continue to meet until such time as the members of that committee reach consensus that they have appropriately and fairly adapted the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. If the District and the association anticipate making changes in the compensation of these bargaining unit members, they shall ensure that bargaining unit members in this group shall participate in the process of making those changes. The committee shall make recommendations to Transition Team of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
- 3.5.3 Integration of JROTC Compensation System. The Association and the District shall ensure that JROTC instructors are, to the extent allowed by the Districtâs agreement with the federal government, fairly and adequately integrated into the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
- 3.6 Joint Commitment to Professional Development. The District and Association recognize the importance of professional development for principals, teachers and administrators to the long-term success of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. The Transition Team of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> shall monitor and regularly advise the District and Association about all professional development related to the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
- 3.7 Joint Commitment to Review and Revise Article 32. The District and the Association shall review and revise Article 32 of the <u>Master Agreement</u> with the intention of making sure that the extra pay rates and stipends described therein better address the mission and goals of the District and Association.

### 4 Governance, Oversight and Evaluation of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>.

- 4.1 The District and Association shall establish a trust fund created by the passage of a successful mill levy override election and such other moneys as may be earmarked, including interest earned on the principal for the purpose of funding the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. This trust shall ensure the financial stability over time of the funds of the trust and the enactment of the ballot language approved by the voters in the mill levy override election. The funds of the trust shall be spent only on the Professional Compensation System for Teachers and only in keeping with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the ballot language approved by the voters in the mill levy override election, and the goals of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
  - 4.1.1 The Teacher Compensation Trust Fund Shall Be Governed by a Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall have the fiduciary responsibility to ensure the financial stability over time of the funds of the trust and the enactment of the ballot language approved by the voters in the mill levy override election. The Board of Directors also has the fiduciary responsibility to ensure that funds of the trust shall be spent only on the Professional Compensation System for Teachers and only in keeping with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the ballot language approved by the voters in the mill levy override election, and the goals of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. Should the Board of Directors at any time determine that the funds have not been spent on the Professional Compensation System for Teachers, or according to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the goals of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers, or in a manner in keeping with the ballot language approved by the voters in the mill levy override election, then the Board has the duty to stop transmitting the funds of the Trust to the District.
  - 4.1.2 Composition. The Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund shall be composed of three representatives appointed by the Association President, three representatives of the District, and two representatives of the community appointed by the agreement of the other six members of the trust. The Districtâs

representatives to the Board of Directors of the Trust shall be the Treasurer of the Board of Education, the Chief Financial Officer of the District and the Assistant Superintendent for Budget and Finance. In the event that changes in organization eliminate such positions, the Board of Education shall designate equivalent positions. The community members appointed to the Board of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund shall have substantial professional qualification in financial matters. Members shall serve three-year terms. Terms shall overlap so that the terms of one Association representative and one District representative expire each year.

- 4.1.2.1 Initial Selection of Board Members and Phasing of Terms. The District and Association shall appoint their representatives no later than 90 days after ratification of this Agreement. The District and Association representatives shall select community representatives no later than 30 days after they convene for their first meeting. Initial director terms shall be staggered to create future overlapping terms. One Association representative and one District representative shall hold a one-year term. One Association representative and one District representative shall hold a two-year term. One community representative shall hold a two-year term. One community representative shall hold a two-year term.
- 4.1.2.2 **Decision Making.** The Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Systems shall make decisions only when a majority of five or more members agree.
- 4.1.3 Duties. The Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund is assigned the following specific duties in fulfillment of their charge described in section 4.1.1 of this Agreement:
  - 4.1.3.1 Being well-informed and trained about their fiduciary responsibilities as directors
  - 4.1.3.2 Develop and maintain a long-term Financial Model of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers described in section 7.9 of this Agreement.
  - 4.1.3.3 Receive and approve annually from the district and the Association proposed expenditures from the Trust
  - 4.1.3.4 Authorize transfer of funds to the district in accordance with approved annual plans.
  - 4.1.3.5 Annually commission an external audit of the revenues and expenditure of trust funds by the District on the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> and submit the final audit to the District and Association.
  - 4.1.3.6 Invest the fund balances held by the Trust in a manner in keeping with their fiduciary responsibility.
  - 4.1.3.7 Conduct on a triennial basis an actuarial study of the assumptions of the financial model of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
  - 4.1.3.8 Expend reasonable amounts of Trust monies as necessary to accomplish its duties.
- 4.1.4 Writing the Trust Fund Agreement. The District and Association shall collaborate to write the agreement establishing the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund in time for it to be incorporated by reference into the ballot language authorizing the mill levy override. They may seek assistance from outside counsel when drafting this agreement.
- 4.2 A Transition Team Shall Monitor the Phase-in of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> and <u>Regularly Advise the Association</u>, the <u>District</u> and the <u>Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust</u>. The <u>District</u> and Association recognize that it is the responsibility and duty of the <u>District</u> to administer all aspects of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. The <u>purpose</u> of the <u>Transition Team is to ensure that the administration of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> is conducted according to this Agreement and to ensure that the Association is involved in and informed about the development, implementation and evaluation of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>.</u>
  - 4.2.1 **The Transition Team shall develop, implement and evaluate a Transition Plan.** The Transition Plan shall inform and articulate the phase-in of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
    - 4.2.1.1 The Transition Plan shall incorporate the best practices and guiding principles that were developed by the Pay for Performance Design Team, the Joint Task Force for Teacher Compensation and the requirements of the Master Agreement. These practices include reliance on research, close collaboration between the District and Association, feedback from practitioners, experience from pilot programs, formal evaluation and applying this information to modify future practice.
    - 4.2.1.2 The Transition Plan shall identify the work that needs to be completed in order to fully implement the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> including the development of District and Association capacity. The Transition Plan shall address each <u>element</u> and guiding principle of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers as defined in this Agreement, as well as the operation of the phase-in

of the system.

- 4.2.1.3 The Transition Plan shall include a process to review and evaluate the progress of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers with the intention of institutionalizing the improvements developed in the course of enacting the plan.
- 4.2.1.4 The Transition Plan shall include effective communications structures to ensure that all interested parties have full and consistent information about the principles and implementation of the plan.
- 4.2.2 Composition. In its first year of operation, the Transition Team shall be composed of five District representatives and five Association representatives, including at least one representative who is not in a direct instruction assignment. In future years, the composition of The Transition Team shall be an equal representation based on needs determined in the Transition Plan.
  - 4.2.2.1 Release time for members of the Transition Team will be provided based on needs determined by the Transition Plan and available funding. The Transition Team shall obtain external funding for these release time assignments.
- 4.2.3 The Design Team shall complete the first draft of the Transition Plan by the end of the 2003-2004 school year. Beginning with the 2004-2005 school year, the Transition Team will monitor and make regular revisions to the Transition Plan. Revisions of the Transition Plan may lead to changes in this Agreement or the Master Agreement according to the provisions of Articles 4 and 6 of the Master Agreement.
- 4.2.4 Presentation of the Transition Plan. The Transition Team shall present the Transition Plan to the Board of Education, the DCTA Board of Directors and the Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund no less than twice annually, including once in conjunction with the annual internal evaluation of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.
- 4.2.5 **Publication of the Transition Plan.** The District and the Association will publish the Transition Plan on the website for the Professional Compensation System for Teachers, www.denverteachercompensation.org.
- 4.2.6 **Decision Making.** When making decisions to develop, implement or revise the Transition Plan, the Transition Team shall make decisions by consensus.
- 4.2.7 Sunset of the Transition Team. Unless the District and Association agree otherwise, the Transition Team will remain in operation until the completion of the 2009-2010 school year.
- 4.3 The District and Association Shall Jointly Commission Both an Annual Internal Evaluation and an Evaluation by an Independent, Third Party Evaluator of the <a href="Professional Compensation System for Teachers">Professional Compensation System for Teachers</a>.
  - 4.3.1 Internal Evaluation. The Transition Team shall guide the on-going internal evaluation of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. The Transition Team shall recommend to the District, the Association and the Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund measures of performance of the elements of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers to be used in the annual evaluation. This evaluation shall include analysis of the implementation of the system and its effectiveness at achieving District and Association mission and goals and in keeping with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the ballot language approved by the voters in the mill levy override election, and the goals and elements of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. Based on this annual evaluation, the Transition Team shall offer findings and recommendations for improvement to the Board of Education, the DCTA Board of Directors and the Teacher Compensation Board of Trustees. The evaluation shall be completed annually no later than November of each school year.
  - 4.3.2 Third Party Evaluation. According to District procurement procedures, the District and Association shall jointly charge an independent, third party evaluation of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. This evaluation shall examine the implementation of the system and its effectiveness at achieving District and Association mission and goals and in keeping with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the ballot language approved by the voters in the <u>mill levy override election</u>, and the goals and <u>elements</u> of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. This evaluation shall offer findings and recommendations for improvement of the system. This evaluation shall be presented to the Board of Education, the DCTA Board of Directors and the Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund in November 2009, prior to when the District and Association commence negotiations on the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>, thus ensuring that those negotiations shall be supported by data.
    - 4.3.2.1 The Transition Team of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> shall recommend the evaluator to the District and Association no later than April of 2008.
    - 4.3.2.2 The Transition Team shall recommend to the evaluator measures of performance of the <u>elements</u> of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> to be used in their evaluation.

4.3.2.3 The Transition Team shall obtain external funding for the independent, third party evaluation of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. If external funding is not developed, the Transition Team shall seek alternative methods, including the use of mill levy revenue, to obtain the third party evaluation.

## 5 Phase-in of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.

- 5.1 The <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> will be gradually implemented.
  - 5.1.1 Milestones. The broadest milestones of this phase-in are as follows:
    - 2005-2006 school year: limited implementation of <u>market incentives</u>, <u>tuition reimbursement</u> and <u>distinguished school</u> incentives, beginning January 1, 2006.
    - 2006-2007 school year: all elements of the system will be implemented.
    - 2007-2008 school year: all <u>elements</u> of the system will continue to be implemented and all <u>elements</u> of the system will be evaluated according to section 4.3 of this Agreement prior to renegotiation of this Agreement in fall 2009.
  - 5.1.2 Revenue Must Be Raised to Implement the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. This Agreement initially requires \$25,000,000 in earmarked continuing revenue to allow implementation. The system shall not be implemented until these funds are available.
  - 5.1.3 In the event that the Transition Team determines the milestones in 5.1.1 are not met leading to the inability of teachers to receive the equivalent economic value of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>, then individual members of the bargaining unit who have previously opted-in would be allowed to opt out.

# 6 Entering the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.

- 6.1 Option for Teachers Hired Before January 1, 2006 to Enter the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. Teachers hired by the District before January 1, 2006 shall have the option of joining the system or remaining on the salary schedule in the Master Agreement. Teachers hired January 1, 2006 or later shall enter the Professional Compensation System for Teachers and shall be paid according to the provisions of this Agreement.
  - 6.1.1 **Seven "Opt-In Windows."** Teachers hired before January 1, 2006 shall be provided an opportunity to enter the Professional Compensation Plan for Teachers between January 1 and March 30. These opt-in windows will recur annually between January and March from 2005 to January 2011.
    - 6.1.1.1 Teachers who enter the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> will not have the option of returning to the <u>Master Agreementâs salary schedule</u>.
    - 6.1.1.2 Beginning May 2004, the Department of Human Resources shall be responsible for providing teachers with data to inform their decision whether to enter the <u>Professional Compensation System for teachers</u>, including an online teacher compensation calculator.
  - 6.2 Compensation for Teachers Hired before January 1, 2006 Who Enter the Professional Compensation System for System.
    - 6.2.1 Teacher Salary Upon Entering the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. At any time when a DPS Teacher hired before January 1, 2006 enters the Professional Compensation System for Teachers, their annual earnings shall be the sum of their current rate of salary earned under the Master Agreement up to the point of entry into the Professional Compensation System for Teachers plus any salary and bonuses earned under this Agreement.
    - 6.2.2 Teachers who enter the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> as it is being phased-in shall be compensated as follows:
      - 6.2.2.1 Teachers who enter the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> in the window for the 2005-2006 school year shall receive all <u>salary</u> increases for experience, longevity and education they would otherwise receive under the <u>Master Agreement</u>âs <u>salary</u> schedule. In addition, those teachers shall be eligible to receive <u>market incentives</u> and <u>distinguished school</u> <u>bonuses</u> according to section 5.1.1 of this Agreement.
      - 6.2.2.2 Teachers who enter the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> in the window for the 2005-2006 school year or the window for the 2006-2007 school year will receive credit for hours or degrees not already used for advancement toward the next education lane on the <u>Master Agreementâs salary</u> schedule. Credit shall be awarded on a basis pro-rated for the number of semester credits they have earned in proportion to the number necessary to advance to the next education lane. The Department for Human Resources shall determine the number of semester credits a teacher shall be granted based on the District Guidelines for <u>Salary</u> Schedule Placement and Advancement.

6.2.3 When non-probationary teachers enter the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> on a non-evaluation year, they shall receive a <u>salary</u> increase of 1% of <u>index</u> each year for no more than two years until they are synchronized with the timeline for conducting teacher evaluation. When non-probationary teachers enter the system on an evaluation year they shall receive a <u>salary</u> increase of 3% of <u>index</u> the following year for satisfactory performance according to section 7.4.3.

#### 7 Components and Elements of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers

- 7.1 Organization into Components and Elements. The Professional Compensation for Teachers is organized into four components: Knowledge and Skills, Professional Evaluation, Market Incentives and Student Growth. Each component is, in turn, organized into elements. These elements define both the specific increases that will be awarded to teachers and the specific activities that teachers must accomplish to receive the increase.
  - 7.1.1 Rationale and Specification Statements. <u>Elements</u> of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> are defined in detailed rationale and specification statements, including all management specifications required for implementation. The District and Association will publish rationale and specification statements, on the website of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>, www.denverteachercompensation.org.
- 7.2 Compensation Index. Compensation amounts used in the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> are based on the index in section 7.7 of this Agreement unless otherwise noted in this Agreement.
  - 7.2.1 Adjustment of the Compensation <u>Index</u> Prior to Implementation. Prior to implementation of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers this number shall be adjusted through collective bargaining.

#### 7.3 Knowledge and Skills Component

- 7.3.1 Compensation for Professional Development Units. Teachers who complete one Professional Development Unit in their current or proposed area of assignment shall be awarded a <u>salary</u> increase of 2% of the <u>index</u> on the next scheduled payday that is at least twenty-five (25) days after the teacher has properly submitted all required documentation to the Department of Human Resources.
  - 7.3.1.1 Teachers may receive up to one Professional Development Unit per year.
  - 7.3.1.2 Teachers may defer credit for <u>Professional Development Units</u> for up to two school years prior to properly submitting all required documentation to the Department of Human Resources.
  - 7.3.1.3 The Transition Team will oversee the development implementation and evaluation of the Professional Development Protocol, which defines the conditions that must be met by teachers when completing Professional Development Units, including rules for determining current or proposed area of assignment and the length of time needed to complete one professional development unit. The Transition Team will make every effort to make sure that these protocols can be uniformly applied.
    - 7.3.1.3.1 The Professional Development Protocol will include the following specifications:
      - Standards for objectively determining a teacherâs current or proposed area of assignment.
      - Rules governing how teachers may defer <u>professional development units</u> earned for up to two years prior to properly submitting them to the Department of Human Resources.
      - Methods for teachers to initiate their own professional development activities with appropriate quality assurance.
      - Methods for groups or teams of teachers to collaborate on professional development activities with appropriate quality assurance.
      - Methods for teachers to propose innovative or creative professional development opportunities with appropriate quality assurance.
  - 7.3.1.4 The Transition Team will oversee the publication of a source of professional development opportunities for teachers.
  - 7.3.1.5 Teachers may complete <u>Professional Development Units</u> all or in part during their professional work week, and all or in part in the course of their regularly assigned teaching duties.
  - 7.3.1.6 Teachers who complete <u>Professional Development Units</u> as a part of paid district in service shall receive both hourly pay for attending the in-service as provided for by the <u>Master Agreement</u> and for <u>salary</u> increases for completing <u>Professional Development Units</u> as long as their activities meet the criteria for the DPS/DCTA Professional Development Protocol.
  - 7.3.1.7 Teachers who complete district required coursework as part of required district in-service, such as the

teacher induction program, teacher in residence program, training for the Literacy Program or training for the English Language Acquisition program, may count their service in those programs toward Professional Development Units as long as their activities meet the criteria for the DPS/DCTA Professional Development Protocol.

- 7.3.1.8 Teachers with performance evaluations of unsatisfactory will complete <u>Professional Development Units</u> assigned to them by their Professional Improvement Plan.
- 7.3.2 Compensation for <u>Advanced Degrees</u> and National Certificates.
  - 7.3.2.1 Salary Increases for Advance Degrees. Teachers who complete an advanced degree relevant to their current or proposed assignment shall be awarded a salary increase of 9% of the index on the next scheduled payday that is at least twenty-five (25) days after the teacher has properly submitted all required documentation to the Department of Human Resources.
    - 7.3.2.1.1 Teachers may complete more than one advanced degree although no teacher shall receive credit for more that one degree in a three year period.
  - 7.3.2.2 <u>Salary Increases for Active NBPTS Licenses</u>. Teachers who hold active licenses issued by National Board for Professional Teaching Standards (NBPTS) shall be awarded a <u>salary</u> increase of 9% of the <u>index</u> on the next scheduled payday that is at least twenty-five (25) days after the teacher has properly submitted all documentation to the Department of Human Resources.
    - 7.3.2.2.1 Teachers who do not renew their NBPTS license will lose their <u>salary</u> increase until such time as they renew their license.
    - 7.3.2.2.2 Teachers may complete more than one NBPTS license and receive an additional salary increase of 9% of the index so long as it is relevant to their proposed or current assignment.
  - 7.3.2.3 Other Licenses and Certificates Recognized for Compensation. Teachers who hold licenses or certificates recognized by the District may receive a <u>salary</u> increase based on the <u>index</u> on the next scheduled payday that is at least twenty-five days after the teacher has properly submitted all required documentation to the Department of Human Resources.
    - 7.3.2.3.1 Following the process described in section 3.5.1 of this Agreement, the District and Association shall agree upon a list of recognized licenses and certificates for as a part of annual negotiations of the Master Agreement beginning in spring 2005.
    - 7.3.2.3.2 Teachers may be compensated for more than one recognized license or certificate and paid an additional <u>salary</u> increase based on a percent of <u>index</u> so long as it is relevant to their current or proposed assignment.
  - 7.3.2.4 Salary Increases for Teachers Upon Successful Completion of the Teacher In Residence Program.
    - 7.3.2.4.1 Teachers participating in the Teachers in Residence Program shall receive an annual <u>salary</u> of 5% of index less than entry salary.
    - 7.3.2.4.2 Teachers participating in the Teachers in Residence Program shall be eligible to receive all increases in the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>.
    - 7.3.2.4.3 When a teacher participating in the Teachers in Residence Program successfully completes the program, the teacher shall receive a <u>salary</u> increase of 5% of the <u>index</u>.
- 7.3.3 <u>Tuition Reimbursement</u>. Teachers shall receive reimbursement for up to a career maximum of \$1000 spent on tuition for coursework in their current or proposed area of assignment. The Transition Team shall oversee the development of guidelines for <u>tuition reimbursement</u>.

## 7.4 Professional Evaluation Component

- 7.4.1 The Current Teacher Evaluation System Shall Remain In Effect until the Teacher Evaluation Committee Agrees Upon Changes. The current teacher evaluation process will remain in use without change until the Teacher Evaluation Committee develops a new system to be called "The Professional Teacher Evaluation System."
- 7.4.2 Design of the <u>Professional Evaluation</u> System by the Teacher Evaluation Committee. Before the compensation <u>elements</u> described in this section can be implemented for pay, the Advisory School District Personnel Performance Evaluation Council, or Teacher Evaluation Committee, shall develop a new Professional

Teacher Evaluation System.

- 7.4.2.1 Composition. The Teacher Evaluation Committee shall be composed of teachers, administrators and community members and conducted in accordance with Colorado statute and Article 10 of the Master Agreement. The Teacher Evaluation Committee shall be able to create subcommittees with the purpose of ensuring the <a href="Professional Teacher Evaluation System">Professional Teacher Evaluation System</a> is appropriately and fairly adapted for all members of the bargaining unit.
  - 7.4.2.1.1 Student Services Representation and Subcommittee. The Teacher Evaluation Committee shall include a representative of the student services department, and shall establish a subcommittee of DCTA members and managers from the Student Services department whose purpose is to fairly and appropriately adapt the <u>professional evaluation</u> system to the disciplines they represent.
  - 7.4.2.1.2 Charge of the Teacher Evaluation Committee. The Teacher Evaluation Committee shall design a system for evaluating teacher performance that includes the following specifications established by the Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation:
    - Emphasizes inter-rater reliability
    - Based on a fall-to-spring evaluation cycle
    - Uses well-developed rubrics articulating different levels of teacher performance
    - Makes clear distinctions between professional evaluation and corrective action
    - Incorporates formative and summative peer evaluation
    - Incorporates peer assistance for teachers whose performance is found unsatisfactory
    - Includes a component for a 30 to 90 day remediation plan
    - Includes a development plan that begins concurrently with the 30 to 90 day remediation plan but runs a minimum of one yearâs length if the teacher is successful on the remediation plan.
    - Allows for "special evaluation" should a teacherâs performance be identified as unsatisfactory in years out of the evaluation cycle
    - Incorporates a self-evaluation component
- 7.4.2.3 Commitment to Pilot Testing the <u>Professional Teacher Evaluation System</u>. Prior to implementing the <u>Professional Teacher Evaluation System</u> to make compensation decisions according to the provisions of this Agreement, the Teacher Evaluation Committee shall conduct trials and evaluate the fairness and effectiveness of the evaluation system for the purpose of accurately observing and improving teacher performance, and for making compensation decisions.
- 7.4.2.4 Timeline. The recommendations of the Teacher Evaluation Committee may lead to revision of Article 10 of the <u>Master Agreement</u> as a part of contract negotiations in the spring 2005 or at any other time mutually agreed to by the District and Association.
- 7.4.3 Timeline for <u>Professional Evaluation</u> and Compensation for <u>Satisfactory Performance</u>. Other than special evaluation, all <u>professional evaluation</u> of teachers under the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> shall be conducted on a timeline determined by the teacherâs years of service with the district. The Department of Human Resources shall be responsible for maintaining accurate records of years of service to determine the years when teachers are eligible for <u>professional evaluation</u>.
  - 7.4.3.1 Probationary Evaluation. Probationary teachers shall be evaluated every year for the first three years of their service in the District. Upon receiving a satisfactory evaluation, probationary teachers shall receive a salary increase of 1% of the index. Increases for satisfactory probationary evaluation shall be effective July 1 of the upcoming school year.
  - 7.4.3.2 Non-Probationary Evaluation. Non-Probationary teachers shall be evaluated every three years, beginning with their fourth year of service in the District. Upon receiving a satisfactory evaluation, non-probationary teachers shall receive a <u>salary</u> increase of 3% of <u>index</u>. Increases for satisfactory non-probationary evaluation shall be effective July 1 of the upcoming school year.

Table One: Timeline for Conducting Teacher Evaluation																						
Years Probationary Evaluation Service Non-Probationary Evaluation					Evalu	ation																
Service	1	2	2	3		4	7		10	13	16	19	22	25	28	31	34	37	40	43	46	49

7.4.4 <u>Unsatisfactory Performance</u>. Teachers whose performance is found unsatisfactory shall have their <u>salary</u> increase for <u>satisfactory performance</u> delayed for a minimum of a year and until such time as they successfully complete a development plan. When a teacher successfully completes a development plan and their performance is found to be satisfactory, the <u>salary</u> increase that was delayed shall be restored and effective on July 1 of the following school year.

## 7.5 Market Incentive Component.

- 7.5.1 General Provisions. The District will administer <u>market incentives</u> according to the general provisions set forth in this section.
  - 7.5.1.1 Market incentives shall be paid in equal monthly amounts and effective July 1 of the year a teacher is placed in the eligible assignment. If at any time a teacher leaves an eligible assignment before the end of the school year for reasons other than retirement, the teacher will stop receiving the bonus on their next paycheck.
  - 7.5.1.2 Teachers shall be eligible to receive <u>bonuses</u> for serving in both <u>hard-to-staff assignments</u> as defined in section 7.5.2 of this Agreement and <u>hard-to-serve schools</u> as defined in section 7.5.3 of this Agreement.
  - 7.5.1.3 Teachers assigned part time to <u>hard-to-staff assignments</u> shall receive the <u>bonus</u> pro rated based on the amount of time per work or work year they spend in the assignment. Teachers assigned part time to multiple hard-to-staff assignments shall receive multiple, pro-rated bonuses.
  - 7.5.1.4 Should funds be available, the District and Association may agree to create broader incentive packages to further encourage teachers to fill hard-to-staff assignments or hard-to-serve schools.
  - 7.5.1.5 The Transition Team shall identify assignments and schools eligible to receive <u>market incentives</u> annually no later than January in preparation for the upcoming school staffing cycle.
  - 7.5.1.6 Teachers who receive <u>market incentives</u> and are administratively transferred or reduced from building staff shall receive the incentive for one more year if they agree in writing to be placed in a similarly situated vacant assignment.
- 7.5.2 <u>Hard-to-Staff Assignments</u>. Teachers working in assignments identified by the District and Association as hard-to-staff shall be awarded a <u>bonus</u> of 3% of the <u>index</u>.
  - 7.5.2.1 The Transition Team will use a mutually agreed upon set of data that includes data on teacher supply and teacher turnover as a basis for identifying hard-to-staff assignments.
- 7.5.3 <u>Hard-to-Serve Schools</u>. Teachers working in schools identified by the District and Association as hard-to-serve shall be awarded a <u>bonus</u> of 3% of the <u>index</u>.
  - 7.5.3.1 The Transition Team will use a mutually agreed upon set of data that includes student demographics as the basis for identifying hard-to-serve schools.
  - 7.5.3.2 The District and Association recognize that a persistent, high rate of teacher turnover is not an adequate indicator of <u>hard-to-serve schools</u>. District and Association further recognize that a persistent, high rate of teacher turnover may be detrimental to student achievement. Therefore the District and Association agree to annually identify and address the situation of those schools with high rates of teacher turnover.

## 7.6. Student Growth

# 7.6.1 Annual Student Growth Objectives

- 7.6.1.1 Objective Setting. All teachers shall annually set two <u>student growth</u> objectives in collaboration with their principal or supervisor. The objectives shall be based on the teacherâs current assignment.
  - 7.6.1.1.1 Teachers and principals will set objectives following the guidelines developed and annually revised by the Transition Team.
  - 7.6.1.1.2 Teachers shall not use CSAP to set their <u>annual student growth objectives</u>. The Transition Team will evaluate any other state mandated standardized test before allowing teachers to use them in annual student growth objectives.
  - 7.6.1.1.3 The Transition Team will provide teachers and principals with on-going professional development on how to set appropriate annual student growth objectives.

- 7.6.1.1.4 The Transition Team will provide assistance and mediation for principals and teachers who are unable to reach consensus when setting <u>annual student growth objectives</u>. Members of the Professional Review Panel may be called upon to assist principals and teachers unable to reach consensus when setting objectives.
- 7.6.1.2 Compensation for Meeting <u>Annual Student Growth Objectives</u>. Teachers who meet both of their <u>annual student growth objectives</u> will be awarded a <u>salary</u> increase of 1% of the <u>index</u>. Teachers who meet one of their <u>annual student growth objectives</u> will be awarded a <u>bonus</u> of 1% of the <u>index</u>. Teachers who do not meet either of their <u>annual student growth objectives</u> shall receive neither a <u>salary</u> increase nor a <u>bonus</u> under this element.
  - 7.6.1.2.1 <u>Salary</u> Increases and <u>bonuses</u> for meeting objectives shall be effective July 1 of each year following demonstration that objectives have been met based on analysis of appropriate student growth data by the teacher and principal.
  - 7.6.1.2.2 Objectives may be held in a status of unpaid, pending data until November of each year. <u>Salary</u> increases and <u>bonus</u>es awarded as the result of pending data shall be made retroactively to July 1. All objectives unresolved by December 1 of the following school year shall not be paid.
- 7.6.2 Exceeding District Expectations on the Colorado Student Assessment Program (CSAP) Test.
  - 7.6.2.1 Setting Expectations for <u>Student Growth</u> Measured by CSAP. The District and Association will use a mutually agreed upon and annually reviewed method to measure <u>student growth</u> using the CSAP Test. This method will be developed by the Transition Team and will be based on technical specifications and shall meet the following standards:
    - Calculations shall be based only on individual student growth based on two test scores.
    - Calculations may not be based on student performance levels or comparing performance levels of classes of students over two years.
    - Calculations must include systematic methods for associating students with eligible teachers.

The technical specifications for expectations for <u>student growth</u> measured by CSAP shall be published on the website of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>: www.denverteachercompensation.org.

- 7.6.2.2 Compensation for Teachers who Exceed Expectations for Student Growth Measured by CSAP.

  Teachers who exceed expectations for student growth measured by the CSAP shall receive a sustainable increase of 3% of the index. Teachers who meet expectations for student growth measured by CSAP shall receive no increase. Teachers who fail to meet expectations for student growth and who have earned a previous increase exceeding CSAP expectations shall receive a sustainable decrease of 3% of the index. Sustainable increases shall be maintained as a part of a teacherâs annual compensation until such time as a teacher receives a sustainable decrease.
  - 7.6.2.2.1 Only teachers who directly teach math or literacy/language arts shall be eligible to receive compensation for exceeding district expectations for <u>student growth</u> measured by CSAP. The Transition Team will mutually agree upon a list of such assignments and review it annually.
  - 7.6.2.2.2 Sustainable increases shall be awarded in early fall following analysis of CSAP data by the District
  - 7.6.2.2.3 The Transition Team shall annually review the process for analyzing CSAP data and identifying teachers who exceed district expectations.

## 7.6.3 Distinguished Schools.

- 7.6.3.1 Identifying <u>Distinguished Schools</u>. The District and Association will use a mutually agreed upon and annually reviewed method to measure school performance. This method will be developed by the Transition Team and will be based on technical specifications and shall meet the following standards:
  - The method shall include multiple measures of school performance.
  - The method shall include substantially more information on student performance than Colorado School Accountability Ratings or Adequate Yearly Progress, and shall include measures that show student growth based on two consecutive years of data.
  - The method shall include student performance data from other sources than the CSAP test.
  - The method shall include data other than student test scores, including but not limited to data gathered from school satisfaction surveys and student attendance.

The technical specifications for expectations for measuring school performance shall be published on the

- 7.6.3.2 Compensation for Teachers in <u>Distinguished Schools</u>. Teachers at schools that are identified as distinguished using the method described in section 7.6.3.1 of this Agreement will receive a <u>bonus</u> of 2% of the index.
  - 7.6.3.2.1 Teachers who work part time in <u>distinguished schools</u> shall receive the <u>bonus</u> pro-rated based on the days they serve in the school. Teachers who serve part time in multiple <u>distinguished schools</u> shall receive multiple pro-rated <u>bonus</u>es.
  - 7.6.3.2.2 Bonuses shall be awarded in early fall following analysis of CSAP data by the District.
  - 7.6.3.2.3 The Transition Team shall annually review the method for using multiple measures to identify distinguished schools.
- 7.7 Summary Table of Components and <u>Elements</u>. Table Two summarizes the economic values and operational details of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. The District and Association will accurately maintain this table to reflect this Agreement. They will publish this table to all <u>bargaining unit members</u> and review it before hiring new teachers. Any changes in this table are subject to collective bargaining as described in this Agreement and the <u>Master Agreement</u>.
- 7.8 Negotiating Cost of Living Adjustments to the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. Negotiated annual cost of living adjustments will be applied in equal percentage value to the <u>salary index</u> and the salaries of all teachers. Cost of living adjustments will be effective July 1 of each year.
- 7.9 Financial Model. Upon ratification of the Professional Compensation for Teachers the Board of Directors for the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund shall be responsible for maintaining the Financial Model developed by the Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation. The District and Association shall use the Financial Model to inform contract negotiations and any other discussions about the economic function and/or impact of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. DPS shall be responsible for providing information to maintain the Financial Model.
  - 7.9.1 The Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation shall prepare a list of information necessary to maintain the Financial Model.
  - 7.9.2 The Financial Model shall be subject to both internal evaluation and external evaluation conducted according to sections 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 of this Agreement.
- 7.10 Initial Placement of Newly Hired Teachers. The District shall place newly hired teachers according to only these rules. Except for teachers in the Teacher in Residence Program who are compensated according to section 7.3.2.4
  - 7.10.1 Newly hired teachers with no outside experience credit shall be placed at a fixed entry salary. In the 2003-2004 school year entry salary shall be equal to 100% of the index.
  - 7.10.2 Newly hired teachers with outside experience shall be granted between 2% and 4% of index for every year of recognized outside service based on the value of the experience outside the District. This amount shall be added to the district entry salary to create their individual entry salary.
    - 7.10.2.1 The Department of Human Resources shall develop procedures for granting credit for outside experience.
  - 7.10.3 In addition to <u>entry salary</u> defined above, newly hired teachers shall also be eligible for <u>elements</u> of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers for which they are qualified.
- 7.11 Extended Leaves of Absence. Teachers on leave shall receive compensation in accordance with Appendix B of the Master Agreement. The Transition Team shall review policies and procedures to ensure alignment between the Professional Compensation System for Teachers and DPS policy on extended leaves of absence.

Та	ble Two: Sumi	mary of Basic I	Facts, Compor	nents and <u>Ele</u>	ments of the F	Professional	Compensat	ion System	for Teachers	
Basic Facts	District	Entry Salary	\$32,971				Index	\$32,971		
Components	ponents Knowledge and Sk			kills Professional Evaluation			ncentives	Student Growth		
<u>Element</u> s	Elements  Salary increase of 2% Index for completing Professional Development Units		\$1000 for tuition reimbursement	Salary increase of 1% of index when rated satisfactory as probationary teacher	Salary increase of 3% of index when rated satisfactory as non- probationary teacher	Bonus of 3% of index for serving in a hard-to-staff assignment	Bonus of 3% of index for serving in a hard-to- serve assignment	Salary Increase of 1% of Index for Meeting Both Annual Student Growth Objectives. Bonus of 1% of Index for Meeting One of two Annual Student Growth Objectives. No Increase for Meeting Neither Objective Neither Objective	Sustainable increase of 3% of Index for exceeding expectations on the CSAP Test No increase for meeting expectations. Sustainable decrease of 3% of Index for falling below expectations on the CSAP only if a previous increase has been earned.	Bonus of 2% of Index for serving in a distinguished school based on multiple measures of student performance.
Dollar Value of Increase When Index is \$32,971	\$659	\$2,967	\$1,000	\$330	\$989	\$989	\$989	\$330	\$989	\$659
Who Decides Who Receives the Increase?	Method agreed to by DPS and DCTA	Method agreed to by DPS and DCTA	Method agreed to by DPS and DCTA	Principal, with assistance of peer evaluators if necessary	Principal, with assistance of peer evaluators if necessary	Method agreed to by DPS and DCTA	Method agreed to by DPS and DCTA	Teacher and principal reach consensus	Method agreed to by DPS and DCTA	Method agreed to by DPS and DCTA
When is the Increase Applied?	Upon submission of proper documentation	Upon submission of proper documentation	Upon submission of proper documentation	July 1; delayed at least one year if rated unsatisfactory	July 1; delayed at least one year if rated unsatisfactory	July 1	July 1	July 1	In early fall upon analysis of CSAP data	In early fall, upon analysis of multiple measures of school performance
Does the Increase Build Pension and Final Average Salary Under PERA?		Yes	No	Yes	Yes	will seek to element buil	S and DCTA o make this d pension by 06 SY.	Yes	Yes	Yes
In what school year will this element begin operating?	2006-2007	2006-2007	2005-2006	2006-2007	2006-2007	2005	-2006	2006-2007	2006-2007	2005-2006

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have caused their corporate names to be hereunto subscribed by their respective Presidents and attested by their

DENVER CLASSROOM TEACHERS ASSOCIATION	SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 IN THE CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER
By	Ву
Rebecca Wissink President	Lester Woodward President, Board of Education
ATTEST:	ATTEST:
By Connie White Secretary	By Michelle Moss Secretary, Board of Education

#### 8 Appendices.

The appendices that follow are included with this Agreement in the interest of informing teachers, administrators and the community. They are not ratified as a part of this Agreement

# 8.1 The Charge of the Joint Task Force for Teacher Compensation

In November 2003 the Design Team will present a comprehensive report on the Pay for Performance Pilot to the Board of Education and the Members of the Association. That report will include recommendations for an objective setting process and <u>salary</u> system based, in part, on teacher performance linked to student achievement.

Therefore, the Denver Public Schools and the Denver Classroom Teachers Association agree to establish a Task Force to prepare a fair, equitable and affordable <u>salary</u> system based on teacher performance to be included as a part of that recommendation.

The Task Force shall be composed of five teachers and one community member selected by the Association and three principals, two central office administrators, and one community member selected by the district. The teachers should include at least one representative from elementary school, middle school, high school, and <a href="mailto:specialists">specialists</a>. The principals should represent elementary school, middle school and high school. The Pay for Performance Design Team and other representatives from the District and Association will provide assistance to the Task Force.

The Task Force shall research private and public sector compensation and accountability systems. It shall use this research and the experience of the Pay for Performance Design Team to develop and analyze model <u>salary</u> systems appropriate for teacher pay for performance in DPS.

The Task Force shall convene in August 2001. It shall be co-chaired by one teacher and one administrator appointed by the Task Force. All decisions of the Task Force shall be made by consensus.

The Task Force shall report to the Board of Education and the Representative Council of the Association no less than every three months.

The work of the Task Force shall be separate from the collective bargaining process and completed by June 2003

#### 8.2 Statement of Beliefs from the 2002-2005 Master Agreement

The Board and the Association share the belief that providing a high quality education for the children of Denver is the paramount objective of the School District. Both parties affirm that the educational program should be sensitive to the needs and aspirations of children regardless of race, color, ethnic background, creed or economic status. This is reflected in the mission statements adopted by the Denver Classroom Teachers Association and the Denver Public Schools:

The mission of the Denver Public Schools, the center of community learning, is to guarantee that our children and youth acquire knowledge, skills, and values to become self-sufficient citizens by providing personalized learning experiences for all students in innovative partnerships with all segments of the community.

The Denver Classroom Teachers Association is a professional organization of recognized educational leaders. We advocate for the rights and responsibilities of all educators, and for an ethical system of quality public education for all students.

Quality teaching and high teacher morale promote positive learning environments for students. Attaining the educational goals of the Denver Public Schools requires mutual understanding and cooperation between the Board and the Association. To this end, good-faith negotiations between the Board and the Association with a free and open exchange of views are desirable.

In negotiating this Agreement, the Board and the Association, with the concurrence of the Community, have three major goals for joint school reform efforts:

- Greater success for all students as reflected in higher achievement.
- A significantly higher completion rate that moves the District toward its goal of graduating all students from the K-12 educational program.
- An improvement in the Community's level of confidence that the Denver Public Schools, as an institution, provides
  effective education for all students.

## 8.3 Framework for Partnership from the 2002-2005 Master Agreement

It is in the interest of both the School District and the Association that the terms of the Agreement be understood and enforced. The Agreement between the School District and the Association is typically referred to as the "teachers" contract. In some quarters, this reference implies that the Agreement is solely for the benefit of the teachers and minimizes the benefits that result to the School District through the Agreement.

Enforcement of and compliance with the Agreement is essential. However, both parties have a greater interest in developing a joint ownership and commitment in terms of both the letter and spirit of the Agreement. The Agreement will become essential to furthering the desired partnership between the School District and the Association. The School District and the Association recognize their collective responsibility to promote positive change in the Denver Public Schools in an effort to promote education reform to benefit all students and to ensure professional collaboration between the School District and the Association. Following is a systemic framework for improving the enforcement of the Agreement while laying a foundation for joint ownership and a greater commitment to living under the terms of the Agreement.

- Interest-Based Bargaining Our use of Interest-Based Bargaining will contribute to the joint ownership, enforcement and
  commitment of the resulting Agreement. We are aware of our efforts and the environment that it is creating for a strong partnership
  relationship. We recommend utilizing an Interest-Based approach for problem solving and decision-making in all areas of the
  District
- The Agreement The Agreement reflects the core beliefs and values of the School District and the Association. It utilizes clear and
  unambiguous language to describe the procedures all teachers and administrators will follow. In doing so, we will improve our
  success in increased learning for all students and closing the achievement gap.
- Training We recognize the need for regular training jointly with administrators and teachers in this Agreement. The training should focus not just on the rules, but also emphasize problem-solving skills and relationship building.
- Organizational Structure Organizations in the District have an explicit role in supporting and promoting the enforcement of and
  commitment to the Agreement. The Board, and the Association governance bodies understand the importance of their roles,
  encouraging everyone in the District to respect the terms of the Agreement and use it as a tool to jointly resolve legitimate
  differences.
- o Communications -A formal communications strategy will be developed to share and explain information about this Agreement.

#### 8.4 Standards for Behavior in Our Partnership

In an effort to foster and support a greater commitment in terms of both the letter and spirit of the Agreement, the District and Association offer the following "Partnership" Guidelines. These guidelines suggest ways that will support positive change within Denver Public Schools in our efforts to resolve educational issues and to promote positive change to the benefit of all students.

In addition, these guidelines offer additional techniques to ensure more effective collaborative problem solving between the District and the Association. It is important that we all make a concerted effort to utilize and "interest-based" approach for problem solving and decision-making in all areas of the District.

These guidelines can be applied at the District level, in the school building and in one on one situations. Our collective ability to successfully use this approach will contribute to and enhance a positive school and District climate.

o Practical Guidelines Use an interest-based approach to problem solving. Agree on what needs to be worked on

Jointly launch the initiative together

- o Take on issues honestly and openly ö not based on who has the power
- $\circ\,$  Focus on an outcome(s) that will advance the educational goals of the District
- o Have clear timelines and deliverables
- o Respect the views of all parties and their right and responsibility to express these views

Contribute the best you have to work on the problem

Recognize you may see things from different perspectives

Disagree without being disagreeable

Recognize each otheras roles as a representative of another constituent group

o Jointly validate information received

Gather necessary information before making a decision Gather expertise from both within and outside of the District

o Joint communication in an appropriate and timely manner

Have an in-depth communications plan ö communicate progress and final results

Give the same answers together as partners

Give each other a heads up ö donât blindside

Assume the best of the other party, not the worst

o Learn from your mistakes ö Build in processes for evaluation and feedback

# 8.5 Glossary

Agreement, teachers will receive a salary increase of 9% of the index for each advanced degree they earn.

Annual Earnings ö The sum of all of a teacherâs <u>salary</u> in a twelve month period, including <u>salary</u>, <u>bonus</u>es and any other extra pay.

Annual Student Growth Objectives ö Objective set collaboratively between a teacher and principal. Objectives must be job-based and establish expectations for student growth using baseline data. Objectives may not be based on CSAP results. In the Professional Compensation System for teachers set two objectives each year. Teachers who meet both objectives receive a salary increase of 1% of index. Teachers who meet one objective receive a bonus of 1% of index. Teachers who meet neither objective receive no increase.

Bargaining Unit Members ö Employees represented by the DCTA. The Master Agreement defines bargaining unit members as by Articles 1-2 and 3-1. They include teachers, nurses, social workers, therapists, psychologists, counselors, speech language instructors, educational audiologists and JROTC instructors.

**Bonus** ö One time or payment that does not become part of a teacherâs <u>salary</u>. Under the <u>Master Agreement</u>, teachers receive bonuses for teaching in ELA-S assignments. Under the Professional Compensation System for Teachers, teachers would be eligible for bonuses if they filled <u>hard-to-staff assignments</u>, worked in a hard-to-serve- school, worked in a <u>distinguished school</u>, or for meeting one of two <u>student growth</u> objectives.

Career Earnings ö The sum of all earnings, salary plus bonuses, for all of the years they teach in DPS.

COLA ö Cost of living adjustments, or annual increases to the <u>salary</u> system that account for inflation. When DPS and DCTA agree to cost of living adjustments as a part of annual collective bargaining, the adjustments will be made equally on the <u>Master Agreement</u> salary schedule and on Table Two of the <u>ProComp Agreement</u>. Collective Bargaining ö The process by which the District and Association negotiate changes to the Labor Agreement, including annual cost of living adjustments. Both the <u>Master Agreement</u> and the <u>ProComp Agreement</u> are subject to collective bargaining.

Component ö The broad categories of compensation under the <a href="ProComp Agreement">ProComp Agreement</a>. There are four components under the <a href="ProComp Agreement">ProComp Agreement</a>, <a href="Knowledge">Knowledge</a> and Skills, <a href="ProFessional Evaluation">Professional Evaluation</a>, <a href="Market Incentives">Market Incentives</a> and Student Growth.

CSAP Incentives ö The element of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers that rewards teachers who exceed a range of expected performance based on CSAP scores shall earn a <u>sustainable increase</u> of 3% of the <u>index</u>. Under this <u>element</u>, teachers who fall within that range of expected performance will earn no increase. Teachers who fall below that range of expected performance will lose a <u>sustainable increase</u> of 3% of <u>index</u> if they have earned on in the past.

Distinguished School ö The Element of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers that rewards teachers with a bonus of 2% of index when they work in schools recognized for outstanding performance. DPS and DCTA will agree annually on distinguished schools. Schools will be recognized as Distinguished based on 30-40 school performance indicators. These include outstanding results based on student growth data and factors such as school climate, attendance and graduation rates.

**Element** ö Specific building blocks in the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. <u>ProComp</u> is composed of 10 elements.

Entry Salary ö The annual salary paid to newly hired teachers who have no outside experience credit, advanced degrees, or other additional compensation awarded under the ProComp system.

Extra Duty Pay ö Compensation for teachers who take on extra duty paid based on rates established in Article 32 of the Master Agreement.

Hard-to-Serve Schoolsö Schools with a high percentage of students on free and reduced lunch. Teachers who work in a hard-to-serve school will receive a market incentive bonus of 3% of the index every year the school is eligible. DPS and DCTA will annually review the list of hard to serve schools.

**Hard-to-Staff Assignments** ö Teacher assignments where the supply of licensed professionals is low and the rate of turnover among licensed professionals is high. Examples of hard-to-staff assignments are ELA-S and special education center assignments. Teachers who work in hard-to-staff assignments will receive a bonus of 3% of index.

Index - A dollar amount negotiated by DPS and DCTA that would be the basis for determining percentage increases in <u>salary</u> and <u>bonuses</u> in the new compensation system. Under the <u>ProComp Agreement</u>, the index is initially established at \$32,971. It will be subject to routine cost of living adjustments through collective bargaining.

**Knowledge and Skills** ö The <u>component</u> of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> that rewards teachers for acquiring and demonstrating knowledge and skills.

Market Incentives ö The component of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers that rewards teachers incentives to recruit and retain them in schools and assignments that are difficult to fill. Teachers who are eligible will receive multiple market incentives

Master Agreement ö The contract between the District and Association that establishes all terms and conditions of employment for all members of the DCTA Bargaining Unit. The <a href="ProComp Agreement">ProComp Agreement</a> establishes a compensation system, but does not waive any of the other terms and conditions of employment established in the Master Agreement.

Mill Levy Override Electionö An election by voters to raise their property tax to increase school district operating budgets above limits imposed by state law.

**Opt In** ö Teachers hired before January 1, 2006 will have a choice to enter the Professional Compensation System for Teachers. Teachers who do not opt in will remain on the <u>Master Agreement</u>âs <u>salary</u> schedule.

**Opt In Windows** ö The period of time between January 1 and March 31 when teachers hired before January 1, 2006 would be allowed to enter the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.

Phase In ö The process of gradually implementing the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> based on the districtas capacity to support it. Under the <u>ProComp Agreement</u>, the Professional Compensation System for Teachers will be partially implemented in the 2005-2006 school year and fully implemented in the 2006-2007 school year.

**Probationary Evaluation** ö Evaluation for teachers during each of their first three years of their employment with the District. During their probationary period, teachers who receive satisfactory evaluations will receive a salary increase of 1% of index.

ProComp ö The Professional Compensation System for Teachers.

**ProComp Agreement** ö The labor agreement that establishes the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>. The ProComp Agreement is separate from the <u>Master Agreement</u> to ensure stability and security for teachers during the <u>phase in</u> of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers.

Professional Compensation System for Teachers ö The compensation system tentatively agreed to by the District and Association

Professional Development Unit - Teachers will receive a salary increase of 2% of index after 1) completing approved courses, 2) demonstrating their skills and 3) reflecting on the value of the knowledge for use with their students.

**Professional Evaluation** ö The component of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> that rewards teachers who receive performance ratings of satisfactory or better. DPS and DCTA have established a Teacher Evaluation Committee that will develop a new evaluation system for teachers.

**Professional Teacher Evaluation System** ö The fair, manageable process for teachers and principals evaluate teacher performance. The Teacher Evaluation Committee, which is composed of teachers, administrators and <u>specialists</u>, is designing a new <u>professional evaluation</u> system that would be pilot-tested before it is implemented.

Salary ö A teacherâs continuing annual compensation. Salary does not include bonuses or any other extra pay.

Satisfactory Performance ö Teachers who receive an evaluation indicating that their performance is satisfactory or better will receive a <u>salary</u> increase. Probationary teachers who receive satisfactory evaluations will receive a <u>salary</u> increase of 1% of the <u>index</u> each year of their three-year probationary period. Non-probationary teachers who receive satisfactory evaluations will receive a <u>salary</u> increase of 3% every three years.

Specialists - Under the new system, specialists-such as nurses, counselors, psychologists, student advisors and special education teachers-will have the same annual and career earnings opportunities as all teachers. Certifications will count equally and evaluations and student growth goals will be based on specialist criteria.

Student Growth - Ways to reward teachers for academic growth by their students.

**Sustainable Increase** - A sustainable increase is added to teachersâ earnings whenever they meet a predetermined goal. Sustainable increases accumulate with every year teachers meet their specified goals. When teachers fail to meet minimum goals, they lose one sustainable increase if they have earned one in the past.

Tuition Reimbursement - A lifetime account of \$1,000 will be available to reimburse teachers for completion of approved courses.

**Unsatisfactory Performance** ö Teachers who receive an evaluation indicating their performance is unsatisfactory under the <u>Professional Teacher Evaluation System</u> will have their <u>salary</u> increase for <u>satisfactory performance</u> delayed for at least one year and until they complete a remediation plan and a development plan.

# 8.6 Table Three

Calenda	r of Charged Duties						
Date	Charge						
March 20, 2004	ProComp Agreement becomes effective upon ratification						
April 1, 2004	The Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation shall publish a technical paper on the administration of COLA across both the Master Agreement and ProComp Agreement by this date						
May 1, 2004	Department of Human Resources shall be responsible for providing teachers with data to inform their decisions to enter ProComp.						
June 1,	The Design Team shall complete the first draft of the Transition Plan.						
2004	The District and Association shall appoint their representatives to the Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund						
July 1, 2004	The District and Association representatives on the Board of Directors shall appoint the community representatives to the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund. The Transition Team shall be composed of five representatives of the District and five representatives of the Association for the 2004-2005 school year						
December 1, 2004	The Student Services Committee shall complete an evidence-based review of certificates and licenses that warrant additional compensation.						
January 1, 2005	First "Opt-in Window" begins and runs to March 2005.						
Spring 2005	The District and Association complete collective bargaining for the Master Agreement, including negotiation of Article 10, Teacher Evaluation						
January	All employees are automatically enrolled in ProComp upon hiring						
ll1. 2006 l	Limited implementation of ProComp, including market incentives and bonuses for teachers in distinguished schools. Second "Opt-in Window" begins and runs to March 2006.						
Spring 2006	The District and Association shall collaborate to write the agreement for the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund						
July 1, 2006	Full implementation of all elements of ProComp.						
November 1, 2006	Tentative date for holding the election for the ProComp						
January 1, 2007	Third "Opt-in Window" begins and runs to March 2007.						
October 1, 2007	Deadline for renegotiating ProComp Agreement						
January 1, 2008	Fourth "Opt-in Window" begins and runs to March 2008.						
April 1, 2008	The Transition Team shall recommend the third-party, independent evaluator of the ProComp.						
January 1, 2009	Fifth "Opt-in Window" begins and runs to March 2009.						
November 1, 2009	The third-party evaluation of <a href="ProComp">ProComp</a> shall be presented to the District, Association and the Board of Directors of the <a href="ProComp">Professional Compensation System for Teachers</a> prior to commencement of negotiations of the ProComp						
January 1, 2010	Sixth "Opt-in Window" begins and runs to March 2010.						
June 1, 2010	The transition team shall be sunsetted by the end of the 2009-2010 school year unless both the District and Association agree to extend it.						
October 1, 2010	Deadline for renegotiating ProComp Agreement						
January 1, 2011	Seventh "Opt-in Window" begins and runs to March 2011.						
December 31, 2013	ProComp Contract expires unless renegotiated						

# 8.7 Table Four

Duties C	Duties Charged to the District and Association by this Agreement						
Article	Duty						
1.3	enter into this Agreement in a spirit of collaboration						
1.3	agree to share responsibility for the development, implementation, evaluation and renegotiation of all initiatives described herein						
2.2.5	agree to abide by the provisions of this Agreement in good faith and apply them equally to all employees						
3.1.1.1	jointly plan and support the election campaign for the mill levy override, including development of ballot language						
3.1.1.2	shall jointly plan and support any other initiatives to seek funding for the Professional Compensation System for Teachers						
3.2	maintain the salary schedule in the Master Agreement						
3.3	shall agree to annual cost of living adjustments						
3.5	actively engage different groups of <u>bargaining unit members</u> to ensure that the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> is appropriately and fairly adapted for the jobs they do for the district						
3.6	recognize the importance of professional development for principals, teachers and administrators						
4.1	establish a trust fund created by the passage of a successful mill levy override election and such other moneys as may be earmarked, including interest earned on the principle for the purpose of funding the Professional						

	Compensation System for Teachers			
4.1.2	appoint representatives to the Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund			
4.1.4	collaborate to write the agreement establishing the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund			
4.3	jointly commission both an annual internal evaluation and an evaluation by an independent, third party evaluator of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers			
4.2.5	publish Transition Plan and rationale and specification statements, on the website of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers, www.denverteachercompensation.org			
7.3.2.3	shall agree upon a list of recognized licenses and certificates			
7.5.1.4	may agree to create broader incentive packages to further encourage teachers to fill <u>hard-to-staff assignments</u> or <u>hard-to-serve schools</u>			
7.5.3.2	annually identify and address the situation of those schools with high rates of teacher turnover			
7.6.2.1	use a mutually agreed upon and annually reviewed method to measure student growth using the CSAP Test			
7.6.3.1	use a mutually agreed upon and annually reviewed method to measure school performance			
7.7	accurately maintain Table Two			
7.9.2	7.9.2 use the Financial Model to inform contract negotiations and any other discussions about the economic function and/or impact of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers			

# 8.8 Table Five

	Duties Charged to the Transition Team of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers by this Agreement					
Article	Duty					
2.6.1.2	select members of the professional review panel					
2.6.1.3	shall commission the training of the professional review panel					
2.6.1.8	receive a summary of the cases reviewed by the professional review panel					
3.5.1.1	receive recommendations from the Specialized Services Committee of the Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation					
3.5.2	receive recommendations from the Counselors and Student Advisors Committee of the Joint Task Force on Teacher Compensation					
3.6	monitor and regularly advise the District and Association about all professional development related to the Professional Compensation System for Teachers					
4.2	monitor the phase-in of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> and regularly advise the Association, the District and the Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust					
4.2.1	develop, implement and evaluate a Transition Plan					

4.2.2.1	shall obtain external funding for release time assignments on the Transition Team
4.2.4	monitor and make regular revisions to the Transition Plan
4.2.4	present the Transition Plan to the Board of Education, the DCTA Board of Directors and the Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund no less than twice annually
4.2.7	remain in operation until the completion of the 2009-2010 school year
4.3.1	guide the on-going internal evaluation of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers
4.3.1	recommend to the District, the Association and the Board of Directors of the Teacher Compensation Trust Fund measures of performance of the <a href="elements">elements</a> of the <a href="Professional Compensation System for Teachers">Professional Compensation System for Teachers</a> to be used in the annual evaluation
4.3.1	offer findings and recommendations for improvement to the Board of Education, the DCTA Board of Directors and the Teacher Compensation Board of Trustees based on the annual evaluation of the PCST
4.3.2.1	recommend the third-party, independent evaluator to the District and Association no later than April of 2008
4.3.2.2	recommend to the third-party, independent evaluator measures of performance of the <u>elements</u> of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u> to be used in their evaluation
4.3.2.3	obtain external funding for the independent, third party evaluation of the Professional Compensation System for Teachers
7.3.1.3	oversee the development implementation and evaluation of the Professional Development Protocol
7.3.1.3	will make every effort to make sure that these protocols can be uniformly applied
7.3.1.4	oversee the publication of a source of professional development opportunities for teachers
7.5.1.5	Identify assignments and schools eligible to receive market incentives
7.5.2.1	use data on teacher supply and teacher turnover as a basis for identifying hard-to-staff assignments
7.5.3	use a mutually agreed upon set of data that includes student demographics as the basis for identifying <u>hard-to-serve schools</u>
7.6.1.1.1	annually revise the guidelines for objective setting
7.6.1.1.2	evaluate any other state mandated standardized test before allowing teachers to use them in <u>annual student growth objectives</u> .
7.6.1.1.3	provide teachers and principals with on-going professional development on how to set appropriate annual student growth objectives
7.6.1.1.4	provide assistance and mediation for principals and teachers who are unable to reach consensus when setting <u>annual student growth objectives</u>
7.6.2.1	develop a method to measure student growth using the CSAP Test
7.6.2.2.3	mutually agree upon a list of CSAP eligible teaching assignments and review the list annually
7.6.2.2.3	annually review the process for analyzing CSAP data and identifying teachers who exceed district expectations

7.6.3.1	develop and annually review a method to measure school performance
7.11	review policies and procedures to ensure alignment between the Professional Compensation System for Teachers and DPS policy on extended leaves of absence

#### 8.9 Table Six

# 8.10 Rationale and Specifications for the <u>Elements</u> of the <u>Professional Compensation System for Teachers</u>

Component: Knowledge and Skills		Element: Salary increase for one Approved Professional Development Unit  Decision Maker: DPS and DCTA			
Eligible Educators: All teachers represented Agreement	by the DCTA				
Knowledge and skills development helps teachers learn the instructional strategies and content area expertise that boost student learning.      Development of professional expertise is the major factor producing career salary increases.      Those closest to the teaching and learning process are the most effective change agents.      Self-directed professional development, which is grounded in district and individual goals, maximizes meeting instructional and career needs.      Demonstration of and reflection upon knowledge and skills optimizes the time spent on professional development.      Setting professional goals is essential to reaching them.	motivation to increexpertise.  Encourage profes contribute to stud Encourage educa area expertise ap proposed assign Develop the districompensation and development. Commit district st	essional practices that ent learning. tors to develop content propriate to current or nent. ct as a leader in teacher d quality professional ructures and funding to the compensation of teacher	Management Specifications     Audit staff development structures, staffing, delivery system, research and development, information access, monitoring, and evaluation.     Redevelop structures, staffing, delivery, R&D, information access, monitoring, and evaluation.		

- Salary increase of 2% of index for completing one Approved Professional Development Unit that is based on the following three-step protocol:
  - 1÷DPS, university, or CDE course or other activity grounded in current or proposed assignment.
  - 2 ö Demonstration of knowledge in an educational context
  - 3÷Professional reflection.
- After completing Step 1 under the three-step protocol, teachers can earn a salary increase of 2% of index by completing Steps 2 and 3 within one year.
- If teachers complete more than one course under the three-step protocol in one year, they may request approval to carry forward courses to future years.
- In addition to the salary increase for completing approved professional development units, teachers may receive

- Develop a detailed description of the three-step protocol and the process for its implementation with individuals and groups.
- Establish DPS Professional Development Links (PDL) staffing and structures.
- Form PDL Advisory Committee, including representatives from Curriculum and Instruction and Student Services Disciplines that sets standards for course descriptions and evaluation system.
- Develop university partnerships to facilitate professional development opportunities that meet district needs.
- Develop technology for monitoring progress in course attainment and credentials.

in-service hourly rates when completing district required training outside of the regular work day/year

Component: Knowledge and Skills	Element: Attainment of Advanced Degree/National Board or Other Specialists Certification
Eligible Employees: All teachers represented by the DCTA Agreement.	Decision Maker: DPS and DCTA

# Rationale

- Knowledge and skills development helps teachers learn the instructional strategies and content knowledge that boost student learning.
- Development of professional expertise and content knowledge are the major factors contributing to career <u>salary</u> increases.
- Those closest to the teaching and learning process are the most effective change agents.
- Self-directed professional development that is grounded in district and individual goals maximizes meeting instructional and career needs.
- Setting professional goals is essential to reaching them.

# Purpose

- Develop educatorsâ professional status and motivation to increase instructional expertise.
- Encourage professional practices that contribute to student learning.
- Encourage educators to develop content area knowledge appropriate to current or approved assignment.
- Provide a path to increase career earnings through professional development.
- Commit district structures and funding to the compensation of advanced credentials.

#### Management Specifications

- Audit staff development structures, delivery system, research and development, information access, monitoring, and evaluation.
- Redevelop structures, staffing, delivery, research and development, information access, monitoring, and evaluation.

## **Economic Specifications**

- Salary increase of 9% of index for attainment of each advanced degree as well as for National Board for Professional Teaching Standards Certificate relevant to their current or proposed assignments
- Other national licenses and credentials will be granted <u>salary</u> increases up to 9% of <u>index</u>.

District capacity that needs to be built

- Establish DPS Professional Development Links (PDL) staffing and physical aspects.
- Establish criteria for determining relevance of degrees to current or proposed assignments.
- Form DPS Professional Development Links (PDL) Advisory Committee that sets standards for course descriptions and evaluation system.
- Develop university partnerships to facilitate professional development opportunities that meet district
- Develop technology for monitoring progress in course attainment and credentials.
- Develop formal feedback mechanism for reporting about value of degrees to higher education accrediting institutions

Component: Knowledge and Skills		Element: Tuition Reimbu Coursework	rsement for Graduate or Continuing Education		
Eligible Employees: All teachers represented by the	DCTA Agreement	Decision Maker: DPS and DCTA			
Knowledge and skills development helps teachers learn the instructional strategies and content area expertise that boost student learning.      Development of professional expertise is the major factor producing career salary increases.      Those closest to the teaching and learning process are the most effective change agents.      Self-directed professional development, grounded in district and individual goals, maximizes meeting instructional and career needs.      The district should defray the cost of mandated continuing education for teachers.	motivation to increexpertise.  Encourage profess contribute to stude Provide a path to in through profession Encourage educate area expertise app proposed assignm Commit district str	ional practices that nt learning. ncrease <u>career earnings</u> al development. ors to develop content ropriate to current or	Management Specifications     Audit staff development structures, staffing, delivery system, research and development, information access, monitoring, and evaluation     Redevelop structures, staffing, delivery, R&D, information access, monitoring, an evaluation.		
\$1000 available for <u>tuition reimbursement</u> for graduate or continuing education coursework.	<ul> <li>Form PDL Advisor descriptions and e</li> <li>Develop university district needs.</li> </ul>	ressional Development Link of Committee that sets stand valuation system. partnerships to facilitate pro	s (PDL) staffing and structures.  lards and develops implementation plan for course  ofessional development opportunities that meet  course attainment and credentials.		

# Component: Professional Evaluation

**Element: Salary** increase every third year for teachers with satisfactory evaluations

# Eligible Teachers: All

# Decision Maker: Principal and trained, independent peer evaluator

# Rationale

- <u>Satisfactory performance</u> should be recognized at a higher rate than teachers whose performance is unsatisfactory.
- Recognition for <u>satisfactory</u> <u>performance</u> should be gradual, but consistent throughout a teacherâs career.

# Purpose

- Continues current practice of raising salaries only upon demonstrated satisfactory performance.
- Gives DPS and DCTA a way to maintain and promote high expectations for teacher performance.

- Sound evaluation system that includes:
  - Emphasizes inter-rater reliability
  - A fall-to-spring evaluation cycle
  - Well developed rubrics articulating different levels of teacher performance
  - Peer evaluation

- Adaptations for student services <u>specialists</u> and other non-classroom assignments
- Self evaluation component
- District support for administrators in coordinating resources for teachers on remediation

#### **Economic Specifications**

- Probationary teachers are evaluated annually and receive 1% each time they receive a satisfactory evaluation.
- Non-probationary teacher receiving a satisfactory evaluation will receive a 3% <u>salary</u> increase every third year beginning with their fourth year of service.

#### District Capacity that Needs to be Built:

- A fully developed project plan that includes personnel and other resources to implement the evaluation system
- Pilot the use of the evaluation system beginning in the 04-05 school year.
- An evaluation system that has these characteristics:
  - o Align peer assistance duties to revised evaluation system
  - Training for teachers and principals on the process of placing teachers on remediation plans
  - o Training for teachers and principals to ensure inter-rater reliability
  - Emphasizes professional growth, professional development and continuous improvement
- Web-based technology for tracking teacher evaluations that is directly connected to payroll

# Component: Professional Evaluation

<u>Element</u>: Delay <u>satisfactory performance</u> <u>salary</u> increase for teachers with an <u>unsatisfactory performance</u> rating until the teacher receives a rating of satisfactory or better.

# Eligible Teachers: All

Decision Maker: Principal and trained, independent peer evaluators

## Rationale

- <u>Satisfactory performance</u> raises should only be awarded for <u>satisfactory performance</u>.
- <u>Unsatisfactory performance</u> must be identified and there should be related compensation consequences.
- Teachers need reinforcement to improve unsatisfactory performance.
- Teachers and principals need time, support and other resources to improve unsatisfactory teacher performance.
- All other increases in the recommended system are earned based on specific performance and should not be withheld.

## Purpose

- Continues current practice of raising salaries only upon demonstrated satisfactory performance.
- Allows teacher to maintain current job while improving to meet the expectation of satisfactory performance.
- Creates a means and time period for due process to be completed without providing automatic increases
- Gives DPS and DCTA a way to maintain and promote high expectations for teacher performance.
- Reflects good compensation practice in the private and public sector
- Enables DPS to provide time and support and other resources for teachers to improve their performance

- Sound evaluation system that:
  - o Emphasizes inter-rater reliability
  - Maintains a fixed cycle of evaluation in years 1, 2, 3, 4, 7 and every third year thereafter and provision for teachers on leave will be made to adjust their evaluation cycle appropriately.
  - O A fall-to-spring evaluation cycle
  - Well developed rubrics articulating different levels of teacher performance
  - O Distinct from disciplinary action
  - Peer evaluation
  - A component for remediation of unsatisfactory performance that includes provisions for a 30 day due process remediation and one-year development plan for teachers who succeed on the 30 day due process plan
  - A <u>component</u> for peer assistance for <u>unsatisfactory performance</u>
  - Adaptations for student services <u>specialists</u> and other non-classroom assignments
  - The ability to identify a teacherâs <u>unsatisfactory performance</u> in "off years"

- O Self evaluation component
- A one year plan for professional development with appropriate supports in addition to a 30 day due process remediation plan for teachers with unsatisfactory performance ratings;
- If a teacher receives a rating of unsatisfactory, then a new formal evaluation is required the next year.
- The current practice of being able to initiate special evaluations will be continued.
- Teachers who fail to earn a satisfactory rating after appropriate remediation will be subject to probationary non-renewal or dismissal for cause.
- District support for administrators in coordinating resources for teachers on remediation

# **Economic Specifications**

- Non-probationary teachers receiving an unsatisfactory evaluation will have their 3% satisfactory performance increase delayed until being re-evaluated with a rating of satisfactory or better.
- Probationary teachers receiving an unsatisfactory evaluation will have their annual 1% <u>satisfactory</u> <u>performance</u> increase delayed until being re-evaluated with a rating of satisfactory or better.
- Teachers who are given an unsatisfactory performance rating resulting from a special (out of cycle) evaluation will delay any future 3% salary increase until they earn a satisfactory performance rating.

# District Capacity that Needs to be Built:

- A fully developed project plan that includes personnel and other resources to implement the evaluation system
- Pilot the use of the evaluation system beginning in the 04-05 school year.
- An evaluation system that has these characteristics:
  - Align peer assistance duties to revised evaluation system
  - Training for teachers and principals on the process of placing teachers on remediation plans
  - o Training for teachers and principals to ensure inter-rater reliability
  - Emphasizes professional growth, professional development and continuous improvement
- Web-based technology for tracking teacher evaluations that is directly connected to payroll

Component: Market	Element: Incentives for Hard to Staff Assignments
Eligible Teachers: Qualified teachers who fill eligible assignments	Decision Maker: DPS/DCTA

## Rationale

- To ensure source of competent teachers to fill vacant <u>hard-to-staff</u> assignments
- To retain teachers in hard-to-staff assignments ö to close the "revolving door"
- To encourage career decisions ö at both the entry level and in mid-career ö to fill hard-to-staff assignments

# Purpose

 Attract and retain teachers with track records of demonstrated accomplishment in <u>hard-to-staff</u> assignments

# Management Specifications

- Aligned marketing campaign to attract prospective candidates from DPS and entry level markets
- DPS HR, DPS Instruction, and DCTA agree upon a quantifiable method for identifying <u>hard to staff</u> assignments
- Teacher must meet posted requirements for the assignment developed by DPS HR, DPS Instruction, and DCTA
- DPS and DCTA annually evaluate the effectiveness of <u>market</u> <u>incentives</u>

## **Economic Specifications**

- 3% bonus to teachers serving in identified assignments
- The bonus is maintained for one year
  if teachers are transferred because of
  changes in enrollment on the
  condition that the teacher consents to
  be transferred to a similar situation in
  another school during that same
  school year. The bonus does not
  continue after that year unless the
  teacher successfully transfers into a
  similar situation.
- Package of additional benefits (school leadership, materials, training and class size)?

District capacity that needs to be built

- DPS and DCTA need to agree on a quantifiable way to identify <u>hard to staff</u> assignments
- DPS and DCTA need to agree on standards for consistent demonstration of performance
- DPS needs to develop aligned marketing campaign

# Component: Market

Element: Bonuses for Hard to Serve Schools

Eligible Teachers: Qualified teachers who fill eligible assignments

Decision Maker: DPS/DCTA

#### Rationale

- Increase source of teachers with to schools designated by DPS as "hard -to-serve"
- Retain teachers in hard-to-staff schools ö to close the "revolving door" that turns on specific assignments
- Encourage career decisions ö at both

# Purpose

 Attract and retain teachers with track records of demonstrated accomplishment in <u>hard-to-staff</u> <u>assignments</u>

- Aligned marketing campaign to attract prospective candidates from DPS and entry level markets
- DPS HR, DPS Instruction, and DCTA agree upon a quantifiable method for identifying hard to staff assignments
- · Teacher must meet posted

the entry level and in mid-career ö to fill hard-to-serve schools

- requirements for the assignment developed by DPS HR, DPS Instruction, and DCTA
- DPS and DCTA annually evaluate the effectiveness of <u>market</u> <u>incentives</u>

# **Economic Specifications**

- 3% bonus to teachers with satisfactory performance ratings
- The bonus is maintained for one year
  if teachers are transferred because
  of changes in enrollment on the
  condition that the teacher consents
  to be transferred to a similar situation
  in another school during that same
  school year. The bonus does not
  continue after that year unless the
  teacher successfully transfers into a
  similar situation.
- Package of additional benefits (school leadership, materials, training and class size)?

# District capacity that needs to be built

- DPS and DCTA need to agree on a quantifiable way to identify <u>hard to staff</u> assignments
- DPS and DCTA need to agree on standards for consistent demonstration of performance
- DPS needs to develop aligned marketing campaign

# Component: Student growth

<u>Element</u>: Compensation for teachers who meet one or two annual student growth objectives

Eligible Teachers: All teachers represented by the DCTA Agreement

Decision Maker: Teacher in collaboration with principal

# Rationale

- A compensation system should reflect research showing that individual teachers have the greatest impact on <u>student</u> growth.
- The experience of the Pay for Performance Pilot has shown that objective setting has a positive effect on <u>student growth</u>.
- To measure <u>student growth</u> we must look at student performance in relation to individual teachers in the subject they are teaching
- CSAP and other large-scale assessments have limitations when used to measure student growth:
  - They do not provide any information about <u>student growth</u> in areas other than reading, writing and math and are limited to grades

#### Purpose

- Measure <u>student growth</u> in a way that is consistent with the responsibilities of all teachers and <u>specialists</u>
- Recognize teachers whose students meet growth expectations set collaboratively between a teacher and their principal based on district guidance.
- Create a consistent process for teachers and principals to collaborate on expectations for <u>student growth</u> and to plan how those expectations will be met.
- Measure <u>student growth</u> using educationally sound methods and assessments that are grounded in the teacherâs or <u>specialist</u>âs area of practice.

- A consistent process for teachers and principals to collaborate on expectations for student growth.
- Objectives must be based on individual performance.
- A support system that extends from the central administration to the school that assists teachers and principals when setting objectives, including:
  - A consistent procedure for setting objectives
  - Recommended assessments that are aligned with district curriculum and materials
  - Recommended assessments that measure <u>student growth</u> (not attainment levels)

#### four through ten

- The objective setting process provides teachers with a useful tool to make informed decisions about instruction.
- Teachers are not rewarded for the growth of their students under the current system.
- A compensation system needs to provide an equitable way for student services professionals and other specialists to identify and achieve <u>student growth</u> objectives.

- Guidance that aligns curriculum expectations with recommended district assessments
- Procedures that help ensure that assessment results are accurate
- Peer assistance for teachers when setting objectives
- An option for teachers or schools to use alternative assessments and methods
- The Instructional Issues Council will provide ongoing evaluation of assessments, materials and district guidance
- Data systems that provide better access to <u>student growth</u> data for both teachers and principals
- Web-based support that streamlines the "paperwork" and procedures related to the objective setting process
- Alignment between the objective setting and <u>professional evaluation</u> systems
- DPS/DCTA oversight of the process of setting standards for <u>student growth</u> expectations
- Neutral problem-solving and dispute-resolution processes to address differences in the collaborative process between teachers and principals

#### **Economic Specifications**

- <u>Salary</u> increase of 1% of <u>index</u> pay awarded to all teachers who meet both of their annual performance objectives
- Bonus of 1% of index pay awarded to all teachers who meet one of their annual performance objectives
- <u>Salary</u> increases will be applied in June or July following presentation of evidence that objectives have been met
- A teacher who does not meet either annual objective will receive neither an increase in <u>salary</u> nor a <u>bonus</u>.

# District capacity that needs to be built

- Expand capacity in human resources, instructional departments, areas and schools to track results on objective setting
- Expand capacity to train teachers, principals and administrators on the objective setting process, including assistance for teachers and specialists who choose to use teacher-made assessments in their objectives.
- Expand central guidance for teacher objectives setting process for the broad range of the diverse work done by teachers and specialists.
- Expand objective setting database so it can support inclusion of all teachers and specialists
- Create neutral problem solving and dispute-resolution processes to address differences in the collaborative process between teachers and principals.
- Develop a collaborative system for DPS and DCTA to evaluate the objective setting system.

# Component: Student growth

Element: Sustainable increase for teachers who meet or exceed student growth expectations on CSAP reading or math

Eligible Teachers: All teachers in grades 4 and 5; all language arts, reading and math teachers in grades 6, 7, and 8, all teachers who teach 9<sup>th</sup> or 10<sup>th</sup> graders in language arts, reading or math

Decision Maker: DPS with DCTA oversight

#### Rationale

- CSAP is of broad public interest and could lead to strong support for increased funding
- CSAP data functions very differently from data in teacher objectives, and therefore requires a separate system for

#### Purpose

- Provide an incentive to eligible teachers to meet or exceed statistically rigorous expectations for <u>student growth</u> measured by CSAP
- Encourage teachers to investigate and develop practices that will lead to improved

- An understandable standard for statistically rigorous <u>student growth</u> expectations
- A rigorous measure of correct attribution of teacher effect

- recognizing teachers
- CSAP is a high priority for federal, state and local accountability
- There are increased expectations for teachers who work in the CSAP environment
- Organized longitudinally, CSAP data provide a relatively stable and continuous body of information about academic growth
- Teachers are not currently rewarded individually for the growth of their students as measured by CSAP
- The use of CSAP data in the School Accountability Reports cannot be used for a compensation system because it focuses on school performance and student proficiency levels, not individual teacher effects on student growth.
- DPS is developing methods to use CSAP data so that compensation results are independent of the socioeconomic status of the students being taught

#### student growth measured by CSAP

- Provide an incentive to teachers to accept and stay in assignments where students take the CSAP test
- Data systems that can identify matched pairs of eligible students and relate them to teachers
- Data systems that identify eligible teachers
- Routine annual analysis of <u>student growth</u> results based on agreed upon standards
- Routine annual summary of teacher performance based on these standards
- DPS/DCTA oversight of the process of setting standards for <u>student growth</u> expectations

#### **Economic Specifications**

DPS and DCTA will agree on a standard range for one yearâs student growth measured by the CSAP.

- Teachers whose students exceed the upper limit of this standard will receive a 3% sustainable increase
- Teachers whose students fall below the lower limit of this standard range will receive a 3% sustainable decrease
  - Teachers cannot receive sustainable decrease unless they have already earned sustainable increase.
- Teachers whose students show growth within the standard range will maintain all previous <u>sustainable</u> increases.
- Teachers who move out of the "CSAP cohort" will retain all previously accumulated CSAP <u>sustainable increase</u>s.

# District capacity that needs to be created:

- District focus on identifying the skills and practices that lead to success on the CSAP tests without compromising other educational values and disseminates them to teachers
- Ability to identify student growth automatically
  - District capacity to associate CSAP <u>student growth</u> data to secondary teachers by courses
  - District capacity to associate CSAP <u>student growth</u> data to special ed teachers as appropriate
  - o Rules for exceptional cases such as
    - ELA
    - mild/moderate special education
    - Teacher data sets have no matched pairs of students
    - Assigning students to teachers in secondary school
- Training and other supports for educators on interpreting CSAP data and addressing the instructional needs of students to improve performance
- DPS needs to research methods for variable payout of CSAP <u>sustainable increases</u> based on the amount of <u>student growth</u>.

# Component: Student Growth

Eligible Teachers: All teachers in schools identified as distinguished based on school accreditation indicators

# Element: Bonus for Teachers in Distinguished Schools

Decision Maker: DPS and DCTA

#### Rationale

- Successful schools are not systematically recognized, rewarded or celebrated in DPS
- There are no direct rewards for teachers at schools that succeed, through planning and implementation, on their school improvement plans

# Purpose:

- Recognizes and rewards teachers in schools that meet or exceed district expectations for <u>student growth</u>, student attendance and school satisfaction
- Encourage school improvement planning to be better aligned with district, state and federal indicators of success.

# Management Specifications

 DPS and DCTA agreement upon a standard for distinguishing schools based using multiple measures.

- Neither School Accountability Reports not Coloradoâs guidelines for Adequate Yearly Progress provide an adequate picture of school performance. Neither measure takes into account <u>student</u> <u>growth</u>, academic achievement on measures other than CSAP, or performance in areas outside academic achievement in a systematic manner
- Reward collaborative behavior within schools to meet school and district goals.
- Evaluate school performance in a manner that is both more useful when planning school improvement and more balanced than state or federal systems.

# **Economic Specifications**

- 2% bonus to all teachers and specialists assigned to a school, pro-rated based on the number of days of service at the site. For example, a teacher assigned to a .5 vocal music position would receive
- Teachers assigned to multiple distinguished schools will be eligible for multiple pro-rated bonuses
- Bonus is awarded regardless of where they are assigned under the following year
- Bonuses are awarded to any teacher who worked a semester plus one day in the <u>distinguished school</u>

# District capacity that needs to be built

- DPS and DCTA need to refine school accreditation indicators in order to ensure fair and equitable recognition of distinguished schools
- DPS and DCTA need to develop system for annually recognizing faculties at distinguished schools
- DPS and DCTA need to monitor and evaluate the system for recognizing <u>distinguished</u> schools